
Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date Thursday 4 July 2019
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement.

1. Apologies  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Minutes of the meeting held on 1 April 2019 and of the special 

meeting held on 11 June 2019  (Pages 3 - 22)
4. Declarations of Interest, if any  
5. Media Issues  (Pages 23 - 24)
6. Any Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties  
7. Skerne Medical Group - Report of the Director of Transformation and 

Partnerships and presentation by representatives of Skerne Medical 
Group  (Pages 25 - 58)

8. Path to Excellence Programme Phase 2 - Report of the Director of 
Transformation and Partnerships and presentation by representatives 
of the Path to Excellence programme team  (Pages 59 - 232)

9. County Durham Oral Health Strategy Update - Report of the Deputy 
Director of Public Health, County Durham  (Pages 233 - 242)

10. Adults and Health Services Update - Report of the Corporate Director 
of Adults and Health Services  (Pages 243 - 260)



11. Quarter Four 2018/19 Performance Management Report - Report of 
the Director of Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 261 - 280)

12. NHS Quality Accounts 2018-19 - Adults Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee responses - Report of the Director 
of Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 281 - 292)

13. Refresh of the Work Programme 2019/20 for the Adults Wellbeing and 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Report of the Director of 
Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 293 - 308)

14. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

  County Hall
  Durham
  26 June 2019

To: The Members of the Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Councillor J Robinson (Chair)
Councillor J Chaplow (Vice-Chair)

Councillors A Batey, R Bell, L Brown, P Crathorne, R Crute, J Grant, 
T Henderson, E Huntington, P Jopling, C Kay, K Liddell, S Quinn, A Reed, 
A Savory, M Simmons, H Smith, J Stephenson, O Temple and C Wilson

Co-opted Members: Mrs R Hassoon

Co-opted Employees/Officers: Mr C Cunnington Shore

Contact: Jackie Graham Tel: 03000 269704



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a meeting of Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held in Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham on Monday 1 April 
2019 at 9.30 am

Present

Councillor J Robinson (Chairman)

Members of the Committee
Councillors J Chaplow, R Bell, P Crathorne, J Grant, T Henderson, P Jopling, 
C Kay, A Patterson, M Simmons, H Smith, O Temple, B Coult and S Iveson

Co-opted Members
Mrs R Hassoon

1 Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors R Crute, E Huntington, K 
Liddell, A Savory, J Stephenson, C Wilson and Mr D J Taylor Gooby

2 Substitute Members 

Councillor B Coult for A Hopgood and Councillor S Iveson for S Quinn

3 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 March 2019 were confirmed and signed by 
the Chairman as a correct record.

As an update to a query from Councillor Temple regarding sexually transmitted 
diseases, he had been advised that 9% of returns from online testing showed 
positive results. Councillor Temple asked how the number of reactive positive tests 
returned from online STI Pack requests compared with the number of positive tests 
returned at the STI clinics that were held.

The Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer advised that in relation to the 
availability of GP appointments at Fishburn practice, there had been 
correspondence with the Skerne Practice and a response from the Practice had 
been circulated to members of the Committee. Members remained concerned 
about this issue and asked that the CCG be advised of the Committee’s concerns 
in this respect

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



4 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

5 Media Issues 

The Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer provided the Committee with a 
presentation of the following press articles relating to the remit of the Adults 
Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee;

 Northern Echo 12 March 2019 – One size doesn’t fit all': Call for sexual 
health service for 'older people‘. Sexual health services should do more to 
focus on the needs of older people, council bosses have said. A report for 
members of Durham County Council detailed efforts to combat high rates of 
teenage pregnancy and sexually transmitted infections (STIs) among 15-to-
24-year-olds. But at meeting last week, members of the Adults, Wellbeing 
and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee demanded to know why no 
information had been provided on the sexual health of 'older people'.

 Northern Echo 16 March 2019 – Missed appointments at Weardale GP 
practice cost £45,000 in 2018.  Missed appointments at one rural GP 
practice cost more than £45,000 last year, figures have shown.  Recently 
released data from the Weardale Practice, showed there were 1,512 
appointments missed, equalling 252 hours lost and costing £45,360, though 
this is down by half on two years ago.

 Northern Echo 13 March 2019 – Doctors refute claim they want to shut 
Fishburn surgery by stealth –Doctors have insisted a village surgery will 
remain open, despite suggestions they were seeking to shut it down ‘by 
stealth’.  Last year, Skerne Medical Group (SMG) won support to shut its 
Trimdon Village site but lost out on proposals to close its surgery in 
Fishburn. Reference was made to the letter circulated to the Committee 
earlier this week explaining the situation.

 Northern Echo 1 March 2019 – North East: Brexit could delay new 
ambulance delivery –Dozens of new ambulances heading to the North-East 
could get stuck in Europe in the event of a no-deal Brexit.  The North East 
Ambulance Service (NEAS) is due to take delivery of a new set of vehicles 
this summer, but bosses have warned that the trade chaos that could result 
from the UK leaving the European Union without a withdrawal agreement 
could delay their arrival.

Councillor Grant said that the response given by Skerne Practice about the 
Fishburn crisis being over half term did not reflect what was actually happening.  
She was aware that Skerne Practice allocated 20 sessions, with 10 going to 

Page 4



Trimdon Colliery and 10 going to Sedgefield and any that weren’t required would 
go to Fishburn.

Mrs Hassoon was also aware that there would only be appointments at Fishburn if 
there was spare capacity.  She was concerned about arrangements for the elderly 
and anyone with chronic conditions that had to travel to either Trimdon Colliery or 
Sedgefield.

Councillor Grant informed the Committee that when she has mentioned vulnerable 
patients having to travel she was given the bus timetable.  She felt that the practice 
were not being honest as they had been instructed by the CCG to keep Fishburn 
open and they had almost gone ahead and closed it anyway.

The Chairman asked the Director of Commissioning, DDES CCG to follow this up 
with the Primary Care Committee.

Commenting on the media article about the delay in delivery of ambulances, the 
Assistant Director of Communications and Engagement, NEAS said that they 
receive converted ambulances from Germany.  He explained that 44 were on order 
for the coming year, 13 of which would be new vehicles and the remainder were 
dealt with under the usual vehicle replacement programme.  He assured members 
that should Brexit delay the import of the vehicles the trust did have contingency 
plans in place whereby they would lease vehicles in the UK. 

6 Any Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties 

There were no items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties.

7 North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust - 
Performance against ambulance response standards progress 

The Committee received a presentation from the Assistant Director of 
Communications and Engagement North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust (NEAS) that provided information on performance against 
ambulance response standards progress together with data of CCG performance 
at a local level (for copies see file of Minutes).

The Chairman enquired as to how robust the figures were when covering sickness 
and training.  He also asked how NEAS were going to recruit a further 90 
paramedics when they had difficulties recruiting in the past and expressed his 
concerns that the extra two minute response time for category one would not be 
met.

The Chief Operating Officer, NEAS explained that abstraction levels were a 33% 
level in the workforce.  The new standards built a relief workforce into the core 
workforce.  He assured members that the assessment of the current abstraction 

Page 5



levels showed that a relief level was included.  With regards to vacancies he 
agreed that two years ago there were 130 vacancies and it had been difficult to 
recruit and retain paramedics.  However, there was now a healthy appetite through 
paramedic training at Teesside University and open learning at Cumbria University.  
In relation to performance standards he assured members that every ambulance 
service was going through a similar programme to achieve the right level of cover.

The Assistant Director added that around the clock varies with the category one 
standard of 30 seconds, and the clock began after four minutes for category two.  
He explained that the extra time helped the call handler.

Councillor Smith asked if the efficiency savings of £1.7m aimed for were 
achievable, as the handover arrangements were out of the control of NEAS.  The 
Chief Operating Officer explained that year one of the two year savings plan were 
on target and he agreed that further work with the hospitals was required to 
improve the handover arrangements.  He added that new resources and plans 
were in place to reduce the conveyance to hospital and improve the pathway for 
patients.

Referring to the switch from rapid response vehicles to double crew ambulances 
Councillor Bell asked if there were any clinical implications to this rather than just 
chasing targets.  He also asked if data could be provided at a ward level as found 
the data at CCG level too broad.  The Assistant Director advised that the 
replacement to a double crew ambulance was in place to meet the new standards.  
He assured members that there would still be rapid response vehicles albeit fewer 
of them, as they provided a very valuable service.  He continued that the new 
standards were the biggest changes to the ambulance service and would take time 
to adjust.  The plans had been outlined today but were still to be implemented.  
With regards to data he explained that this was around the service area at a CCG 
level and that data at a locality/ward level was not routinely looked at as they did 
not have the resources to do this.

Councillor Bell said that it would be helpful to know what the response rate was at 
a local level.  The Chief Operating Officer explained that it would be very few 
numbers and there would be huge fluctuations when looked at below a CCG level.  
NEAS were commissioned at a trust level but did provide data at a CCG level.  
Anything smaller than that becomes more difficult due to the amount of incidences.  
The Chief Operating Officer added that new measures were in place to measure 
transportation and that a number of cases involved patients being treat in the 
ambulance rather than having to go on to hospital.  He added that there were three 
paramedics in the Teesdale area and three in the Weardale area.

The Chairman appreciated that NEAS could not give smaller numbers at a local 
level but said that it would be helpful for the committee to have sight of some case 
studies and examples of what happens at a local level.  Referring to the drop in 
figures during the night he asked if this would be when the rapid response vehicles 

Page 6



would not be needed.  The Chief Operating Officer informed him that the graph 
was based on the current arrangements and a modelling exercise would be carried 
out on demand up to 2021 with resources being applied appropriately.

Councillor Henderson expressed concerns about the rural part of the County and 
the take it would take to get from point A to point B.  He was also concerned that 
the rapid response vehicles did not have the equipment to deal with all 
emergencies.  The Chief Operating Officer explained that the purpose of the rapid 
response vehicle was to provide an initial response and life saving skills and was 
not about transporting patients to hospital.

Resolved:
That the information contained within the presentation be noted.

8 Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Group - Review of Extended and Enhanced Primary Care Access 

The Committee received an update report from the Director of Commissioning, 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group about the 
Review of Extended and Enhanced Primary Care Access in the DDES CCG area 
(for copy see file of Minutes).

The Director of Commissioning highlighted the key areas following the public 
consultation of the review that warranted further consideration including:-

 Transport
 Issues with the NHS 111 Service
 Use of services increasing
 Accessibility of NHS 111 service for patients with a learning disability
 Public lack of understanding of how to access services

The Director of Commissioning went on to explain that the NHS Long Term Plan 
and new GP contract had been published.  This would change the way in which 
GP delivered services in future, providing two extended access services via a hub 
and by individual practices.  The change would take effect from July 2019 and a full 
update would be provided to committee at a special meeting to be arranged.

The Chairman requested a map of where all of the TAPs were based.  The Director 
of Commissioning would provide this and explained that the TAPs did not have to 
be geographically networked, following a question from Councillor Temple, 
however, other requirements such as community and district nurses had to be in a 
sensible geographical location that made sense.

Councillor Smith referred to a recent presentation to the review group from the 
Director of Primary Care and Engagement about GP Primary Care Teams and the 
Chairman suggested that this should be presented to full committee.

Page 7



The Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer informed the committee that a joint 
development session with the Health and Wellbeing Board had been arranged to 
discuss NHS planning arrangements including how the TAPs worked.

Following a request from the Chairman, the Director of Commissioning confirmed 
that service usage for GP practices would be brought out in the presentation at the 
session.

Resolved that:

1. The report be received;
2. The Committee note the actions taken to address issued raised during the 

consultation
3. The Committee note the links between this consultation and the changes in 

the GP contract
4. The Committee receive the outcome of the consultation process and 

proposed delivery model at a future meeting.

9 Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Group - Briefing Paper on County Durham Urgent Treatment 
Centres - Proposed Changes to Overnight Service Delivery at 
Peterlee Urgent Treatment Centre 

The Committee received a Report from the Director of Commissioning, Durham 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group that provided an 
update of a briefing paper on County Durham Urgent Treatment Centres and the 
Proposed Changes to Overnight Service Delivery at Peterlee Urgent Treatment 
Centre (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Director of Commissioning reported that there were nine hubs in the DDES 
area and overnight urgent care was provided from Bishop Auckland, Peterlee, 
University Hospital Durham and Shotley Bridge.  She highlighted the usage at 
Bishop Auckland and Peterlee on a weekday and weekend from midnight until 8.00 
a.m. and the results showed that Peterlee had very few patients during the week 
with just a slight increase on a weekend.  She advised of the alternative system 
based model with a focus on Peterlee and Bishop Auckland and reported that the 
north of the County would be looked at when the review of Shotley Bridge had 
been determined.  Bishop Auckland would remain open as usage was high and 
Peterlee would lose the 8 p.m. to 8 a.m. service.  The Director of Commissioning 
stressed that patients could still seek an appointment with their GP and attend any 
other urgent care centre, and that these were for non emergency appointments. 
There would also be an option for home visits to be carried out so that doctors and 
clinicians were not static working from one centre. She added that the number of 

Page 8



people affected were relatively small and that a full engagement and consultation 
exercise would be carried out on the proposed changes.

Referring to the utilisation rates in paragraph 28 of the report, and the offer of 
home visits, Councillor Temple asked that although the figures of patients 
attending urgent care in Peterlee were small would the same level of service be 
available in the home, for example x-ray services.  He was concerned that 
equipment available at the urgent care centres would not be available in the home.  
He also expressed concerns about the standards of care being met and a possible 
reduction in the safety of the service.

Councillor Patterson believed that the 111 service was not thought out and joined 
up with the GP services and that this would only become worse with the problems 
in recruiting clinicians.  She said that these changes would put more pressure on 
the already stretched A&E services.

The Director of Commissioning responded that x-ray services were not open during 
the night at urgent care centres and she again stressed that demand was 
extremely low.  She advised that GP surgeries had the same equipment as the 
clinicians had in urgent care centres during the evening.  With the proposed 
changes the clinicians would be able to work across all of the urgent care centres 
and would be able to visit patients in their own homes, removing problems 
transport and travel.  She confirmed that standards would be met and that the 
direction of travel would move to all appointments being on a booked basis.  
Referring to the recruitment of GPs members were aware of the work that had 
been carried out in this area.  She said that patients did not always need to see a 
GP and the proposed model would have a greater skills mix. 

Councillor Patterson said that when ringing 111 people were directed to minor 
injuries or A&E and she asked how many GPs would be available and if demand 
would be met. She also asked if data on the highest peaks of demand were 
available.  The Director of Commissioning confirmed that clinicians had extensively 
looked at the data and demand and had built time standards into the proposed 
model.

Councillor Grant felt that the system for home visits was another service for people 
to be confused about and she said that people had already been informed that 
Peterlee was closed.  She asked for messages to be simplified as everyone knew 
to dial 999 for an emergency but below that level not everyone know who to call or 
what services were available where.  She added that the constant reviews of 
services did not help and further confused people.

Councillor Jopling stated that the weak link was the 111 service as people were 
directed to facilities that were not local to them.  For example she had been 
recently directed to Darlington when her local urgent care centre was Bishop 

Page 9



Auckland.  Councillor Smith agreed as she had also been directed to Houghton 
instead of Bishop Auckland.

The Assistant Director of NEAS informed members that the 111 service used the 
same triage system as the 999 service and the need of the patient was determined 
against the directory of services available.  The operators would look to determine 
where a particular need was met at that particular time.  The service relied upon 
departments to keep directories updated.  The Assistant Director had recently 
invited members of the GP Services Review Group to visit the 111 centre to view 
how the service works.

In response to a comment made by the Chairman about attending North Tees 
hospital rather than using the 111 service the Director of Commissioning said that 
the geography of County Durham was more challenging.

Councillor Patterson commented that this was the second time that the Peterlee 
Centre had been reviewed and asked what the figures were then compared to 
now.  She believed this to be a lack of communication as people thought that 
Peterlee was already closed.  In response, the Director of Commissioning reported 
that the overnight services had never changed and that the usage had always 
been low between the hours of 12 midnight and 8 a.m.  As a small number of 
people required the service clinicians felt that they would better service patients by 
travelling to their homes during the night.  She assured the committee that the 
CCG worked closely with the 111 service and that they would book appointments 
for patients.  

Referring to the 111 data the Director of Commissioning advised that this was 
looked at to see why people had been directed out of their area, some of which 
was down to call handler error.  With regards to urgent care, she agreed that there 
was a better way to deliver the service more consistently and by engaging with the 
public would help gain an understanding from their perspective.

Resolved that:
1. The Committee note the rationale for the proposed changes to service delivery 
in respect of the Out of Hours UTC;
2. The results of the proposed communications and engagement process be 
brought back to the Committee along with the proposed skills mix of the proposed 
revised service model. 

10 2018/19 Q3 Performance Management Report 

The Committee considered a report of the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships that presented progress against the Council’s corporate performance 
framework for the Altogether Healthier priority theme for the third quarter of the 
2018/19 financial year (for copy of report see file of minutes).

Page 10



The Strategy Team Leader reported very little change in the trends for September 
to December 2018.  She advised that a Smoking in Pregnancy Steering Group had 
been set up which held it’s first meeting in February.  The aim of the group was to 
reduce smoking in pregnancy by 6% by 2022.

Resolved:
That the recommendations contained within the report be noted.

11 Adults and Health Services Q3:Forecast of Revenue and Capital 
Outturn 2018/19 

The Committee considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
and the Corporate Director of Adults and Health Services that provided details of 
the forecast outturn budget position for the Adult and Health Services (AHS) 
service grouping, highlighting major variances in comparison with the budget for 
the year, based on the position to the end of December 2018. A presentation was 
given by the Finance Manager, Adult and Health Services (for copy of report and 
slides, see file of minutes).

Councillor Temple asked that further details be provided on the Public Health 
budget so that the committee could see the break down of what the funds were 
being spent on.  The Finance Manager confirmed that he would provide a 
summary in respect to this.

Referring to the underspend in the Adult Care budget, Councillor Smith was 
concerned that not enough people were being employed to deliver the service as 
there was a huge pressure on the amount of people requiring it.  The Finance 
Manager explained that the underspend on employees would disappear as the 
MTFP budget was updated throughout the year and that the budget was based on 
demand so could vary quite considerably.  He would look into this and report back 
to the committee.

Resolved:
That the information contained in the report be noted and a further more detailed 
report be brought back to the Committee setting out the Public Health services 
currently delivered through Public Health Funding.

12 Refresh of the Work Programme 2019/20 for Adults Wellbeing and 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The Committee considered a report of the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships which provided the opportunity to review and refresh the work 
programme for 2019/20 (for copy see file of Minutes).

Page 11



 
The Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer highlighted the current work 
programme of the Committee and the number of issues that would role forward 
including the review of GP Services, Bishop Auckland Ward 6, review of Stroke 
Rehabilitation, Enhanced Primary Care, Urgent Care and Shotley Bridge Hospital.  
There would also be performance issues to touch upon following the 
recommendations from the Suicide Prevention working group.  Potential service 
changes could also come back to committee on phase 2 of the Sunderland and 
South Tyneside review.

Resolved:
(i) That comments on the proposed Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee work programme in relation to the current Council 
Plan 2016-2019 Altogether Healthier theme be noted.

(ii) That a further report to agree the Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee work programme for 2019/20 be submitted to the 
July 2019 meeting.

13 NHS Foundation Trust's 2018/19 Quality Accounts 

The Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer informed the Committee that the draft 
Quality Accounts would been circulated to members for comments and that 
responses would be provided for each of the trusts within the statutory 30 day 
consultation period. The responses would also include key areas of activity that the 
committee had been engaged with each respective Foundation Trust upon and 
would be brought to committee for retrospective sign off in July 2019.

14 Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration 

The Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer referred Members to recent 
communication about public engagement events being held in respect of the future 
of service provision currently delivered from Shotley Bridge Hospital, the first of 
which had been arranged in Consett on 10 April.  A gap had been identified in the 
proposed engagement events with a suggestion made to the CCG that an 
additional event be held in the Weardale area and the CCG had been informed of 
this.   Members were encouraged to attend one of the events arranged.

Page 12



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a special meeting of Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held in Council Chamber - County Hall, Durham on Tuesday 11 June 
2019 at 9.30 am

Present

Councillor J Robinson (Chair)

Members of the Committee
Councillors R Bell, L Brown, P Crathorne, R Crute, J Grant, T Henderson, 
E Huntington, P Jopling, S Quinn, A Reed, A Savory, M Simmons, H Smith, 
J Stephenson, O Temple and C Wilson

Co-opted Members
Mrs R Hassoon

Also Present
Mr C Cunnington Shore

1 Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Chaplow, A Batey, C Kay 
and K Liddell

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitute members.

3 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

4 Any Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties 

There were no items from co-opted members or interested parties.

5 Review of Extended and Enhanced Primary Care Access 

The Committee received a report and presentation from the Director of 
Commissioning, North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Groups that gave an update on the Review of Extended 
and Enhanced Primary Care Access (for copy see file of Minutes).

Page 13



The Director of Commissioning was accompanied by the Head of Commissioning, 
ND&DDESCCG and the Director of Performance, County Durham and Darlington 
NHSFT.  

The Director of Commissioning advised that the report included evidence that had 
been gathered during the consultation and supporting information from partners.  
The key points were summarised in the presentation as follows:-

 Why the change was proposed
 Consultation process
 Key Issues Identified & Considered:

o Awareness of the NHS 111 Service
o Services Patients were sent to after contacting NHS 111
o If more patients used 111 why weren’t the hubs busier
o Were some hubs quiet as patients weren’t directed there
o Is usage increasing
o Transport
o Specific finding

 Findings and recommendations

Members were advised that the proposed new model of service delivery in respect 
of the service would be as follows:-

Dales – the service will operate 12 noon – 8 p.m. during the week and 10 a.m. – 2 
p.m. on a weekend from one site at Bishop Auckland with better transport options, 
more booked appointments and enhanced frail/housebound services

Sedgefield – the service will operate 12 noon – 8 p.m. during the week as an 
overflow to practices from Newton Aycliffe with an additional service from 
Spennymoor 6 - 8 p.m. The service will operate weekends 10 a.m. – 2 p.m. 
weekends from Sedgefield, Newton Aycliffe and Spennymoor with better transport 
options, more booked appointments and enhanced frail/housebound services

Easington – the service will operate 12 noon – 8 p.m. during the week at Peterlee 
and from Seaham 6 – 8 a.m. and 8 a.m. – 1 p.m. on a weekend from Peterlee and 
Seaham with better transport options, more booked appointments and enhanced 
frail/housebound services

The Chair thanked the Director of Commissioning for her presentation and referred 
members to a letter received from Helen Goodman MP expressing her concerns in 
relation to the out of hours GP services at the Richardson Hospital being replaced 
by a taxi service to transport patients to the appropriate healthcare facility (for copy 
see file of Minutes).    He asked the Director of Commissioning to respond to the 
point raised.  She stressed that there was not a sole dependency of taxis in rural 
areas as other means of transport would also be utilised.  The CCG were looking 
to join the taxi framework, the same as the local authority used.  Providing taxis 

Page 14



during busy times and the use of 4x4 vehicles had not been a problem to date.  
The fleet of vehicles that NEAS provided would ensure that they were fit for 
purpose and disabled access and guide dogs would be catered for. She assured 
members that the taxi driver would ensure that the patient had been presented to 
the right place and would accompany the patient to the correct waiting area if 
required.  With regards to cleaning she confirmed that the CCG would meet the 
cost if anyone was ill whilst travelling in a taxi.  There was no requirement for taxi 
drivers to be first aid trained but if a patient was acutely unwell they would be 
travelling in an ambulance.  The 111 service would ask if a patient had a means of 
transport when being referred for an appointment.  The Director of Commissioning 
would send a written response to the MP and would provide a copy to the Chair for 
information. 

Further to the points raised by the MP the Chair had received notification that a 
member of the public wished to express concerns. Ms Hackworth-Young informed 
the committee that the services available at the Richardson Hospital were not well 
advertised and that people were told it was closed when they rang the 111 Service.  
She believed that this was the reason it was not used, as people did not think it still 
existed.  She asked if anyone had tried to get a taxi in the Dales, especially in 
Middleton-in-Teesdale and that these areas often had the most vulnerable people 
living in them.  She said that should the services at the Richardson Hospital be 
promoted then they would be successful.  She felt very let down by the service and 
did not feel that the news given today could be trusted.  She echoed the concerns 
expressed by Helen Goodman, MP and asked that the CCG look at this again.

The Director of Commissioning explained that the issue of extended and enhanced 
primary care access was separate from the issue of the viability of the Richardson 
Hospital.  She stressed that this hospital was a key part of the NHS services 
provided in the Dales and that there were no plans to change that as the CCG 
would not want patients to travel over 30 miles when there was a hospital on their 
doorstep.  She pointed out that with all services the message was advertised as 
‘talk before you walk’ whereby all patients were asked to ring the 111 service and 
they would be directed based on the level of need.  Referring to the issues of 
people being informed that the Richardson Hospital was closed, the 111 service 
manager had confirmed that the directory of services remains unchanged and that 
on no occasion had people been informed of this.  The Director of Commissioning 
went on to say that should calls could be listened to if people had the details of the 
date and time.  With regards to transport she went on to explain that amendments 
had been made to the criteria used and this addressed elderly people living alone.  
She also advised of the work being carried out with Teams Around the Patient 
(TAPs) and that social workers and district nurses would also provide support to 
those elderly and vulnerable patients, bringing services to the patient.  She 
reminded members that this review was not about those patients who were 
critically or acutely unwell and re-assured members that an ambulance would be 
sent for those patients.

Page 15



The Head of Commissioning informed the committee that she had attended a 
meeting with the friends of Richardson Hospital and was informed that a GP 
practice hire a room at the hospital.  This was often referred to as the Richardson 
out of hours service and when listening to some 111 calls people were often asking 
for the wrong facility.

Councillor Bell did not support the changes and he echoed the concerns raised by 
the local MP.  He did not feel that this had been properly advertised and pointed 
out that 10% of people were mis-directed through the 111 service, a fact given in 
the presentation.  He believed that the 111 service were clueless of the geography 
of the local areas and that the CCG had not set up this process to succeed and 
was concerned of the knock-on effect this would have on other services.  He said 
that with opening hours of 12 – 8 p.m. this would encourage an overflow of patients 
and give the GP practices in the Bishop Auckland area a free ride.  He asked how 
people would be encouraged to use their own GP practice first.  With regards to 
transport he asked if the CCG could elaborate on the new criteria and he also had 
concerns if people could not drive themselves to an appointment.

On answering the point about geography, the Director of Commissioning confirmed 
that the 111 service use postcodes and if someone was ringing from a landline this 
information would show where the call was coming from on the system.  With 
regards to advertising, she explained that this had been done the same way across 
the board.  She said that it would be in no ones interest to set this review up not to 
succeed.  She praised the staff who were very dedicated to the services that they 
provide.  She went on to explain that the changes would mean a more effective 
way of meeting the needs of people including having the staff available to be able 
to go out and visit those elderly and vulnerable patients in their own home.  Access 
to appointments though the 111 service would always look at the patient’s own GP 
practice first to check on available appointments and if none available then the hub 
would be used as an overflow.  She explained that if people were not physically fir 
to drive then part of the 111 service assessment would pick up that transport would 
need to be provided.

As the decisions looked to have been based mainly on usage, Councillor Crute 
asked if the CCG had capacity to react to any future changes and in particular 
plans for housing developments that could impact upon numbers in certain areas.  
He asked that the committee track progress against the recommendations over the 
next 6-12 months.

Councillor Jopling was concerned that the feedback on the consultation from such 
a small percentage of residents in the county has determined the decisions that 
had been made.  She said that a meeting in Wolsingham had very poor attendance 
and again this would not capture the feelings of everyone in the county.  She also 
expressed concerns about the 111 service and the knock-on effect of available 
appointments.

Page 16



The Director of Commissioning explained that the CCG did monitor use and looked 
at demand as the population grew.  They also had a forecast that looked at the 
number of elderly people and those people with long term conditions and the CCG 
plan for that.  Figures on usage at individual GP practices and hubs were 
monitored on a weekly to monthly basis but she explained that the service would 
be able to better respond to demand from 3 hubs rather than from 9.  She said that 
she would be happy to come back on the progress and demand at a future 
meeting.

Referencing the meeting at Wolsingham, the Director of Commissioning advised 
that they don’t just rely on feedback from these events and that they had received 
over 700 responses to the survey and feedback from dedicated groups.  She 
reminded members that this review was about enhancing and extending the hours 
already available at a GP practice and that by building on the capacity already 
available should reduce the number of patients attending A&E.  She added that 
over 1.7 million people were seen by GPs in the DDES area each year and that 
this review would build in additional capacity on an evening and at weekends.  

Councillor Grant felt that the name of the consultation is ingenuous as she believed 
this was about reducing access and not improving it.  Even though a lot of 
information had been provided she said that important information such as the new 
transport criteria and the outreach service had not been provided.  She wanted to 
know what this would mean in terms of how it impacted people accessing the 
service.  She went on to say that people were still confused about the 111 service 
and that they avoided ringing it as they were often mis-directed.   She praised the 
services that Hartlepool and Sunderland provided.

In response the Director of Commissioning said that the CCG did feel that access 
would be improved, and they would never send out a negative message in the title 
of a consultation.  She said that this review would better meet the needs of patients 
and she said that they and listened to the public and made adjustments during the 
consultation.  With regards to transport and the outreach services she would 
provide detail on how these would work.  For someone who was unable to leave 
their house, the outreach service would have the capacity to carry out more visits.  
She understood that the need to make communication more targeted for the 111 
service.  She explained that there were more clinicians and nurses available for 
people to be able to speak to and 111 would direct people according to need.  If 
people chose to use out of area facilities, then they would have to be prepared to 
wait to be seen.  Targeting of groups and communities would also be undertaken in 
order to spread the message of the 111 service.

Councillor Smith understood that the NHS had inadequate and limited resources 
but questioned if this was the best way to boost staff morale.  With Stanhope and 
Barnard Castle no longer being available, she asked if Bishop Auckland would 
have sufficient capacity to deal with the increase in demand.

Page 17



The Director of Commissioning advised that the federation of GP practices were 
aware of the activity and were looking at how best to staff appropriately together 
with being able to provide an outreach service.  This would be closely monitored.  
With regards to people being diverted out of area she went on to explain that this 
would happen from time to time and advised that a joint piece of work with CDDFT 
was taking place to investigate this.  She added that there would always be human 
error and staff training was provided.  She confirmed that Bishop Auckland would 
have the capacity to see an increase in patients.

Referring to the consultation the Chair queried why this had been commissioned to 
Groundwork and the East Durham Trust for different parts of the CCG areas.  He 
thought it would have been beneficial for comparison reasons if the same company 
had been used and queried why Healthwatch had not been asked to carry this out.  
He further asked how sustainable the services would be and how everyone could 
work together to get the message across about people having to ring 111.

In response the Director of Commissioning advised that a range of independent 
companies were the preferred choice to carry out the consultation and she 
confirmed that Healthwatch were already involved in the process, attending events 
and acting as a critical friend.  She assured members that as the demand for 
services changes the services would need to adapt.

Councillor Savory was concerned for the people of Weardale, an isolated part of 
the county, especially in poor weather conditions.  The Director of Commissioning 
assured members that appropriate transport would be provided from NEAS as they 
had to cope with all weather conditions in all parts of the county.  Councillor Savory 
also expressed concern that people in the Weardale area would not always be able 
to get a taxi and was informed that this would not always be expected as NEAS 
commission services.

Resolved:
(i) That the report and presentation be noted and the Committee consider 

the consultation process adopted by DDES CCG to have been robust.
(ii) That the proposed changes be noted.
(iii) That the changes to the transport criteria and outreach/ home visiting 

services be welcomed and that further details be provided to the 
Committee.

(iv) That a post implementation update report be brought back to this 
Committee within 6 to 12 months.

6 Review of Peterlee Urgent Treatment Centre 

The Committee received a report and presentation from the Director of 
Commissioning, North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Groups that provided an update on the Review of Peterlee 
Urgent Treatment Centre (for copy see file of Minutes).

Page 18



The Head of Commissioning appraised members about the proposed public 
engagement process over a four week period and would come back with the full 
details at the September meeting.

Councillor Grant was disappointed that there had been no engagement in the 
Wheatley Hill or Thornley areas and asked that the CCG look wider than the 
Peterlee area.  She asked that further details be provided and that examples to 
show how the changes would work would be helpful.

The Chair also pointed out that this should be extended to areas of Sedgefield, 
Fishburn and the Trimdons.

The Head of Commissioning informed the committee that this was not a 
consultation exercise and that she would come back with the details in September. 
AAP meetings were also being attended in local areas.

Councillor Quinn was supportive of the proposed changes as had witnessed a 
home visit in action which had seen a positive outcome.  

Councillor Crute said that members would be informed about the detail and 
findings in September and that this process is what had been requested previously 
to ensure that the voice of the public was heard.

Resolved:
That the report be noted.

7 Public Health responsibilities 

The Committee received a presentation from the Director of Public Health County 
Durham that gave an oversight on the Public Health responsibilities (for copy see 
file of Minutes).

The presentation highlighted the following:-

 Responsibilities and other priority interventions
 County Durham Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
 Background to public health funding
 Budget 2019/20
 Our priorities – the Taylor family
 Every child to have the best start in life
 0-5 mandated contracts
 Excellent drug and alcohol provision
 Key priorities for the new contract
 Numbers in treatment (April 2018 – September 2018) taken from NDTMS

Page 19



 Positive behaviour change
 Sexual health
 Sexual health services
 NHS healthchecks
 Reduction in smoking levels
 Supporting Healthy Weight in County Durham
 Active 30
 Mental Health at Scale
 Mental Health at Scale programme
 Public health grant proposals beyond 2020 and implications for County 

Durham
 The Taylor family – healthy life expectancy
 North east position
 Considerations and actions

Councillor Bell referred to the healthy life expectancy and the ACRA formula used 
with the potential for cuts and asked if the service had any contingency plans with 
a list of must dos.  He also asked how the service balance their commitments.  The 
Director of Public Health responded that behind the scenes the service have been 
looking at contingency plans for some time and how best to use the resources 
available, which had been built into the MTFP of the Council.  The service were 
looking at where improvements could be made and where any wholesale changes 
would have to be made.  For example, childhood obesity could be approached by 
looking at the environment in which the child lives rather than looking at one to one 
support however, a lot of work was being carried out on prioritisation.

Councillor Grant referred to recent communication from the Police, Crime and 
Victim’s Commissioner (PCVC) to address drugs and alcohol concerns and she 
asked what the Council were doing to support this.  The Director of Public health 
advised that the service work closely with the PCVC and they had agreed to carry 
out healthy needs assessments and what treatments were best for clients.  She 
would share this detail with the committee and advised that currently there were 
2000 long term clients that had both physical and mental health needs.  Work had 
been commissioned to look at the mental health side and to look at recovery with a 
focus on dedicated women’s provision.  The Principal Overview and Scrutiny 
Officer advised members that scrutiny of the Drug and Alcohol service fell within 
the remit of the Safer and Stronger Communities OSC and that this area of work 
formed part of the work programme for that committee.  He would suggest that 
when the matter was considered by that Committee then members of the Adults, 
Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee be invited to attend.

Councillor Smith asked if there was any other way in which members could help to 
lobby about the funding issue.  She had written to several newspapers about this 
and the Northern Echo had printed one of her letters.

Page 20



Councillor Huntington was concerned that because of austerity and the high levels 
of poverty and deprivation in our county that this impacted on the kind of service 
we could be provided and was concerned about how we could meet that.

The Chair informed members that the committee would be looking at Adult Social 
Care as part of the work programme.

Resolved:
That the presentation be noted.

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC 

4 July 2019 – Media Slide

Concerns raised over changes to extended 
access to GP services in County Durham –
Northern Echo 20 June 2019

What changes to out of hours GP care means 
for patients needing a doctor – Sunderland 
Echo 14 June 2019

Residents in care homes 'missing out on 
dental care’ – BBC Website 24 June 2019

New vision for Sunderland Royal Hospital 
‘could prevent cancelled operations’, say 
health chiefs – Sunderland Echo 8 March 2019

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

         

Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

 4 July 2019 

 Skerne Medical Group 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Bishop Middleham and Cornforth; Sedgefield; Trimdon and Thornley 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To update the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on proposals for consultation/engagement by Skerne 
Medical Practice in respect of the development of options for future 
service provision across the practice locality. 

Executive summary 

2 The Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 
previously met to consider plans and proposals by Skerne Medical 
Group regarding problems facing the group in respect of the recruitment 
and retention of GPs as well as existing GP staffing capacity. 

3 The Committee mat and considered consultation and engagement 
plans for the aforementioned proposals and also made representations 
to the North Durham and DDES CCG Primary Care Committee in 
respect of plans to close branch services at Fishburn and Trimdon 
Village. 

4 The Primary Care Commissioning Committee met on 18 December 
2018 and agreed that: 

(i) The proposal for the closure of Trimdon Village be supported on 
the grounds that: 

• The premises are in a poor state of repair. 

• Clinicians working there are more isolated that they are in 
other premises. 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



• The impact on the population has to be weighed against the 
risk of the entire practice failing. 

• The practice will continue to offer general medical services to 
the population including home visiting where appropriate. 

(ii) That the proposal to close Fishburn Village surgery be rejected on 
the grounds that this was not included in the original letter and so 
we do not consider all patients were adequately consulted. 

(iii) That the Practice (Skerne Medical Group) conduct an urgent 
review regarding the medium to long term future of the surgery 
sites. Their patients must be engaged in this process and the 
process should be completed within 6 to 12 months of this 
meeting. Any future emergency branch closure will involve an 
engagement exercise with their patients. Any future service 
delivery model options appraisal process must include Trimdon 
Village. 

5 The decision of the Primary Care Committee was reported to the Adults 
Wellbeing and Health OSC at a special meeting held on 14 January 
2019. 

6 Following consideration of the decision of the Primary Care Committee 
and following concerns at the lack of availability of appointments at the 
Fishburn Branch, the Committee wrote to Skerne Medical Group and 
DDES CCG.  

7 In noting the decision of the Primary Care Committee, Councillors 
remained concerned about the continued provision of GP services in 
the locality. The committee noted the third recommendation of the 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee in Common that “the Practice 
(Skerne Medical Group) conduct an urgent review regarding the 
medium to long term future of the surgery sites. Their patients must be 
engaged in this process and the process should be completed within 6 
to 12 months of this meeting. Any future emergency branch closure will 
involve an engagement exercise with their patients. Any future service 
delivery model options appraisal process must include Trimdon Village.” 

8 In view of this third recommendation, the Adults Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee sought assurances that as part of the 
aforementioned review, any future service model options developed and 
to be subject to patient and stakeholder engagement be brought back to 
the Committee for consideration and that local County Councillors are 
engaged in this consultation process at an early stage also. 

  

Page 26



9 The Committee also asked that any service model options that are 
developed be brought back to the Adults Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee together with the communications 
and consultation plans and associated timescales. 

10 Representatives of Skerne Medical Group will be in attendance to 
provide members with a presentation setting out the proposed plans for 
patient and stakeholder consultation together with the options for future 
service model that are planned to be consulted upon. 

Recommendations 

11 The Committee is asked to receive this report and presentation and 
comment on proposals for consultation/engagement by Skerne Medical 
Practice in respect of the development of options for future service 
provision across the practice locality. 

Background 

12 At its meeting held on 15 November 2018 the Adults Wellbeing and 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee noted recent press coverage 
of plans to reduce service provision across the Skerne Medical Group, 
specifically the potential reduction in the number of branch sites served 
by the practice. 

13 The Committee receive a report from representatives of the Skerne 
Medical Group detailing problems facing the group in respect of the 
recruitment, retention and current GP staffing capacity. 

14 The Committee were advised by Dr Hearmon, one of the practice GPs, 
that despite the practice’s best efforts in respect of the recruitment of 
GPs, it faces a reduction of 35% in GP manpower compared to October 
2016 due to resignations, retirements and sickness which will reduce 
GP available appointment time by 40% in February 2019. 

15 The practice commenced a patient and stakeholder engagement 
process on 5 November 2018 and have written to all patients advising 
them of the problems facing Skerne Medical Group and have held a 
series of public meetings to enable patients to discuss these issues. 

16 The Committee heard representations from a number of local 
Councillors who expressed concerns at the public engagement process, 
especially the lack of detail in respect of the dates, times and locations 
of the public meetings in the letter sent to patients. 

 

Page 27



17 The practice explained that it had initiated a review of all four surgeries 
from which they currently provide services; Sedgefield, Fishburn, 
Trimdon Village and Trimdon Colliery, commencing with a review of 
whether Trimdon Village surgery and one additional site, to be 
determined after the engagement period, can remain open from 2019 
on the current and projected staffing levels. 

18 In view of this the Committee at its meeting on 15 November 2018 
recommended that the potential for continued GP provision within 
Trimdon Village should form a key part of this proposed review and any 
option for future services developed as part of the review. 

19 Representatives of the practice attended a special meeting of the Adults 
Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 4 
December 2018 when a verbal update was provided to members of the 
Committee regarding the key findings of the patient and stakeholder 
consultation and engagement exercise undertaken in respect of the 
proposed closure of practice branch sites. 

20 Key considerations and comments noted by members at the meeting 
included: 

• The difficulties experienced by the practice in terms of the 
dramatic shortage of GPs the practice faces and that by February 
2019 the practice will have 40% fewer doctors than 2½ years ago 
and feels unable to safely staff four separate sites. 

• The response rates and levels of engagement in the process with 
over 400 people attending the engagement events and the 70 
comments received via the practice website.  

• The generic issues raised during the engagement process as well 
as specific issues regarding each individual site. 

• The GP resource now available at the Skerne Medical Group has 
reduced since the initial report to Committee on 15 November 
from 5 GPs to 3 which has compounded the problems. 

• Following consideration of the engagement feedback and 
responses, members are aware that the practice are proposing to 
close the Fishburn and Trimdon Village sites and retain the 
Sedgefield and Trimdon Colliery sites. 

• The Committee are concerned that one of the sites proposed to 
close had the second largest practice list (Fishburn) and included 
half of the registered patients from Trimdon Village who had 
previously been encouraged to use the Fishburn site. 

Page 28



• The limited evidence to explain the rationale for closing the two 
sites from a patient perspective. 

• The absence of any detailed medical needs assessment having 
been carried out across the 4 sites based upon patient contacts 
and any associated risk assessments regarding the proposed 
change including accessibility, car parking and availability of 
public transport as part of the options appraisal process. 

21 The Committee reaffirmed its previous recommendation to the Skerne 
Medical Group that the potential for continued GP provision within 
Trimdon Village should form a key part of the practice’s proposed 
review and any option for future services developed as part of the 
review. 

22 The Committee also contested the adequacy of the consultation as the 
letter sent to all patients on the practice lists contained conflicting 
information regarding lack of mention of a second potential site closure 
which was publicised on the Practice website and provided at the 
engagement meetings. 

23 The concerns raised by the Committee were communicated to the 
Practice by letter. Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield CCG were 
copied into this correspondence to ensure that the views of the Adults 
Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee were 
communicated to the Primary Care Commissioning Committee when it 
met on 18 December 2018. 

24 The Primary Care Commissioning Committee met on 18 December 
2018 to consider applications from Skerne Medical Group to close the 
Branch sites at Trimdon Village and Fishburn. Following representations 
made by the practice, local Councillors, patients and stakeholders 
including the County Council’s Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, the Primary Care Commissioning Committee 
agreed that:- 

(i) That the proposal for the closure of Trimdon Village be supported 
on the grounds that: 

• The premises are in a poor state of repair. 

• Clinicians working there are more isolated that they are in 
other premises. 

• The impact of the population has to be weighed against the 
risk of the entire practice failing. 

Page 29



• The practice will continue to offer general medical services to 
the population including home visiting where appropriate. 

(ii) That the proposal to close Fishburn Village surgery be rejected in 
the grounds that this was not included in the original letter and so 
we do not consider all patients were adequately consulted. 

(iii) That the Practice (Skerne Medical Group) conduct an urgent 
review regarding the medium to long term future of the surgery 
sites. Their patients must be engaged in this process and the 
process should be completed within 6 to 12 months of this 
meeting. Any future emergency branch closure will involve an 
engagement exercise with their patients. Any future service 
delivery model options appraisal process must include Trimdon 
Village. 

25 The decision of the Primary Care Committee was reported to the Adults 
Wellbeing and Health OSC at a special meeting held on 14 January 
2019. 

26 Following consideration of the decision of the Primary Care Committee 
and following concerns at the lack of availability of appointments at the 
Fishburn Branch, the Committee wrote to Skerne Medical Group and 
DDES CCG.  

27 In noting the decision of the Primary Care Committee, Councillors 
remained concerned about the continued provision of GP services in 
the locality. The committee noted the third recommendation of the 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee in Common that “the Practice 
(Skerne Medical Group) conduct an urgent review regarding the 
medium to long term future of the surgery sites. Their patients must be 
engaged in this process and the process should be completed within 6 
to 12 months of this meeting. Any future emergency branch closure will 
involve an engagement exercise with their patients. Any future service 
delivery model options appraisal process must include Trimdon Village.” 

28 In view of this third recommendation, the Adults Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee sought assurances that as part of the 
aforementioned review, any future service model options developed and 
to be subject to patient and stakeholder engagement be brought back to 
the Committee for consideration and that local County Councillors are 
engaged in this consultation process at an early stage also.  

29 The Committee also asked that any service model options that are 
developed be brought back to the Adults Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee together with the communications 
and consultation plans and associated timescales. 

Page 30



30 Representatives of Skerne Medical Group will be in attendance to 
provide members with a presentation setting out the proposed plans for 
patient and stakeholder consultation together with the options for future 
service model that are to be consulted upon. 

Considerations 

31 Members are asked to consider the Skerne Medical Group’s 
consultation and engagement proposals, including the proposed dates, 
times and locations for consultation and engagement events. 

32 The Committee is also asked to consider the future service model 
options set out in the presentation. 

Main implications 

Consultation 

62 Skerne Medical Group will report upon their proposals for formal patient 
and stakeholder engagement on the future service model options. 

Legal 

63 This report has been produced in accordance with the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and wellbeing boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013 as they relate to the National Health Service Act 2006 
governing the local authority health scrutiny function. 

Conclusion 

64 The initial media articles and subsequent patient and stakeholder 
consultation and engagement have raised concerns amongst local 
residents and Durham County Councillors regarding the future of GP 
services across the Skerne Group locality.  

65 The Committee has previously considered the Skerne Medical Group 
proposals alongside the initial findings of the patient and stakeholder 
consultation and engagement. The concerns of the Committee have 
been reported to the DDES CCG Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee whose decision on the issue is set out in paragraph 25 of 
this report. 

66 In light of the decision of the DDES CCG Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee held on 18 December 2018 and the subsequent 
representations made by the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee are asked to receive this report and consider the 
Skerne Medical Group proposals for patient and stakeholder 
consultation and engagement as well as the future service model 
options being consulted upon. 

Page 31



 

Background papers 

• Agenda, Minutes and Reports to the Adults Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings held on 15 
November 2018, 4 December 2018 and the special meeting held 
on 14 January 2019. 

 

Contact: Stephen Gwillym Tel:  03000 268140 

   

   

  

Page 32



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

This report has been produced in accordance with the Local Authority (Public 

Health, Health and wellbeing boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 

as they relate to the National Health Service Act 2006 governing the local 

authority health scrutiny function. 

Finance 

Not applicable 

Consultation 

The proposals for patient and stakeholder engagement by Skerne Medical 

Group are detailed within the attached presentation.  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment has previously been carried out by the 

practice and was reported to the Primary Care Commissioning Committee. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

Not applicable 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
Date 21st June 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Head of Household 
 
We are writing to provide you with details of our forthcoming consultation. 
 
This follows the period of patient engagement activity that took place from October - 
December 2018. Following that engagement process we agreed to consult with our patients 
on the future premises options for our practice.  
 
The Partners have been considering how to make the practice more sustainable for the 
future with the current configuration of premises within such close geographical proximity. 
We provided details about this during the previous engagement process. If you would like to 
see that information please contact us on 01740 620300 or the information is available on 
the website at www.doctorsnhs.co.uk.  We have recently been very fortunate to recruit 
some newly qualified GPs to our team and it is most important that they are supported so 
that they commit to stay and provide long term care to our patients. 
 
The forthcoming consultation will look at options to remain sustainable including staying as 
we are or moving down to one or two sites. We will also discuss with you the likely 
timescales for change if we are allowed to move forward on a proposal.  
 
Every current practice site plus Trimdon Village has been considered in the consultation and 
depending on the outcome of the consultation and the medium/long term premises 
scenario selected, it may mean changes or closures to any of the premises that we currently 
operate from and this could have an impact on any of our patients.  
 
We appreciate the contents of this letter may cause concern for patients registered at this 
practice however please be reassured that whatever the outcome of the consultation all of 
our patients will continue to have access to full medical care from Skerne Medical Group.  
We would therefore appreciate your feedback and invite you to come along to one of our  

Page 35

http://www.doctorsnhs.co.uk/


 

 

 
 
 
 
 
public engagement events on the following dates. The consultation will run for 8 weeks 
from June 26th 2019. 
 
 

Date Where Time 

Tuesday 9th July Sedgefield Parish Hall 7pm – 8.30pm 

Thursday 25th July Fishburn Community Centre 7pm – 8.30pm 

Friday 26th July Trimdon Station Community Centre  7pm – 8.30pm 

Sunday 4th August Trimdon Village Hall 3pm - 4.30pm 

Tuesday 6th August Sedgefield Parish Hall 7pm – 8.30pm 

Saturday 10th August Fishburn Community Centre 11am – 12.30pm 

Monday 12th August Trimdon Grange Community Centre 7pm – 8.30pm 

 
 
If you are unable to attend one of the public engagement events, or would like further 
information on the consultation, including a feedback form, they will be available from 26th 
June 2019 at any Skerne Medical Group site or via the surgery website at 
www.doctorsnhs.co.uk 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Dr. Christine Hearmon, Dr. David Anderson, Dr. Helen Taylor 
 
Partners 
Skerne Medical Group 
 
 

Page 36

http://www.doctorsnhs.co.uk/


Skerne Medical Group

Premises Appraisal

June 2019

P
age 37



We are at 
breaking point

Situation has worsened in last 6 
months despite reducing services 
from 4 to 3 sites. 2 Partners, 1 
salaried GP and a Clinical Practitioner 
resigned.

The attraction and retention of GPs 
continues to be a challenge. Taken 
significant time to fill vacancies 
caused by retirement, sickness and 
resignations

Lack of new GP’s seeking Partnership 
therefore small number of partners 
to absorb business workload

Reminder - National Crisis impacting locally

15500 patients over 3 sites is 
unsustainable for the future.  Also 
inability to absorb any increase due 
to housing developments

P
age 38



What have we 
achieved?

Recruited additional Practice 
Pharmacist and currently recruiting 
for an additional Clinical Practitioner

Recruited four new GPs, 3 we hope 
will commence in Aug 2019 and one 
to join in Jan 2020

Now better placed to provide support 
and mentorship to our whole clinical 
team

What has changed since the engagement?

Practice Paramedic and Practice 
Nurse achieved prescribing status

P
age 39



GP Appointment Time – In Jan 2020 we will almost be back 
to GP appointment time of October 2016

Sessions 
(half a day)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

GP Appointment Time

Oct-16

Feb-19

Aug-19

Jan-20

P
age 40



There has been a significant change in the split between 
Partners and Salaried GPs

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Number of GP's

Salaried GPs

Partners

Pre October 
2016 the 
Partner  FTE 
was 6.12

In January 2020 
Partner FTE will 
be 2.12 

P
age 41



Practice AreaP
age 42



What has 
been 
reviewed?

The scenarios have included all 
locations across our practice area

As requested by the Primary Care 
Committee scenarios have been 
reviewed in conjunction with DDES 
CCG and NHS England

The future sustainability of Skerne 
Medical Group has to be a balance of 
the above considerations

Premises Scenarios

The scenarios have considered the 
financial implications for the 
Partnership

P
age 43



Challenges

Appointment time is lost due to 
clinical staff having to travel between 
sites 

Newly qualified GPs require 
mentoring and peer support to 
manage the transition  from trainee 
to qualified GP

All staff do not like working in 
isolation and prefer working in teams 
where peer support is available

What are the challenges with a multi site practice?

Patients do not receive consistent 
continuity of care with clinical staff 
working across multi sites

P
age 44



Partnership

The Partners have full financial 
responsibility for the Practice. 
Premises are secured on either 25 
year lease or mortgage

Skerne Medical Group is a 
standalone business fully responsible 
for its profit/loss

Partnership Financial Responsibility

The risk remains of formal 
termination of the formal GP contract

The Partners have full responsibility 
for the medical care provided to 
patients and staff  they employ 

P
age 45



Scenarios

Occupy a single site at Sedgefield Community Hospital plus retain Trimdon 
Colliery until 2027

Build a new surgery in Trimdon (village) for entire practice plus retain Trimdon 
Colliery until 2027

Extend Harbinson House, Sedgefield and build a (larger) new surgery in Trimdon 
(village) to accommodate 7,000 patients (plus retain Trimdon Colliery until 2027)

Extend Harbinson House, Sedgefield and retain and extend Trimdon Colliery  
surgery

Extend Harbinson House, retain Trimdon Colliery and Fishburn

1

2

4

3

5

P
age 46



Scenario 1 – Occupy a single site at Sedgefield Community Hospital and 
retain Trimdon Colliery until 2027

Practice 
Staff

❑ Will attract and retain 
GP’s

❑ Peer support readily 
available

❑ Improved staff morale 
❑ Less duplication of 

effort

❑ No foreseeable negative 
impact

Patients

❑ Improved Safety
❑ Improved facilities and 

services in a modern 
environment

❑ One stop shop for 
continued care  due to 
connections with other 
clinical services co-
located

❑ Harbinson House and 
Fishburn would close at 
some point (Trimdon 
Colliery in 2027)

❑ Additional travelling for 
all patients across the 
practice area

❑ Access issues for less 
mobile patients across 
the entire practice

❑ Not all public transport 
stops at SCH

1

P
age 47



Scenario 1 – Occupy a single site at Sedgefield Community Hospital and 
retain Trimdon Colliery until 2027

Facilities

❑ Modern and maintained
❑ Consistent services 

provided for all patients
❑ Peer support readily 

available and attractive 
operating model for GP 
training

❑ Opportunity to expand 
car park (we believe)

❑ Other facilities on site

❑ No pharmacy adjacent 
to site

❑ Unknown as to what 
impact the rest of the 
used area of SCH may 
have on the practice

Finance

❑ Savings due to 
economies of scale

❑ Potential revenue from 
hosting other PCN 
services

❑ Extremely high service 
charge as PFI building

❑ Will require sale of 
practice property 
(potential negative 
equity situation & 
impact on outstanding 
business loan)

❑ Service charges & 
running costs unknown 
– is it affordable 
through duration of 
agreement

1P
age 48



Scenario 2 – Build a new surgery in Trimdon Village for entire practice and 
retain  Trimdon Colliery until 2027 

Practice 
Staff

❑ Likely to aid retention of 
our new GPs

❑ Peer support readily 
available and attractive 
operating model for GP 
training

❑ Less duplication of 
effort

❑ No foreseeable negative 
impact 

Patients
• Distance for Trimdon 

Village patients

❑ Improved Safety
❑ Improved facilities and 

services in a modern 
purpose built surgery

❑ Harbinson House and 
Fishburn would close 
(Trimdon Colliery in 
2027)

❑ Not a central location 
❑ Fewer public transport 

options into Trimdon 
(village) from the rest of 
practice area. 

2

P
age 49



Facilities

❑ Modern and purpose 
built

❑ Ability to offer services 
under one roof

❑ Peer support readily 
available and attractive 
operating model for GP 
training

❑ Proposed site is not big 
enough for a single sited 
building

Finance

• Improved Safety
• Improved facilities and 

services in a modern 
environment

• One stop shop for 
continued care 

• Ability to offer more 
flexible hours

• Distance for Trimdon 
Village patients

❑ Savings in running costs 
due to economies of 
scale and modern 
premises

❑ Huge estimated build cost of 
£3.57m  – unlikely to be 
affordable for Partners and 
NHS England (reimbursable 
costs)

❑ Current Partners unlikely to 
get a loan to cover costs so 
not a viable/affordable 
investment

❑ Sale and lease back options 
debateable due to limited 
number of Partners

Scenario 2 – Build a new surgery in Trimdon Village for entire practice and 
retain  Trimdon Colliery until 2027 2P

age 50



Scenario 3 – Extend Harbinson House, Sedgefield and build a (larger) new 
surgery in Trimdon (village) to accommodate 7,000 patients 

Practice 
Staff

❑ Could be attractive 
model for new Partners 
depending on finance of 
new build

❑ Staff could be anchored 
to sites for continuity of 
care

❑ No foreseeable impact

Patients

❑ Good accessibility for 
each side of the practice

❑ New purpose built 
facility for patients of 
Trimdon

❑ Fishburn would close 
and Trimdon Colliery in 
2027

❑ Limited car parking in 
Sedgefield for increase 
in patient numbers

3

P
age 51



Scenario 3 – Extend Harbinson House, Sedgefield and build a (larger) new 
surgery in Trimdon (village) to accommodate 7,000 patients 

Facilities

❑ New build modern and 
purpose built

❑ Peer support readily 
available and attractive 
operating model for GP 
training

❑ No major impact on 
facilities for patients or 
staff

Finance
❑ Savings due to 

economies of scale

❑ Huge estimated build 
cost of £2.2m  – unlikely 
affordable for Partners

❑ Current Partners 
unlikely to get a loan to 
cover costs and not a 
viable investment

❑ Sale and leaseback 
options debateable due 
to limited number of 
Partners

3P
age 52



Scenario 4 – Extend Harbinson House, Sedgefield and retain Trimdon 
Colliery surgery (would also require extending)  

Practice 
Staff

❑ Staff could be anchored 
to sites for continuity of 
care and maximisation 
of available 
appointments

❑ Opportunity to 
centralise some 
functions & achieve 
economies of scale

❑ No foreseeable impact

Patients ❑ Good accessibility for 
whole practice area 

❑ Fishburn would close at 
some point

❑ Limited public car 
parking in Sedgefield for 
increase in patient 
numbers

❑ Patient numbers would 
have to be controlled at 
either site due to 
capacity issues

4

P
age 53



Scenario 4 - Extend Harbinson House and retain and extend Trimdon 
Colliery surgery

Facilities ❑ Two good buildings with 
facilities

❑ Current room 
availability would leave 
no scope for 
development  of 
services so Sedgefield 
and  Trimdon Colliery 
would require extension 
to provide sufficient 
rooms

❑ No scope for future 
expansion

Finance

❑ May be an attractive 
option to incoming 
Partners

❑ Finance required for 
extension work in 
Sedgefield and Trimdon 
Colliery

❑ Partners would have to 
sign new lease on TC or 
look at option to 
purchase (if available)

4P
age 54



Scenario 5 – Extend Harbinson House, retain Trimdon Colliery and 
Fishburn

Practice 
Staff

❑ Staff have good local 
knowledge of patients

❑ Professional isolation 
will still exist across 3 
sites and highly likely to 
affect retention of 
clinical staff without 
whom the service fails

❑ Clinical and reception 
staff will continue to 
work across multiple 
sites

Patients

❑ Most patients have 
good access to a nearby 
surgery

❑ No further disruption to 
patients and staff

❑ Current working model 
since last engagement

❑ Car Parking is limited in 
all sites and no scope 
for expansion

❑ Allied Health 
Professionals occupy 
rooms (for convenience 
of patients) 

❑ The range of services 
offered at Fishburn will 
be limited in 
comparison to other 
sites

5

P
age 55



Scenario 5 – Status quo operating from surgeries in Sedgefield, Fishburn 
and Trimdon Colliery

Facilities ❑ No further disruption 
for patients

❑ No scope for extending 
Fishburn, compromised 
by site being landlocked

❑ No building is future 
proof to cope with 
anticipated growth in 
patient 
numbers/changes in 
how primary care is 
delivered

Finance
❑ Partners retain assets

❑ Finance required for 
potential extension 
work in Sedgefield and 
potentially Trimdon 
Colliery

❑ Practice would have to 
sign new lease on TC or 
look at option to 
purchase if available

5P
age 56



Scenarios

Occupy a single site at Sedgefield Community Hospital plus retain Trimdon 
Colliery until 2027

Build a new surgery in Trimdon (village) for entire practice plus retain Trimdon 
Colliery until 2027

Extend Harbinson House, Sedgefield and build a (larger) new surgery in Trimdon 
(village) to accommodate 7,000 patients (plus retain Trimdon Colliery until 2027)

Extend Harbinson House, Sedgefield and retain and extend Trimdon Colliery  
surgery

Extend Harbinson House, retain Trimdon Colliery and Fishburn

1

2

4

3

5

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

              

        

Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

 4 July 2019 

 Path to Excellence Phase 2 – Pre-

engagement proposals 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Dawdon, Deneside, Easington, Murton, Seaham and Shotton and South 

Hetton  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide members of the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee with background information on proposals for pre -
engagement activity by South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS 
Partnership in respect of the development of options for future service 
provision in respect of the Phase 2 of the Path to Excellence 
Programme. 

2 The report also asks members to agree to the appointment of 
representatives from this Committee to any Joint Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee established as part of consideration of formal 
consultation on the Path to Excellence Phase 2 proposals. 

Executive summary 

3 The Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 
previously met to consider plans and proposals by South Tyneside and 
Sunderland NHS Partnership in respect of their formal consultation 
regarding options for future service provision in respect of the Phase 1 
of the Path to Excellence Programme.  

4 As members may recall, Phase 1 of the Path to Excellence Programme 
sought views and ideas in respect of changes proposed for stroke; 
maternity (obstetrics); women’s healthcare (gynaecology) and children 
and young people’s healthcare (urgent and emergency paediatrics) 
hospital-based services in South Tyneside and Sunderland. 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 8



5 The Committee met and considered consultation plans for the 
aforementioned proposals in September 2017 and a formal response to 
the consultation in respect of Phase 1 was agreed at the Committee’s 
meeting held on 2 October 2017. 

6 The decision for Phase 1 of the Programme was made in February 
2018 by South Tyneside & Sunderland CCGs, however mobilisation of 
decisions was delayed until the outcome of referral to Secretary of State 
for Health and Social Care and IPR advice was gained and resolved, 
and there was also a legal challenge. The challenge was successfully 
defended by the CCGs in December 2018, meaning that full 
mobilisation planning could go ahead. 

7 The implementation of the agreed proposals for Phase 1 of the Path to 
Excellence programme is nearing completion and South Tyneside and 
Sunderland NHS Partnership has undertaken a significant amount of 
key stakeholder involvement activity in respect of Phase 2 of the 
Programme. 

8 The Path to Excellence Phase Two focuses on three areas of hospital 
care. The areas of care are: 

• Acute medicine and emergency care 

• Emergency surgery 

• Planned care including surgery and outpatient care 

9 The programme has been engaging with NHS staff, patients with 
experiences of the services under review, CVS organisations, Health 
Watch organisations, other key stakeholders on what are the key issues 
and pressures, and what is important then in delivering or receiving the 
best care possible. 

10 The programme issued its first draft case for change in July 2018 – 
which can be found on the programme website and link here 
https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/NHS-
PTE2-CFC-full-document-final.pdf and this sets out the issues and 
challenges facing hospital services in Sunderland and South Tyneside 
along with the key insights gained from staff and patients about what is 
important to them. 

11 Since last summer, further involvement work has taken place, as well as 
more detailed work by clinical teams in developing a long list of all the 
possible solutions that there could be and then applying key hurdle 
criteria to gain a shorter working list of ideas for wider stakeholder 
assessment.  

Page 60

https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/NHS-PTE2-CFC-full-document-final.pdf
https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/NHS-PTE2-CFC-full-document-final.pdf


12 In February 2019, an updated case for change was published building 
upon the first edition from July 2018, which contained the working list of 
ideas (as well as the long list of ideas that had been assessed as not 
viable). Copies of the updated case for change documentation and a 
summary version are attached to this report for members information. 
(Appendices 2 and 3) 

13 The programme is working with the Consultation Institute on a pre-
consultation solutions generation process working to Best Practice. This 
process is set out in the following diagram however it is important to 
note that the process remains evolutionary and ideas generated at any 
step of the process will necessitate the re-application of previous steps. 

 

 

14 North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCGs are 
part of the Path to Excellence programme and currently the programme 
team is assessing the potential impact on residents of East Durham 
who use Sunderland Royal as their District General Hospital. 

15 Representatives of South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Partnership 
will be in attendance alongside representatives of North Durham and 
DDES CCGs to provide members with a presentation setting out the 
proposed plans for patient and stakeholder pre-engagement together 
with the options for future service model that are planned to be 
presented during this pre-engagement activity. Copies of the 
presentation slides are attached to this report. (Appendix 4) 

16 This pre-engagement activity will inform formal consultation on the Path 
to Excellence Phase 2 proposals and which is likely to be considered 
through a Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee involving 
Sunderland City Council, South Tyneside Borough Council and Durham 
County Council. The Committee is therefore requested to agree to the 
appointment of representatives to such Joint Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee that may be established for this purpose. 

Recommendations 

17 Members of the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee are requested to:- 

a) Receive this report; 

Page 61



b) Consider and comment on the information detailed within the Path to 
Excellence Phase 2 case for change documentation and the 
presentation by the Path to Excellence programme team 
representatives; 

c) Agree to the appointment of representatives from this Committee to 
such Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee that may be 
established between South Tyneside Borough Council, Sunderland 
City Council and Durham County Council for the purposes of 
considering the Path to Excellence Programme Phase 2 and any 
associated statutory consultation. 

Background 

18 South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Partnership launched a public  

19 consultation in respect of the Path to Excellence Programme Phase 1 
on 5th July 2017 asking for views and ideas on potential options for 
changes proposed for stroke; maternity (obstetrics); women’s 
healthcare (gynaecology) and children and young people’s healthcare 
(urgent and emergency paediatrics) hospital-based services in South 
Tyneside and Sunderland. 

20 Under Section 244 of the NHS Act 2006, local NHS bodies have a duty 
to consult local Overview and Scrutiny Committees on proposals for any 
substantial development of the health service or substantial variation in 
the provision in their areas. Scrutiny Committees are also required to 
consider the extent of consultation undertaken. 

21 The Consultation referenced a programme of clinical service reviews 
which commenced in 2016 that involved asking clinical staff in South 
Tyneside District Hospital and Sunderland Royal Hospital how stroke, 
maternity, gynaecology and paediatrics services should be delivered. 
Each clinical team reviewed a number of options against key criteria, 
which was developed in line with the aims of the Path to Excellence 
programme and informed by service change best practice and national 
guidance from NHS England and NHS Improvement. 

22 Copies of the Path to Excellence Phase 1 public consultation document 
and the public questionnaire were placed on deposit in the Members 
Library and representatives of South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS 
Partnership attended the Committee’s meeting held on 6 September 
2017 to provide members with information detailing:- 

• The rationale for the review of stroke; maternity (obstetrics); 
women’s healthcare (gynaecology) and children and young 
people’s healthcare (urgent and emergency paediatrics) services; 

Page 62



• The proposed options for future configuration of the services 
being consulted upon; the number of people from County Durham 
affected by the proposed changes including admission rates from 
County Durham for each service; 

• The consultation, communication and engagement activities that 
will be undertaken in informing the local community about the 
review and what is being proposed and how they can input into 
the review process; 

• The decision-making timelines proposed for each service change. 

23 The consultation process for Phase 1 of the Path to Excellence 
Programme commenced on 5 July 2017 and ended on 15 October 
2017. 

24 The Committee agreed a response to the consultation at its meeting 
held on 2 October 2017 a copy of which is attached to this report. 
(Appendix 5). 

25 The decision for Phase 1 of the Programme was made in February 
2018 by South Tyneside & Sunderland CCGs, however mobilisation of 
decisions was delayed until the outcome of referral to Secretary of State 
for Health and Social Care and IPR advice was gained and resolved, 
and there was also a legal challenge. The challenge was successfully 
defended by the CCGs in December 2018, meaning that full 
mobilisation planning could go ahead. 

26 The implementation of the agreed proposals for Phase 1 of the Path to 
Excellence programme is nearing completion and South Tyneside and 
Sunderland NHS Partnership has undertaken a significant amount of 
key stakeholder involvement activity in respect of Phase 2 of the 
Programme. 

27 The Path to Excellence Phase Two of the programme focuses on three 
areas of hospital care. The areas of care are: 

• Acute medicine and emergency care 

• Emergency surgery 

• Planned care including surgery and outpatient care 

28 The programme has been engaging with NHS staff, patients with 
experiences of the services under review, CVS organisations, Health 
Watch organisations, other key stakeholders on what are the key issues 
and pressures, and what is important then in delivering or receiving the 
best care possible. 

Page 63



29 The programme issued its first draft case for change in July 2018 – 
which can be found on the programme website and link here 
https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/NHS-
PTE2-CFC-full-document-final.pdf and this sets out the issues and 
challenges facing hospital services in Sunderland and South Tyneside 
along with the key insights gained from staff and patients about what is 
important to them. 

30 Since last summer, further involvement work has taken place, as well as 
more detailed work by clinical teams in developing a long list of all the 
possible solutions that there could be and then applying key hurdle 
criteria to gain a shorter working list of ideas for wider stakeholder 
assessment.  

31 In February 2019, an updated case for change was published building 
upon the first edition from July 2018, which contained the working list of 
ideas (as well as the long list of ideas that had been assessed as not 
viable). Copies of the updated case for change documentation and a 
summary version are attached to this report for members information. 
(Appendices 2 and 3) 

32 The programme is working with the Consultation Institute on a pre-
consultation solutions generation process working to Best Practice. This 
process is set out in the following diagram however it is important to 
note that the process remains evolutionary and ideas generated at any 
step of the process will necessitate the re-application of previous steps. 

 

 

33 North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCGs are 
part of the Path to Excellence programme and currently the programme 
team is assessing the potential impact on residents of East Durham 
who use Sunderland Royal as their District General Hospital. 

34 Representatives of South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Partnership 
alongside representatives of North Durham and DDES CCGs will be in 
attendance to provide members with a presentation setting out the 
proposed plans for patient and stakeholder pre-engagement together 
with the options for future service model that are planned to be 
presented during this pre-engagement activity. Copies of the 
presentation slides are attached to this report. (Appendix 4) 

Page 64

https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/NHS-PTE2-CFC-full-document-final.pdf
https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/NHS-PTE2-CFC-full-document-final.pdf


35 This pre-engagement activity will inform formal consultation on the Path 
to Excellence Phase 2 proposals which is likely to be required through a 
Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee involving Sunderland 
City Council, South Tyneside Borough Council and Durham County 
Council. The Committee is therefore requested to endorse the 
appointment of representatives to any such Joint Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee that may be established for this purpose. 

Considerations 

36 Members are asked to consider and comment on the information 
detailed within the Path to Excellence Phase 2 case for change 
documentation and the presentation by the Path to Excellence 
programme team representatives; 

37 Members are also asked to consider agreeing to the appointment of 
representatives from this Committee to such Joint Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee that may be established between South Tyneside 
Borough Council, Sunderland City Council and Durham County Council 
for the purposes of considering the Path to Excellence Programme 
Phase 2 and any associated statutory consultation. 

Main implications 

Consultation 

62 This report and presentation are submitted for members information to 
set out plans for patient and stakeholder pre-engagement in respect of 
the Path to Excellence Phase 2 which will inform formal consultation in 
respect of the programme later in the year. 

Legal 

63 This report has been produced in accordance with the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and wellbeing boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013 as they relate to the National Health Service Act 2006 
governing the local authority health scrutiny function. 

Conclusion 

64 Implementation of phase 1 of the Path to Excellence programme is 
nearing completion and the Path to Excellence Programme team is 
about to embark on patient and stakeholder pre-engagement in respect 
of the Path to Excellence Phase 2 which will inform formal consultation 
in respect of the programme later in the year. 

65 The reports and presentation provide members of the Committee with 
details of the work undertaken so far by the programme team and well 
as plans for patient and stakeholder pre-engagement. 

Page 65



66 The information is presented to members for information and comment 
prior to the commencement of formal consultation on Phase 2 of the 
programme. It also highlights the potential requirement for the 
establishment of a Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
between South Tyneside Borough Council, Sunderland City Council and 
Durham County Council for the purposes of considering the Path to 
Excellence Programme Phase 2 and any associated statutory 
consultation and the need for representatives of this Committee to be 
appointed to such Committee. 

Background papers 

• Agenda, Minutes and Reports to the Adults Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings held on 6 September 
2017; 2 October 2017 and 19 January 2018. 

 

 

 

Contact: Stephen Gwillym Tel:  03000 268140 

   

   

  

Page 66



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

This report has been produced in accordance with the Local Authority (Public 

Health, Health and wellbeing boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 

as they relate to the National Health Service Act 2006 governing the local 

authority health scrutiny function. 

Finance 

Not applicable 

Consultation 

The report and presentation detail plans for patient and stakeholder pre-

engagement which will inform statutory consultation in respect of the Path to 

Excellence Phase 2.  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

Not applicable 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



The path to
excellence

Working 
together 

Transforming hospital services in South Tyneside and 
Sunderland and the bigger picture for health and care

NHS partners working together:
South Tyneside and Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Groups
City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust

for clinical
excellence

Phase Two
Updated Draft

Case for Change
February  

2019

Page 69



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence2

This document provides an update to the Draft Case for Change1 published 
in July 2018. Since then, we have had further engagement with staff, 
stakeholders, patients and wider partners to learn more about the issues we are 
facing locally and the ways we could potentially solve them.

Please note that the ‘working ideas’ detailed within this document are draft 
and have been developed with senior clinical and nursing teams in South 
Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust and City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 
Trust with the involvement of wider clinical, nursing and therapy staff.  

To be clear, this is NOT a consultation document, but an update on our 
thinking so far which is designed to support further staff, patient and public 
engagement. Feedback gathered on our ‘working ideas’ will be considered as 
part of the pre-consultation business case to help develop and refine future 
scenarios to take forward for formal public consultation which is expected later 
in 2019. Any future scenarios taken forward for formal public consultation will 
also depend on the level of capital investment available to the local NHS. (see 
page 78)

This document is an update -
it is NOT a consultation document

WORKING TOGETHER

FOR CLINICAL EXCELLENCE

Page 70

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


3Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Introduction 5

A reminder of the case for change 11

Our three pillars of transformation 15

Prevention 18

Out of hospital care 23

In hospital care  30

What is our ambition? 33

What are we already doing? 36

Phase Two - the story so far 39 

What design process have we followed to reach our ‘working ideas’? 43

Our ‘working ideas’ 47

Emergency care and acute medicine 48 

Emergency surgery and planned operations 58

Planned care and outpatients 64

Our plans for clinical support services 66

How do our ‘working ideas’ fit together? 70

Summary on ‘working ideas’ 74 

What else do we need to consider? 77

Latest feedback from patients and the public 81

Draft evaluation criteria 85

What happens next and how to get involved 91

Appendix A – Long list of ideas for emergency care and acute medicine 95 

Appendix B – Long list of ideas for emergency surgery and planned operations 99

References 102

Glossary 104

In this update...

Page 71



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence4

Page 72

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


5Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Introduction

Page 73



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence6

We are now well underway with Phase Two 
of the Path to Excellence programme. Over 
the past year we have been busy talking to 
our staff, patients and the public about the 
challenges facing the NHS and how we can 
make sure our local hospital services are fit 
for the future. 

Phase Two of the Path to Excellence is 
looking at two broad areas of hospital-
based care: how we look after people 
in an emergency or who have an urgent 
healthcare need and how we look after 
people who need planned care. 

Clinical service review design teams led 
by doctors, nurses, therapy staff and NHS 
managers across South Tyneside and 
Sunderland, have been working together 
to discuss the challenges being faced. 
Thousands of frontline staff, patients and 
members of the public have also been 
involved in giving their views so far.

Our ambition is simple: we want to create 
outstanding future hospital services which 
offer the very highest quality of safe patient 
care and clinical excellence for each and 
every resident of South Tyneside and 
Sunderland. Our fantastic teams of NHS 
hospital staff already deliver truly amazing 
care, but we know there are areas where 
we must improve further in order to remove 
the differences which exist in how care is 
delivered and the clinical outcomes which 
our patients experience.

Transforming local hospital services is one of 
three important parts of how we transform 
all care locally as we plan for the ever 
growing demands on our NHS. In line with 
ambitions outlined in the NHS Long Term 
Plan2, we also want to deliver much more 
care outside of hospital in future and make 
sure people are supported in the right way 
to live healthy lives. It is these three pillars 
of transformation that will together ensure 
we can collectively ‘futureproof’ services in 
South Tyneside and Sunderland for many 
generations ahead.

Our work on Phase Two has now reached a 
point where we are able to share with you 
our ‘working ideas’ so far for the future 
of hospital services and we want to be 
completely transparent about our current 
thinking. We also want to be very clear that 
both South Tyneside District Hospital and 
Sunderland Royal Hospital will continue 
to exist in whatever future service models 
evolve. Both hospitals are of equal strategic 
importance and there is absolutely no 
intention whatsoever for either hospital to 
close. 

The ‘working ideas’ contained within 
this document are simply our emerging 
thoughts so far and remain open to 
influence. No decisions have been taken 
about what any future scenarios for 
hospital services might be and we are now 
entering into a period of further reflection 
and engagement with our staff, patients 
and the public. This is the opportunity for 

Thank you for taking the time  
to read this document

Page 74

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


7Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

“Our ambition is simple: we want 
to create outstanding future hospital 
services which offer the very highest 
quality of safe patient care and clinical 
excellence for each and every resident of 
South Tyneside and Sunderland.”

Page 75



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence8

everybody to shape the ‘working ideas’ we 
have come up with so far and help develop 
the future scenarios to take forward to a 
full public consultation later this year. The 
scenarios that do go forward to a full public 
consultation will also depend on the level of 
capital investment we are able to secure to 
help transform local hospital services. 

We actively encourage you all to read and 
consider our ‘working ideas’ for hospital 
services and let us know any thoughts or 
ideas you may have. Details of how you 
can share your views and get involved with 
our engagement activities are on page 94. 
We really look forward to hearing your 
feedback on our work so far.

Ken, David and David

Ken Bremner

Chief Executive

South Tyneside NHS 

Foundation Trust and City 

Hospitals Sunderland NHS 

Foundation Trust

Dr David Hambleton

Accountable Officer
NHS South Tyneside 
Clinical Commissioning Group

David Gallagher

Accountable Officer
NHS Sunderland 
Clinical Commissioning Group

Page 76

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


9Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

“Both South Tyneside District Hospital 
and Sunderland Royal Hospital will 
continue to exist in whatever future 
service models evolve. Both hospitals are 
of equal strategic importance and there 
is absolutely no intention whatsoever 
for either hospital to close.”

Page 77



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence10

Page 78

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


11Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

A reminder of the 
case for change

Page 79



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence12

Why do we need to change?

In July 2018, we published our Draft Case 
for Change document setting out the 
challenges being faced by local hospital 
services. This included feedback from staff 
and patients of their current experiences of 
working in, or using, our hospital services. 

Our Draft Case for Change is underpinned 
by a shared ambition to work together 
across South Tyneside and Sunderland. 
We want to improve patient experiences, 
address vulnerable service areas and 

deliver the highest possible quality and 
safety standards so that we can improve 
our patient outcomes and deliver clinical 
excellence in everything we do. We also 
need to make sure we deliver this within 
the financial and other resources available 
to us.  

Given the significant challenges facing the 
NHS, there are many compelling reasons 
why we need to change:

Our workforce is under significant 

pressure and on a daily basis we 

rely on the goodwill of our staff 

working longer hours or extra shifts 

– this has a negative impact on 

their health and wellbeing and is 

not sustainable. We also rely heavily 

on temporary staff to keep services 

running safely. This is not only 

extremely expensive but it is also 

not good for the continuity of high 

quality patient care. The current 

set up of our services also makes it 

difficult for us to attract staff who 

want to work as part of bigger 

teams.

Workforce 
The pressure on our workforce is 
directly linked to the significant 
and growing demand on the NHS 
as a whole. More people than ever 
before are now accessing services 
and being successfully treated 
thanks to advances in medicine 
and technology. This means more 
people can now survive serious 
illness or injury and can live longer 
with health conditions such as 
asthma, diabetes and even cancer. 
All of this means demand on our 
NHS will grow even further in the 
years ahead.

Future demand

Page 80

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


13Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

The way our services are currently 

set up makes it really difficult for 

us to meet a number of important 

clinical quality and safety standards. 

For example, we are currently 

unable to consistently ensure that all 

emergency patients receive a timely 

consultant review and we do not 

have consistent availability of senior 

clinical decision makers seven days a 

week – something which we know 

is proven to have a positive impact 

on patient outcomes. Individually, 

our populations and teams are small, 

but together we can create the vital 

critical mass of patients needed to 

develop more specialised care and 

meet more of these important clinical 

quality and safety standards. 

Quality 
improvement

Our services currently cost more to 
deliver than the funding we have 
available and we need to make 
changes to help improve our long-
term financial sustainability. Our 
emergency care and acute medicine 
services make an annual loss of 
millions of pounds and we currently 
have to spend millions on agency 
staff in this clinical service area alone. 
This overreliance on temporary staff 
is not only financially unsustainable, 
it also limits our ability to make 
quality improvements to patient care.

Finance  
constraints

“We cannot ignore the challenges facing 
the NHS which is why we are working 
together across the whole health and 
care system to plan for the future.”

Page 81



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence14

Page 82

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


15Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Our three pillars of 
transformation

Page 83



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence16

Changing hospital care alone will not solve 
the pressures facing local services. This is 
why the NHS Long Term Plan focusses so 
heavily on creating an entirely new NHS 
service model which is built around patient 
needs to provide properly joined-up care at 
the right time, in the optimal care setting 
and by the right healthcare professional. It 
places, quite rightly, significant priority on 
boosting ‘out of hospital’ care and practical 
steps to help people improve their health 
and increase life expectancy.  

Across South Tyneside and Sunderland we 
are already actively working on how we 
provide more care to people outside of 
hospital in their local communities and how 
we support people to stay fit and well and 
live healthy lifestyles – these are what we 
call our three pillars of transformation.

Since publishing our Draft Case for Change 
document in July 2018, we continue to 
make good progress within our ‘prevention’ 
and ‘out of hospital’ work which is 
summarised on the next pages.

Our three pillars of transformation

“Our health is determined by our 
genetics, lifestyle, the health care 
we receive and our wider economic, 
physical and social environment. 
Although estimates vary, the wider 
environment has the largest impact.”

Page 84

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


17Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

What influences 
our health?

Diagram components adapted from Kings Fund3

Hospital services 
make up a small part 
of overall NHS care. 
Phase Two of the 
Path to Excellence 
programme is looking 
at how we improve 
hospital services which 
is the subject of this 
Updated Draft Case for 
Change document.

This is how we work 
together to encourage 
everyone living in 
South Tyneside and 
Sunderland to take 
more responsibility for 
their own health and 
wellbeing so that they 
do not become unwell 
with wholly avoidable 
illnesses.

This is how NHS, social 
care and community and 
voluntary organisations 
work together to provide 
more responsive care 
to prevent avoidable 
hospital admissions and 
to get people out of 
hospital as soon as they 
are able with more care 
at home and closer to 
home.

Our three pillars of transformation

Healthcare services are 
the smallest contributor 

to our overall health

45% 15% 40%

Health behaviour 
patterns

Healthcare 
services

Social circumstances and 
environmental exposure

Prevention Out of hospital In hospital

How the NHS works with local 
partners to influence positive 
change in society

Page 85



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence18

Prevention

The NHS Long Term Plan makes it quite 
clear that the NHS must get serious 
about prevention. Working with our 
local communities to prevent ill-health 
in the first place, is equally as important 
to us as treating people when they do 
become unwell. Our aim is to reduce the 
unacceptable gaps in life expectancy which 
exist for people living in different parts of 
South Tyneside and Sunderland.

We know there are many determinants 
of health such as wealth, employment 
and housing and, we believe, by working 

together with local partners including 
schools, employers and the voluntary sector, 
the NHS can make a bigger impact to 
directly influence positive change. Getting 
prevention right within South Tyneside and 
Sunderland will be essential to improve 
health outcomes, reduce health inequalities 
and provide a solid foundation to reduce 
wholly preventable illness and avoidable use 
of (and pressure on) the NHS.

Life expectancy gap between the least and most deprived areas in South Tyneside 
and Sunderland (years):

8.4

South Tyneside Sunderland

8.1
11.5
8.7

Men

Women

Page 86

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


19Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Going smokefree 

Whilst we have made significant strides 
to reduce smoking rates over the past ten 
years and, consequently, reduce premature 
deaths from cancer and cardiovascular 
disease, we still have a long way to go in 
South Tyneside and Sunderland. Addressing 
tobacco dependence is a key area for 
improvement and we recognise that better 
integration is required within the NHS, as 
well as with the broader health and care 
system. 

Work is already underway to develop a 
comprehensive maternity smoking cessation 
service covering all health care settings, 
both in hospital and the community, as 
we progress plans to implement maternity 
changes agreed as part of Phase One. We 
are also progressing plans to develop a 
pre-surgical smoking cessation service to 
support patients to stop smoking prior to 
surgery which we know is widely proven to 
improve clinical outcomes.

Supporting staff to make ‘every 
contact count’ 

Across the NHS in South Tyneside and 
Sunderland we employ thousands of 
people and we want to support each and 
every colleague to be healthy and well. It is 
important that all NHS staff, regardless of 
their role or area or work, lead by example 
for patients and are supported to lead 
healthy lifestyles. We also want to empower 
all NHS staff, clinical and non-clinical, 
with the knowledge, skills and confidence 
to talk about health and wellbeing with 
their patients during every single contact, 
regardless of the reason for their visit. 
Regular, daily conversations with patients 
about how to stop smoking, drink less 
alcohol, improve levels of physical activity 
and eat well, should become the norm for 
every NHS employee.

Page 87



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence20

Page 88

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


21Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Supporting positive behaviour 
change 

Our vision is to create community 
healthcare services which join-up clinical 
care with other interventions to support 
positive behaviour change, encourage more 
people to look after both their physical and 
mental health and feel more connected in 
their local communities. Too often, patients’ 
medical needs are met in isolation from any 
other issues which are impacting on their 
health and wellbeing. In future, we would 
like local people, their carers and healthcare 
professionals to have quick and easy access 
to a network of approaches to help increase 
patient activation and overall wellbeing. 
These include, for example: 

• Personalised health coaching to support 
people to live healthy lifestyles 

• Peer mentors to connect people with 
similar social situations or health 
conditions 

• Group based activities in a range of 
community settings.

Our focus will be on supporting long-
term behaviour change, improving overall 
wellbeing, building social networks of 
support and helping people better manage 
their conditions. We would also like to 
develop proactive systems for identifying 
people who would benefit from support 
before they reach crisis or their health 
starts to decline. As part of this, our aim is 
to develop access to a ‘personal care and 
support conversation’ with a healthcare 
professional so people can choose the 

support they need based on what is most 
important to them. In agreement with the 
NHS, this would be delivered as a part of a 
personalised care and support plan over a 
set period of time. 

Preventing ill-health in children and 
young people

Working with wider partners outside 
of the NHS, we want to embrace every 
opportunity to educate and support the 
generation of tomorrow to live a healthier 
life. In doing so, over the long-term, 
we would expect to see the incidence 
and prevalence of chronic ill-health and 
preventable long term conditions reduce 
and self care awareness, for both physical 
and mental health, established for life. We 
also expect that, over time, the positive 
behaviours encouraged and supported in 
our children and young people, will also 
support a change in culture amongst our 
older generations too. 

Page 89



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence22

Increasing patient activation and 
supporting people to stay well 

‘Patient activation’ describes the 
knowledge, skills and confidence a person 
has in managing their own health and 
care. Evidence shows that when people 
are supported to become more activated in 
looking after themselves, they benefit from 
better health outcomes, have improved 
experiences of care and fewer unplanned 
hospital admissions. We want to focus more 
efforts on increasing patient activation by 
using technology to give people in South 
Tyneside and Sunderland more control over 
their health so they can effectively and 
confidently practice good self-care to stay 
healthy and well. In turn, we expect this 
will reduce demand on primary care services 
and free up GP time to care for patients 
who have more complex needs. 

Image courtesy of NHS Digital App Library

“Too often, 
patients’ medical 
needs are met in 
isolation from any 
other issues which 
are impacting on 
their health and 
wellbeing.“

Page 90

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


23Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Out of hospital care

South Tyneside and Sunderland have been 
at the forefront of thinking, both nationally 
and internationally, around the out of 
hospital agenda with many innovative 
developments over the past few years. 
However, there is still much work to do 
to ensure that these models are delivered 
systematically throughout both localities. 

Fundamentally, we want to ensure patients 
are seen and treated as quickly as possible 
in the right place, at the right time and by 
the right healthcare professional. 

Our thinking is exactly in line with the NHS 
Long Term Plan and focusses on two key 
things:

• Creating ‘primary care networks’ of local 
GPs and community integrated teams 
working together to proactively care for 
populations of around 30-50,000 people

• Creating an ‘urgent community response’ 
for people who are particularly vulnerable 
by working systematically better to 
prevent emergency hospital admissions

Pr

im
ary care networks and

co
m

m
unity intergrated team

s

Proactive care and support

Reactive and rapid response

Patient

and recovery at home

U
rgent community re

sp

ons
e

Our model of out of hospital care

Page 91



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence24

We are also working hard to deliver many 
more services, particularly those which have 
traditionally been delivered in a hospital 
setting, much closer to peoples’ homes 
and within our local communities. This will 
mean patients no longer need to travel 
unnecessarily to hospital buildings to access 
specialist clinical advice when this could be 
delivered much more effectively locally and 
provide a much better patient experience. 

Throughout 2018, NHS staff working in all 
parts of our local health and care system 
have been discussing ideas of how we can 
create such new models of out of hospital 
care, recognising this will mean clinical and 
nursing teams working together in different 
ways in the future and across organisational 
boundaries. 

Personalised care across primary and 
community settings

Building on the success of our multi-
disciplinary community integrated teams 
who already work closely with local GPs, 
we want to further enhance the way we 
proactively manage community-based 
care and support for our most vulnerable 
patients who have complex and ongoing 
care needs. Learning from our ‘recovery at 
home’ model in Sunderland and ‘unplanned 
care’ model in South Tyneside, we also 
want to enhance the rapid response we 
offer patients when they have a change of 
circumstance or crisis in the community to 
prevent, as far as possible, any deterioration 
in their health and wellbeing and 
unnecessary admissions to hospital. This 
also includes end of life care and supporting 
patients to have a good death in the place 
of their choosing by making sure there is 
robust and well developed community care 
which is connected to acute hospital frailty 
services. 

Working together as one health 
system

Our ambitions for prevention, out of 
hospital care and in hospital care all rely 
heavily on our ability to work well together 
as one team and break down organisational 
barriers which have historically existed. 

One, if not the most critical elements for 
success, is ensuring the delivery of strong, 
vibrant out of hospital services which 
connect all parts of the health and care 
system together. Our vision is to enable 
GPs, nurses and other health and care 

Page 92

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


25Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Page 93



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence26

Specialist advice and guidance  
for GPs 

Our vision is to create a robust consultant-
led specialist advice service for GPs whereby 
hospital consultants would provide real-time 
specialist advice and guidance so that GPs 
are able to manage their patients without 
necessarily having to refer them to hospital 
for a specialist opinion. By doing so, not 
only will this help GPs make more informed 
clinical decisions, we also expect a reduction 
in inappropriate referrals to hospital which 
will help save the NHS money and free up 
specialist consultant time. We are currently 
trialling this approach with an associated 
training programme for GPs to ensure they 
are aware of how to access the advice and 
guidance service.

professionals within the community and 
voluntary sector, to have ready access to 
specialist opinions from hospital-based 
teams. We believe this will help us to deliver 
truly person-centred, co-ordinated care that 
leads to better clinical outcomes for local 
people. 

To help facilitate this true ‘system working’, 
we have adopted ‘Health Pathways’ which 
is an online system to provide health and 
care professionals in all parts of the local 
NHS with information to support the 
assessment of medical conditions. Already 
established within South Tyneside and 
now being rolled out across Sunderland, 
it provides an online interface that allows 
clinicians in primary, community and 
hospital services to access locally agreed 
and standardised clinical pathways across a 
broad range of specialties and conditions. 
The development of each clinical pathway 
involves collaboration between NHS staff 
across all parts of the system, with the 
purpose of supporting GPs to manage 
patients in the community and, when a 
referral to hospital is required, to make 
more informed decisions which lead to 
improved clinical outcomes for patients and 
more effective use of specialist time and 
expertise. 

Page 94

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


27Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Specialist outpatient consultations 
in the community 

When patients do need a face-to-face 
outpatient consultation with a specialist, 
then our ambition is to deliver more of 
these in the community. We hope this 
will not only improve patient and staff 
experiences, but also lead to improved 
clinical outcomes for patients and a 
reduction in demand across our very busy 
hospital services. 

We are now trialling this approach within 
musculoskeletal (MSK) services, for patients 
who have problems with their muscles, 
bones or joints. MSK services cost the local 
NHS significant amounts of money when 
patients attend hospital for conditions 
which are best managed through good 
self-care. Acute back pain, for example, 
is usually a self-limiting problem that will 
resolve spontaneously with the right advice, 
support and education for patients – none 
of which should require a trip to hospital. 
We want to empower our community 
teams to care for more MSK patients locally 
and create a seamless pathway of care so 
that if patients do need a diagnostic test or 
surgery, staff can book them directly into 
hospital without the need for a GP referral. 
Effectively managing more patients in the 
community will also free up more specialist 
consultant time and reduce waiting lists for 
those patients who do need hospital-based 
care. We also plan we can improve specialist 
care in the community for patients suffering 
from gastrointestinal (stomach) problems 
by developing new clinical guidelines for 
staff which will ensure only appropriate 
referrals are made for patients who need an 
endoscopy procedure in hospital.

“The NHS 
Long Term Plan 
describes the 
traditional model 
of outpatients as 
‘outdated and 
unsustainable’ and 
The Royal College 
of Physicians4 also 
argues the current 
system needs a 
‘radical overhaul’.”

Page 95



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence28

“Many patients may not need or 
want to come into their GP practice or 
would actually prefer a telephone or 
video consultation with a healthcare 
professional.”

Page 96

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


29Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Improving access to GP services 

Over the past year, GP practices across 
South Tyneside and Sunderland have already 
delivered thousands more appointments 
on evenings and weekends. Patients can 
book these via NHS 111 or by calling 
their usual GP practice. We now want to 
improve access even further by looking at 
our telephone based triage services so that 
when patients call to book an appointment, 
or request a home visit, they are quickly 
guided to the right healthcare professional 
depending on their needs. Equally, patients 
may not need, or want to see a GP and 
their care can be much more effectively 
managed by a nurse, social worker, 
therapist or other support worker. Many 
patients may not need or want to come into 
their GP practice or would actually prefer 
a telephone or video consultation with a 
healthcare professional. 

Our vision is to improve access to the 
right service at the initial point of contact 
in primary care. Evidence from other 
areas shows up to 40% of routine GP 
appointments can be avoided when better 
triage methods are used. If we achieved 
the same 40% reduction in South Tyneside 
and Sunderland, this would free up capacity 
equal to 14,000 appointments every 
single week. This would allow GPs and 
other practice staff to focus on effectively 
managing the care of patients with more 
complex long term conditions or those 
receiving end of life care. 

Reducing unnecessary outpatient 
follow up appointments 

The NHS Long Term Plan describes the 
traditional model of outpatients as 
‘outdated and unsustainable’ and The 
Royal College of Physicians4 also argues the 
current system needs a ‘radical overhaul’. 
We agree and are already looking at how 
we create new models of care for people 
who need a follow-up outpatient review 
after a hospital procedure, or who have 
ongoing long term conditions.

Technology available today means a face-
to-face outpatient appointment is often no 
longer the fastest way of providing specialist 
advice on diagnosis or treatment and our 
ambition is to essentially remove the need 
for patients to travel to hospital for their 
follow-up care. By managing patients’ 
needs within the community, we will be 
able to free up more time for specialist 
consultants to see more patients who 
do need hospital-based care and provide 
more specialist advice and guidance to GPs 
and community teams. Most importantly, 
we think this will greatly improve patient 
experience by reducing the need for people 
to make unnecessary trips to hospital for 
advice and support which often does not 
result in any further treatment and can be 
delivered much closer to their homes. 

40% of routine GP appointments can be avoided 
when better triage methods are used

Page 97



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence30

Emergency 
care and acute 
medicine 

This is the care provided for 
patients who are admitted as 
an emergency and then require 
urgent surgery, or who have 
been referred by their GP for a 
planned operation.

This is the care provided when 
patients arrive at our Emergency 
Departments, need emergency 
admission to hospital or have an 
urgent healthcare need.

Emergency  
surgery and  
planned  
operations

Which hospital services are involved in Phase Two?

In hospital care

Page 98

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


31Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

This is the care provided in 
hospital after patients have been 
referred by their GP for a test, 
scan, treatment or operation.

These are vital support services 
such as therapy services 
(physiotherapy, occupational 
therapy, speech and language 
therapy) as well as clinical 
pharmacy and radiology services 
(scans and x-rays). 

Clinical support 
services  
(radiology, therapies 
and pharmacy)

Planned care and 
outpatients 

Page 99



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence32

Page 100

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


33Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

What is our 
ambition?

Page 101



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence34

Working together across South Tyneside 
and Sunderland, we want to create truly 
excellent future hospital services which 
offer equal access to the highest possible 
quality of safe care and excellence in clinical 
outcomes for all of our patients. 

We are already on the right path to 
achieving success with vital changes being 
made from Phase One already showing 
us, categorically, that more lives are being 
saved and that clinical outcomes for stroke 
patients, across both localities, are now 
significantly better. 
 
The changes planned for maternity and 
urgent and emergency paediatric care will 
also ensure we can offer the very highest 
quality of safe patient care to local women 
and children in the future. 

There is certainly much to be proud of and 
our staff deliver fantastic, compassionate, 
person-centred care every single day. Of this 
there is no doubt, but we must be realistic 

that the challenges facing the NHS will not 
go away and are only set to increase. If we 
truly want to deliver clinical excellence for 
our patients in the future then we must 
change our hospital service models to allow 
us to deliver the very best outcomes for 
each and every patient – just like we have 
done for people suffering a stroke.

Our hospitals are currently rated as ‘requires 
improvement’ in South Tyneside and ‘good’ 
in Sunderland and as our Trusts come 
together as one through the formal merger 
process, we want the new organisation 
to become recognised nationally as an 
‘outstanding’ NHS provider. To achieve this, 
we must change the way hospital services 
are delivered so that we can deliver clinical 
excellence all of the time, every time for 
each and every patient. This is our ultimate 
ambition. Both hospitals will continue to 
exist in future and both will continue to 
play equally important roles in our future 
success.

What is our ambition?

Page 102

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


35Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

“Both hospitals will continue 
to exist in future and both will 
continue to play equally important 
roles in our future success.”

Page 103



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence36

New workforce models 

In 2018, we employed our first physician 
associates as part of plans to develop 
new innovative workforce models. We 
currently have one physician associate 
working in South Tyneside and one in 
Sunderland and they both support our 
busy emergency care and acute medicine 
teams. Physician associates have to meet 
a nationally approved standard of training 
and practice through a postgraduate course 
which focuses principally on adult general 
medicine in hospital. Once qualified, 
physician associates take on similar roles 
to junior doctors and work alongside them 
to carry out procedures, see patients and 
make decisions, for example facilitating 
discharges. They help relieve pressure 
on our clinical teams and offer improved 
continuity of care for patients as junior 
doctors frequently move around different 
hospitals and departments during the 
course of their training.  

Same day emergency care 

Across both of our hospitals we have 
already developed ‘same day emergency 
care’ services, also known as ‘ambulatory 
care’. This aims to treat patients who have 
urgent healthcare needs on the same day, 
without the need for hospital admission.  
Staffed by doctors, senior nurses and 
nurse practitioners, with care overseen by 
consultants, our physician associates also 

work within the ambulatory team to help 
deliver swift assessment, diagnosis and 
treatment for patients on the same day.  

Improvements in South Tyneside over the 
past year mean we now have extended 
access 12 hours a day, seven days per week 
with the team also providing an in reach 
service to other parts of the hospital to help 
avoid unnecessary admissions. Working 
closely with GPs, patients who fit certain 
scoring criteria are now streamed straight 
to ambulatory care resulting in reduced 
emergency admissions. We are also working 
directly with the ambulance service and 
paramedics to allow direct streaming of 
patients into ambulatory care without the 
need to go via the Emergency Department. 
The overwhelming majority of patients 
(85%) who come to ambulatory care are 
discharged home and not admitted to 
hospital.

What are we already doing?

Page 104

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


37Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Improving patient flow

In September 2018, we introduced 
a new initiative across both hospitals 
aimed at helping more patients get 
safely back to the comfort of their own 
bed. #TheresNoBedLikeHome supports 
staff in taking positive steps to reduce 
unnecessary lengthy hospital stays which 
can be detrimental to patients’ health 
and wellbeing. Using ‘Red2Green’ days 
to identify wasted time in a patient’s care 
journey, it allows all staff, both within and 
outside of the hospitals, to support patients 
on their road to recovery and getting back 
home as quickly and safely as possible: 

• A red day is when a patient is waiting for 
something to progress their care, such as 
a test or assessment. 

• A green day is when a patient receives 
active treatment that takes them a step 
closer to being able to go home. 

Using ‘Red2Green’, everyone involved in 
the patient’s care can clearly see what needs 
to be done to get them one step closer to 
discharge and what they can do to escalate 
delays and issues to turn a red day into a 
green day. 

Closer working between our clinical 
and nursing teams 

As part of ongoing work to formally 
merge our local hospitals to become South 
Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation 
Trust, vast work has been going on across 
our clinical, nursing and many other support 
teams, to begin working much more closely 
together. This is already helping to create 
some improved resilience in the workforce 
with more new medical and nursing recruits 
attracted to join us, recognising the clinical 
benefits of working together across a 
greater geography to create an important 
‘critical mass’ of patients to be served. We 
also now have a much greater ability to 
share best practice and expertise across our 
teams in both localities for the benefit of 
patient care.  

Page 105



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence38

Page 106

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


39Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Phase Two -  
the story so far

Page 107



40

• Our clinical service review design 
teams, made up of over 100 
staff from both South Tyneside 
and Sunderland, begin to meet and 
discuss current challenges

December 2017

• Over 700 staff from both South 
Tyneside and Sunderland give their 
views on the current challenges being 
faced by completing a survey 

• Face-to-face interviews with over 
120 patients to understand current 
experiences of using services in each 
hospital

February 2018

March 2018

• Almost 200 staff from both South 
Tyneside and Sunderland join a 
series of engagement sessions to 
discuss current challenges and agree 
ambitions for the future

June 2018

• Further staff engagement 
sessions attended by over 200 
staff from both South Tyneside 
and Sunderland to discuss case for 
change and early ideas for addressing 
challenges 

• Over 1,000 patients share their 
views as part of further engagement 
work to understand what is most 
important to people when receiving 
hospital care

THE STORY SO FAR...

Phase Two

ENGAGEMENT SESSIONS

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence

Page 108

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


41Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

• First clinical due diligence event 
bringing together staff from each of 
the clinical service review design teams 
for the first time, to discuss progress in 
each work stream and ideas so far 

• Launch of the ‘Draft Case for 
Change’ document and briefings with 
key stakeholders 

• Launch of widespread ‘Join our 
Journey’ public engagement 
activity over ten weeks and 
attendance at key stakeholder 
meetings to help people understand 
why hospital services need to change 
and to encourage ideas for helping us 
solve the challenges we face 

• A further 1,000 patients give their 
views on what is most important 
when receiving hospital care

• Second clinical due diligence event 
bringing together staff from each of 
the clinical service review design teams, 
for the second time, to discuss progress 
in each work stream and ideas so far

• Stakeholder workshops take place to 
help set ‘desirable evaluation criteria’ 
which will be used later in the process 
to assess any emerging ideas and help 
determine the most credible scenarios 
to take forward for formal public 
consultation

July 2018 October 2018

November 2018

1,000s

1,000s
of staff views

FACE TO FACE INTERVIEWS

of patient and 
public views

EXCELLENCE

THIS WAY

Page 109



42

• Formal public consultation on 
future scenarios for change

• Public listening panel event held 
to invite members of the public, 
stakeholders and other interested 
parties to present evidence to the Path 
to Excellence programme team on the 
Draft Case for Change and any areas 
for consideration that might have been 
missed

December 2018

• ‘Working list’ of ideas shared 
with all staff, stakeholders and 
members of the public and a period 
of engagement takes place to gather 
views and feedback

February 2019

• Series of staff engagement 
workshops take place to allow 
staff from both South Tyneside and 
Sunderland to input their views on 
the working list of ideas and share 
feedback for the clinical service review 
design teams to consider 

• Patient and public engagement 
‘Join our Journey’ roadshow activity 
to take place throughout March 
working with Healthwatch to gather 
feedback and views on the ‘working 
list’ of ideas and draft ‘desirable 
evaluation criteria’

March 2019

• Clinical senate review and further 
testing and evaluation of ‘working 
ideas’

• Further work with key 
stakeholders to apply the draft 
‘desirable evaluation criteria’ to 
‘working ideas’ and help determine 
the most credible scenarios to take 
forward for formal public consultation

• Further information to be included 
in the pre-consultation business 
case for service change is identified

• Pre-consultation case for service 
change is reviewed by Trust Boards 
and Clinical Commissioning Groups’ 
Governing Bodies

• NHS assurance processes with 
regulators NHS England and NHS 
Improvement takes place

Spring and early summer 2019

Late summer 2019

PANEL EVENTS

ROADSHOWS

WORKSHOPS

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence

Page 110

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


43Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

What design  
process have we 
followed to reach 
our ‘working ideas’?

Page 111



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence44

In order to support a logical process of 
developing ideas for change, we have taken 
a staged approach, with each stage feeding 
into and influencing the next. This gives the 
opportunity for stakeholders to be involved 
throughout the process including NHS 
staff working in the hospitals, wider NHS 
professionals, community and voluntary 
groups, elected members and other 
interested parties. 

Using feedback gathered over the past year 
through our work with staff, patients and 
the public, our clinical service review design 
teams were tasked to come up with a long 
list of all possible scenarios for the future 
and our long list of possible scenarios is 
included in Appendices A and B. 
 
Our ideas range from: 

• ‘minimal’ change by improving our 
current models 

• ‘some’ degree of change by creating new 
models of care 

• ‘greater’ change by thinking radically 
about we improve services for the future

In between the two extremes of ‘minimal’ 
change and ‘greater’ change are a range of 
emerging ideas, involving varying degrees 
of change, to help solve the challenges 
being faced. As part of having an open 
mind to finding solutions, it is important 
that all possible ideas are considered on 
their own merits. 

In order to get to a shorter and genuinely 
viable list of ‘working ideas’ for change, 
our long-list was tested against agreed core 
‘hurdle criteria’ which have been developed 
with clinical experts and informed by service 
change best practice in line with national 
NHS policy. 

What design process have we followed to 
reach our ‘working ideas’?

iIndependent
Quality Assurance

As we want to ensure we get this 
design process right and we are 
open to ideas and influence, we 
are working with The Consultation 
Institute, who are carrying out an 
independent quality assurance of 
our pre-consultation engagement 
processes.

Page 112

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


45Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Support sustainability and resilience 
of services by ensuring that the 
medical and nursing staff and 
volume of patient numbers are there 
to make the service succeed. Where 
possible, more services should be 
provided in local community settings 
rather than in hospital.

Deliver high quality, safe care which 
aims to improve quality and meets 
all clinical quality, patient safety and 
experience standards, as well as 
regulatory requirements for example 
from the Care Quality Commission, 
NHS Improvement and Royal 
Colleges / Professional Bodies.

The core ‘hurdle criteria’

Be sustainable and resilient
Deliver high quality,  

safe care

Be affordable by improving long-
term financial sustainability across 
the local health system and be 
deliverable within the available 
capital resource to facilitate any 
service change.

Be achievable within three years of 
any decisions made by local Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs).

Be affordable Be achievable

Our core ‘hurdle criteria’ are outlined below and mean that any future proposed 
services changes must do the following: 

Page 113



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence46

Confirm credible scenarios  
for public consultation

After testing our long list against these core 
‘hurdle criteria’, our clinical service review 
design teams now have a ‘working list’ of 
potential ideas to help solve the challenges 
we face. We are now at step three of the 
design process below and are seeking 

feedback and views on our ‘working list’ of 
ideas so that we can take the views of our 
staff, stakeholders, patients and the public 
into account when developing the scenarios 
to take forward for a full public consultation 
later this year:

Long list development1

Reduce to working list of ideas
2

Apply core ‘hurdle criteria’

3
Prioritise or shortlist ideas

4

St
af

f,
 p

at
ie

n
t 

an
d

 p
u

b
lic

 e
n

g
ag

em
en

t 
an

d
 in

vo
lv

em
en

t

Steps in the design process

We are here
February 2019

Test and evaluate working list

Page 114

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


47Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Our ‘working ideas’

Page 115



48

Emergency care and 
acute medicine

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence

Page 116

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


49Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

A reminder of the challenges 
and clinical drivers for change

There are many compelling reasons why 
we need to transform our emergency care 
and acute medicine services. Primarily, this 
is to make sure patients who are seriously 
ill or injured have readily available access to 
a timely specialist medical opinion so that 
their treatment can start quickly. Equally, we 
want to make sure those patients who have 
an urgent need, which is not immediately 
life-threatening, also have same day 
emergency care access to timely treatment. 
To do this, we need to think differently 
about how we change our current model. 

There is clear and compelling clinical 
evidence5 which shows that the quicker 
patients with a serious emergency see a 
senior clinical decision maker, or ‘specialist’, 
the more likely they are to receive the 

right diagnosis and treatment sooner. This 
ultimately results in better clinical outcomes, 
reducing the risk of death and disability. 

There is also compelling clinical evidence 
which tells us the more time patients 
spend in hospital, particularly frail older 
people, the longer their recovery will be. It 
is crucial, therefore, that we transform our 
current model so that patients with urgent 
problems also receive timely treatment 
without the need for hospital admission 
if this is not necessary. This will also have 
positive consequences to relieve pressures 
elsewhere within our hospitals and free up 
beds for patients who do need emergency 
hospital admission.

“The overwhelming majority of patients 
we see in our Emergency Departments 
(65% in South Tyneside and 47% 
in Sunderland) do not need hospital 
admission and are discharged back into 
the care of their GP or home.”

Emergency care and acute medicine

Page 117



50

There is no question that both of our 
Emergency Departments consistently 
perform very well against the national 
standard for patients to be seen, treated or 
discharged within four hours. It is important 
to recognise, however, that whilst the 
four hour standard for emergency care is 
an important safety measure it is purely a 
measure of operational process, rather than 
the actual clinical outcomes we achieve 
for patients. This is ultimately what we 
want to improve as we know that we do 

not consistently deliver care which is led 
by senior clinical decision makers meaning 
decisions about care are often taken by 
those with much less experience. 

Our current thinking is fully aligned to the 
recently published NHS Long Term Plan 
and driven by our desire to meet important 
clinical standards to improve the quality 
and safety of care for patients across South 
Tyneside and Sunderland. 

Our ambitions

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence

 provide better access to 24/7 consultant-led emergency care seven days a week 

 consistently ensure patients with serious emergencies who need hospital 
admission are seen by the right specialist in a timely way, when they arrive, 
during their stay and when being discharged home

 consistently ensure patients with less serious problems which require an urgent 
‘same day’ response have local access

 provide better access to multi-disciplinary assessments and support services for 
urgent and emergency patients seven days a week

 improve the differences which currently exist in the length of hospital stay and 
reduce unnecessary emergency hospital admissions 

 reduce the cost of temporary locum and agency staff by creating a service 
which is fit for future, offers the best clinical outcomes for patients and attracts 
new recruits 

 enhance our ‘front door’ frailty services for vulnerable older people to provide 
prompt assessment and ensure, where possible, people are not admitted to 
hospital unnecessarily.

By working together and functioning as bigger teams across two sites our 
ambition is to:

Page 118

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


51Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

“In all ‘working ideas’ there would be 
continued 24/7 urgent or emergency 
access on both hospital sites.” 

Our clinical service review design teams have considered a full range of all possible scenarios 
for the future (summarised in Appendix A) to help solve some of the challenges facing us. 
After applying the core ‘hurdle criteria’ described on page 45, we would now like your 
feedback on the following ‘working ideas’ for emergency care and acute medicine which our 
teams feel may help us meet our ambitions for the future.

Our thinking so far

Emergency care and acute medicine

Page 119



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence52

Minimal change

This working idea would see continued 
24/7 access to services on both hospital 
sites as per the current service model, with 
enhanced ‘same day emergency care’ to 
help people get treated quickly without 
hospital admission. It would essentially 
rely on continued recruitment efforts and 
ongoing investment to address significant 
workforce gaps in emergency care and 
acute medicine services. 

Our clinical and nursing teams would 
work as one, across both hospital sites, 
to improve staffing sustainability. Given 
the major pressures on our workforce, we 
would also need to think about developing 
new innovative staffing models to help us 
cope with the expected rise in demand to 
safely staff acute medical services on both 
sites and ensure patients receive the highest 
quality of care. 

This working idea 
would rely on 
continued recruitment 
efforts and ongoing 
investment to address 
significant workforce 
gaps in emergency 
care and acute 
medicine services.

WORKING TOGETHER

FOR CLINICAL EXCELLENCE

Page 120

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


53Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Minimal change

OPEN 24/7

Continued 24/7 access to urgent and emergency care 
services on both hospital sites as per current service 

model but with enhanced ‘same day emergency care’.

South Tyneside Sunderland

*Same day emergency care
Also known as ‘ambulatory emergency care’, same day emergency care is a 
transformational change in care delivery. It is a way of managing a significant 
proportion of emergency patients on the same day without the need for 
admission to a hospital bed.

OPEN 24/7

Emergency care and acute medicine

Page 121



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence54

This working idea would also see continued 
24/7 access to services on both hospital 
sites but this would be different from the 
current model. In South Tyneside there 
would continue to be round the clock 
urgent access for patients with less serious 
emergencies. We would also continue to 
receive acute medical admissions in South 
Tyneside via managed pathways of care 
working closely with paramedics and GPs. 

In Sunderland, concentrated teams of 
clinicians in a variety of specialties would 
be better able to provide 24/7 access to 
specialist expertise for those suffering more 
serious or life-threatening emergencies. 
Both hospitals would continue to offer 
‘same day emergency care’, also known as 
‘emergency ambulatory care’ to prevent 
unnecessary hospital admissions, as well as 
frailty assessment for older people.

This working idea 
would potentially give 
us greater consultant 
cover for emergency 
care, however 
pressures would 
remain in sustaining 
staffing for our acute 
medicine services.

Some change

WORKING TOGETHER

FOR CLINICAL EXCELLENCE

Page 122

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


55Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

South Tyneside Sunderland

24/7 urgent care for less serious 
emergencies, plus ‘same day emergency 
care’ for medical conditions and some 
medical admissions. There would be 
continued local urgent care access across 
South Tyneside.

24/7 specialist emergency care for all 
serious or life threatening emergencies, 
‘same day emergency care’, plus 
continued local urgent care access 
across Sunderland.

OPEN 24/7

Some change

OPEN 24/7

      Minor fractures or broken bones

Minor head, ear, or eye problems

Broken nose or nose bleed

Sprains, strains, cuts and bites

Abscesses or wound infections

Serious or life threatening 
emergencies could include:

Suspected stroke

Loss of consciousness

Persistent and severe chest pain

Sudden shortness of breath

Severe blood loss

Severe abdominal pain

Less serious emergencies  
could include:   

Emergency care and acute medicine

Page 123



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence56

This working idea would again mean 
continued 24/7 access on both hospital sites 
but this would be different from the current 
model. There would continue to be 24/7 
urgent access in South Tyneside for patients 
with less serious emergencies, with all 
serious or life-threatening emergencies and 
all acute medical admissions in Sunderland. 

In South Tyneside, there would continue 
to be provision for acute inpatient medical 
rehabilitation and we would also develop 
new ‘rapid access review clinics’ in a range 
of specialities to enable next day access in 
South Tyneside for GPs to refer patients 
directly to hospital for quick assessment. By 
having a bigger clinical team concentrated 
in one hospital 24/7, this would potentially 
allow us to work towards our ambition of 
delivering 7-day consultant-led emergency 
care.

This working idea 
would potentially 
give us the greatest 
opportunity to 
strengthen staffing 
and increase our 
ability to meet more 
important clinical 
quality and safety 
standards to improve 
patient care.

Greater change

WORKING TOGETHER

FOR CLINICAL EXCELLENCE

Page 124

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


57Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

24/7 urgent care for less serious 
emergencies, plus some ‘same day 
emergency care’ for medical conditions. 
There would be continued local urgent 
care access across South Tyneside.

24/7 specialist emergency care for all 
serious or life threatening emergencies 
and all medical admissions, ‘same day 
emergency care’, plus continued local 
urgent care access across Sunderland.

OPEN 24/7 OPEN 24/7

Greater change

South Tyneside Sunderland

      Minor fractures or broken bones

Minor head, ear, or eye problems

Broken nose or nose bleed

Sprains, strains, cuts and bites

Abscesses or wound infections

Serious or life threatening 
emergencies could include:

Suspected stroke

Loss of consciousness

Persistent and severe chest pain

Sudden shortness of breath

Severe blood loss

Severe abdominal pain

Less serious emergencies  
could include:   

Emergency care and acute medicine

Page 125



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence58

Emergency surgery  
and planned  
operations

Page 126

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


59Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

A reminder of the challenges 
and clinical drivers for change

Much like in emergency care and acute 
medicine, there are many compelling 
reasons why we also need to transform our 
surgical services to create new models of 
care. 

Our surgical teams across both hospitals 
have been discussing how we can improve 
care for people coming into hospital for a 
planned operation, as well as for those who 
need an emergency surgical procedure. 
Surgery is categorised as either:  

• General surgery – this can be planned 
or emergency surgery on the stomach, 
bowels, liver, oesophagus, pancreas, 
gallbladder, or appendix 

• Trauma and orthopaedics – this can be 
planned joint (hip or knee) replacements 
or emergency surgery to fix badly broken 
bones

 

It is important to note that both hospitals 
perform very well against national waiting 
time standards for patients to receive their 
treatment within 18 weeks of referral from 
their GP for planned operations. What we 
must improve, however, is our ability to 
consistently offer the best possible clinical 
outcomes for patients needing emergency 
surgery.

“Outcomes for 
patients having 
emergency surgery at 
night and weekends, 
are comparatively poor 
compared to those 
treated within working 
weekday hours.”  
The Royal College  
of Surgeons6 

Emergency surgery and planned operations

There are now many clinical standards 
expected of the NHS for the delivery of 
safe, high quality emergency surgery and 
our challenges are primarily linked to our 
workforce and our current inability to 
consistently deliver senior clinical decision 
making. The need for 24/7 consultant-
led, speciality driven care is now widely 
acknowledged with clear evidence6 to show 
that if surgeons are able to regularly carry 
out their chosen areas of expertise, patients 
are more likely to have better outcomes.

Page 127



60

The main issues we currently face are: 

• Our surgical rotas use a traditional on-call 
system whereby one consultant surgeon 
(a specialist in one type of surgery) is 
available to advise more junior members 
of the surgical team. Patients may often 
not receive the timely care they need if 
this falls outside the specialist remit of the 
surgeon on-call and, consequently, their 
emergency surgery may be delayed 

• Our surgeons currently have to manage 
both emergency surgery cases, as well as 
planned operations within their current 
workload. This means planned patients 
may often experience delays for surgical 
treatment as we must accommodate 
emergency patients during times of peak 
demand. It also means our surgeons do 
not get the opportunity to practice their 
chosen sub-speciality as often and risk 
becoming deskilled 

• We do not make optimum use of the 
theatre space and physical facilities we 
have available to us across South Tyneside 
and Sunderland. We also do not make 
the best use of our highly skilled surgical 
workforce. 

Many parts of the NHS have already solved 
some of these problems by pooling clinical 
expertise and rotas to ensure patients 
always have access to the right specialist 
surgeon no matter what time of day or 
night. The national ‘Getting it right first 
time’ (GIRFT) reports, published in 20157 
for orthopaedic surgery and in 20178 
for general surgery, also suggest ways 
to improve pathways of care, patient 
experience, and clinical outcomes for 
emergency surgery patients by: 

• separating emergency and planned 
surgical patients to reduce unnecessary 
cancellations or delays 

• reshaping emergency surgical services 
to ensure consultant-delivered care and 
rapid availability of a senior surgical 
opinion 

• ensuring that on-call surgical teams, 
including the consultant, are not listed to 
deliver any routine planned operations or 
clinics whilst they are on call.

Our current thinking for surgical services is 
fully aligned to the recently published NHS 
Long Term Plan which echoes the view that 
separating emergency surgery from planned 
services has multiple benefits. Not only 
does it make it easier for hospitals to run 
more efficient surgical services, it also offers 
improved access to specialist surgical care 
for patients with the right expertise readily 
available at the right time, regardless of 
whether patients need emergency surgery 
or a planned operation.

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence

Page 128

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


61Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Emergency surgery and planned operations

By working together and functioning 
as bigger teams across two sites our 
ambition is to: 

• provide better access to 24/7 consultant-
led care for emergency surgery patients 
seven days a week 

• move from a general surgical opinion 
to specialist surgical advice and ensure 
emergency surgery patients have 
quick access to theatre and a specialist 
consultant-led team at any time of day or 
night 

• consistently ensure all emergency surgical 
admissions are seen by the right specialist 
consultant in a timely way, both when 
they arrive at hospital, during their stay 
and when being discharged home 

• consistently provide timely assessments 
for emergency surgery patients with 
support services available seven days a 
week to aid recovery 

• improve our ability to consistently deliver 
high quality training for surgical trainees 

• improve patient and staff experience 
and satisfaction by separating planned 
operations from emergency surgery.

“Our aim is to 
ensure every 
emergency patient 
across South 
Tyneside and 
Sunderland has 
equal access to 
the right surgical 
expertise 24/7 – 
regardless of the 
time of day or the 
day of the week.”

Page 129



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence62

Our thinking so far

Our clinical service review design teams 
have considered a full range of all possible 
ideas for surgery which are summarised in 
Appendix B and include a range of ideas 
of different ways of potentially designing 
surgical services for the future. After 
applying the ‘hurdle criteria’ described on 

page 45 and considering the very clear 
national clinical guidance, we would now 
like your feedback on our ‘working idea’ for 
the future of surgical services which would 
involve some change. 

“Separating emergency surgery from 
planned services has multiple benefits.”

Page 130

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


63Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Some change

South Tyneside Sunderland

Create a new ‘Centre of Surgical 
Excellence’ to carry out the majority 
of planned day case and inpatient 
operations from both local populations.

All emergency, high-risk or 
complex operations from both local 
populations plus a small number of 
planned operations.

Emergency surgery and planned operations

Our working idea for surgical services would 
essentially mean planned operations taking 
place on one hospital site (South Tyneside) 
and emergency operations taking place 
on the other site (Sunderland). To do this, 
we would need to expand our theatre 
capacity in South Tyneside to create a new 
centre of excellence for planned care and 
make best use of our purpose built Surgical 
Centre which opened in November 2016. 

This would cater for the large majority of 
all planned day-case operations and those 
which require an overnight stay. Patients 
requiring emergency surgery, or a high-risk 
or complex operation, would have their 
procedure in Sunderland. There would also 
be a small number of planned operations 
taking place in Sunderland to ensure theatre 
capacity is maximised and time of surgeons 
is not wasted. 

This would potentially give us the greatest opportunity to strengthen 
staffing and meet more important clinical quality and safety standards 
to improve patient care. Our thinking is in line with the aspirations 
outlined in the NHS Long Term Plan to separate emergency surgical 
services from planned care.

OPEN 24/7 OPEN 24/7

Page 131



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence64

Planned care  
and outpatients

Page 132

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


65Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Planned care and outpatients

Our work on planned care and outpatients

Since publishing our Draft Case for Change in 
July 2018, we have also been working hard to 
ensure that patients can have as much of their 
planned care as locally as possible. We know 
that thousands of outpatient appointments 
take place in Sunderland for patients who live 
in South Tyneside and we are working hard 
to bring as much of this care back to South 
Tyneside as possible. Over the past year we 
have already delivered approximately: 

• 600 outpatient appointments for 
opthalmology patients who are now 
receiving specialist eye treatment in South 
Tyneside rather than travelling to Sunderland 
Eye Infirmary 

• 580 outpatient appointments for renal 
patients who are now receiving specialist 
kidney care locally without needing to travel 
to Sunderland 

• 350 outpatient appointments for  
rheumatology patients who are now 
receiving specialist care locally without 
needing to travel to Sunderland

Our ambition is to continue to deliver much 
more care closer to home when it is safe, 
sustainable and appropriate to do so and we 
are continuing to explore opportunities in the 
following service areas to allow more care to 
happen in South Tyneside:

• Oncology – opportunities for cancer 
patients to receive more chemotherapy 
treatment locally following any initial 
specialist treatment at Sunderland 

• Cardiology – opportunities for heart 
patients to receive planned specialist cardiac 
MRI scans locally without having to travel 
outside of South Tyneside and Sunderland to 
receive this (as they currently do)

• Oral and maxillofacial – opportunities to 
offer specialist clinics within South Tyneside 
and day case procedures 

• Urology – opportunities to offer more 
specialist clinics locally in South Tyneside 
as well as service quality improvements 
to reduce waiting times for vasectomy 
procedures.  

The above work has been possible thanks to 
the joint working between South Tyneside 
NHS Foundation Trust and City Hospitals 
Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust which will 
be further strengthened through the formal 
merger of the Trusts which is expected to be 
complete by April 2019. 

Our quality improvements in planned 
care should also be viewed in line with 
the ambitions outlined on pages 23 to 
29 to transform care out of hospital and 
provide more specialist care within our local 
communities.

“Our ambition is to 
continue to deliver 
much more care closer 
to home when it is 
safe, sustainable and 
appropriate to do so.”

Page 133



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence66

Clinical support  
services 
(radiology, therapies  
and pharmacy)

Page 134

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


67Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Clinical support services

A reminder of the challenges 
and clinical drivers for change

Our clinical support teams provide a range 
of vital services and play a crucial role to 
help make sure patients get the timely 
and effective care they need. This includes 
therapy services (for example physiotherapy, 
occupational therapy, speech and language 
therapy), as well as clinical pharmacy and 
radiology (diagnostic imaging) services. 
All of these services are vital in helping to 
diagnose patients quickly and getting them 
on the road to recovery as soon as possible.

Our clinical support service teams have 
been fully involved in discussions so far 
for Phase Two and have helped to develop 
our ‘working list’ of ideas for change. 
Discussions have been focussed on how we 
can achieve:

• Pharmacy - a ward-based clinical 
pharmacy service operating seven days a 
week across both sites to ensure patients 
get the same level of service no matter 
what day of the week they are in hospital 
so that their discharge home is not 
delayed

• Therapies - multi-disciplinary assessment 
and rehabilitation services seven days 
a week for all inpatients undergoing a 
complex or high risk operation, as well 
as patients being admitted as medical 
emergencies

• Diagnostic imaging - timely access to 
radiology services for both planned and 
emergency patients who need x-rays and 
scans. 

385,000

87%

During 2017/18 we carried out 
385,000 diagnostic images across 
our two hospitals compared to a 
combined population of 440,000 
across South Tyneside and Sunderland.

This equates to over 87% of the 
population having an x-ray or scan 
in one year alone

Page 135



68

Across the NHS, we have seen the demand 
for diagnostic imaging grow consistently at 
approximately 10% per year nationally in 
the last decade and this is also true in South 
Tyneside and Sunderland. A key part of our 
quality improvement work is to look at how 
we can reduce the amount of unnecessary 
diagnostic tests which are routinely carried 
out and do not add any value to the 
patient’s treatment pathway. This is often 
because tests or scans are duplicated 
without any real clinical need. 

Last year (2017/18) across our two hospitals 
we spent £34 million on pathology tests 
and diagnostic imaging with £2.8m of that 
cost currently out-sourced to independent 
providers outside of the NHS to help cope 
with demand.

To help manage this demand we would like 
to reduce unnecessary or duplicate testing 
which in itself would deliver significant 
financial savings and patient benefit, as well 
as releasing staff time. 

We are also thinking long-term about 
how we can meet the continued expected 
growth in demand for diagnostics in 
line with our ambition to achieve clinical 
excellence for our patients. 

Early discussions are currently taking place 
on plans to develop a new state-of-the-art 
Integrated Diagnostic and Imaging Centre 
at South Tyneside District Hospital which 
would offer world-class diagnostics and 
reduce the current need to outsource to 
other non-NHS providers. Although these 
discussions are still subject to a formal 
business planning and approval process, 
which would require capital investment, 
we feel this would futureproof our services 
and allow for the anticipated growth in 
activity over the next ten years across South 
Tyneside and Sunderland. This emerging 
idea for a world-class diagnostics centre 
would feature across all of our ‘working 
list’ ideas subject to the internal business 
planning process of the Trusts.

“A key part of our quality improvement 
work is to look at how we can reduce 
the amount of unnecessary diagnostic 
tests which are routinely carried out and 
do not add any value to the patient’s 
treatment pathway.”

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence

Page 136

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


69Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Clinical support services

Early discussions are currently taking place on plans to develop a new 
state-of-the-art Integrated Diagnostic and Imaging Centre at South 
Tyneside District Hospital which would offer world-class diagnostics 

and serve both local populations.

South Tyneside Sunderland

Page 137



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence70

How do our 
‘working ideas’ 
fit together?

Page 138

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


71Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Minimal change

24/7 access to urgent and
emergency care services as 
per current service model 
but with enhanced ‘same 
day emergency care’.

24/7 access to urgent and 
emergency care services as 
per current service model 
but with enhanced ‘same 
day emergency care’.

24/7

South Tyneside Sunderland

The majority of planned 
day case and inpatient 
operations.

All emergency, high risk or 
complex operations plus 
small number of planned 
operations.

24/7

Develop a new state-of-the-art Integrated Diagnostic and Imaging Centre at  
South Tyneside District Hospital which would offer world-class diagnostics and 

serve both local populations.

Page 139



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence72

Some change

24/7 urgent access for 
patients with less serious  
emergencies.

Same day emergency care 
/ emergency ambulatory 
care 12 hours a day, seven 
days a week.

Local acute medical 
admissions via managed 
pathways of care with 
paramedics and GPs.

24/7 access to specialist 
emergency care for 
patients with serious or 
life-threatening problems.

Same day emergency care 
/ emergency ambulatory 
care 12 hours a day, seven 
days a week.

Acute medical admissions 
across all specialities.

Front-door ‘frailty 
assessment’ for older people.

South Tyneside Sunderland

12/7

The majority of planned 
day case and inpatient 
operations.

All emergency, high risk or 
complex operations plus 
small number of planned 
operations.

24/7

Front-door ‘frailty 
assessment’ for older people.

12/7

24/7

Develop a new state-of-the-art Integrated Diagnostic and Imaging Centre at  
South Tyneside District Hospital which would offer world-class diagnostics and 

serve both local populations.

Page 140

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


73Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Greater change

24/7 urgent access for 
patients with less serious  
emergencies.

Pathway led same day 
emergency care / emergency 
ambulatory care 12 hours a 
day, seven days a week.

Continued acute inpatient 
medical rehabilitation.

Next day rapid review clinics 
in a range of specialities to 
improve timely access to a 
specialist opinion. 

24/7 access to specialist 
emergency care for 
patients with serious or 
life-threatening problems.

Same day emergency care 
/ emergency ambulatory 
care 12 hours a day, seven 
days a week.

Acute medical admissions 
across all specialities.

Front-door ‘frailty 
assessment’ for older people.

South Tyneside Sunderland

The majority of planned 
day case and inpatient 
operations.

All emergency, high risk or 
complex operations plus 
small number of planned 
operations.

12/7

24/7

12/7

24/7

Develop a new state-of-the-art Integrated Diagnostic and Imaging Centre at  
South Tyneside District Hospital which would offer world-class diagnostics and 

serve both local populations.

Page 141



74

Summary on ‘working ideas’

In reaching our ‘working list’ of emerging 
ideas for the future, our clinical service 
review design teams have carried out a 
thorough assessment of what they believe 
will have the greatest positive impact in 
helping us to achieve clinical excellence for 
our patients and creating sustainable and 
resilient hospital services for the future. 

This assessment has included evaluation 
against almost 50 clinical standards across 
emergency care, acute medicine and 
surgical services to understand our current 
position and where the greatest quality and 
safety improvements in patient care can be 
made. 

As work progresses on Phase Two, we are 
also awaiting the outcome of a national 
‘NHS Clinical Standards Review’ which is 
currently taking place and expected to be 
published in the Spring. The findings from 
this national review will also be factored 
into out thinking as we continue to 
welcome feedback on our ‘working ideas’ 
so far. 

Our long list of potential ideas for both 
emergency care and acute medicine 
and surgical services can be found in 
Appendices A and B. 

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence

“Sharing our ‘working ideas’ and thinking 
so far is designed to support further staff, 
patient and public engagement. Feedback 
gathered on our ‘working ideas’ will be 
considered as part of the pre-consultation 
business case to help develop and 
refine future scenarios to take forward 
for formal public consultation which is 
expected later in 2019.”

Page 142

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


75Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Page 143



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence76

Page 144

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


77Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

What else do we 
need to consider?

Page 145



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence78

As well as the clinical drivers for changing 
hospital services, we know there are a 
whole variety of other factors which are 
important to local people and which we 
want to consider and discuss. 

 
Financial impact 

We are currently working through the 
detailed financial modelling to understand 
the long-term financial sustainability for 
each of our ‘working list’ ideas. At this 
point in time we are clear, however, that 
capital investment will be required in order 
for significant transformational change to 
take place. This is particularly the case for 
our ‘some’ and ‘greater’ change working 
list ideas for emergency care and acute 
medicine. 

What else do we need to consider?

Following the recent capital 
announcement made in December 
2018, the NHS Long Term Plan 
confirms that further capital 
investment will be considered in 
the 2019 Spending Review which is 
expected in summer. 

Our ‘working ideas’ contained 
within this document are therefore 
made on the assumption that 
further capital resource will be 
made available to the local NHS 
to facilitate transformational 
service change. Until we are clear 
on the likely capital investment to 
be allocated to the NHS in South 
Tyneside and Sunderland, this 
may impact on the level of change 
which is possible and therefore 
which ‘working ideas’ are likely to 
be developed as scenarios to take 
forward for full public consultation. 

Page 146

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


79Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Ambulance capacity

People who took part in the Phase One 
public consultation told us their concerns 
about having to travel further for services 
as a result of the transformation of local 
hospital services. For example, concern 
around the ability of the ambulance service 
to deal with additional patients who would 
need emergency transport, the impact 
on visitors using public transport and the 
capacity for car parking. 

After the public consultation and before 
the decisions were made, the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) sought 
assurance from North East Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust that all 
three services changes in Phase One were 
deliverable from their perspective as being 
responsible for emergency 999 response. 

In addition to this, CCGs across the region 
have agreed an extra £6.5 million investment 
over the next four years, meaning the 
ambulance service can recruit another 
100 paramedics and make changes to the 
ambulance fleet. This all helps support the 
ambulance service to ensure a high level of 
performance and response. The Sunderland 
share of the investment is £676k with South 
Tyneside investing £400k in proportion to 
population sizes.

The ambulance service continues to be fully 
and actively engaged in discussions as we 
prepare for Phase One implementation, 
with senior representation also attending 
our clinical service review group meetings 
for Phase Two. We are seeking their active 
feedback on our ‘working ideas’ so far and 
we are also talking to our neighbouring 
hospital Trusts.

“The North East 
Ambulance Service 
NHS Foundation 
Trust continues 
to be fully and 
actively engaged in 
discussions during 
Phase Two.”

Page 147



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence80

Travel and transport 

As a direct consequence of public 
consultation feedback from Phase One, 
a ‘travel and transport stakeholder 
working group’ was formed, with a wide 
membership of transport providers, NEXUS, 
elected members, local authority officers, 
both Trusts and the Tyne and Wear Public 
Transport User Group. It meets quarterly, 
with a sub group between transport 
providers, the Trusts, councils and CCGs 
to progress work to make improvements 
to travel and transport issues highlighted. 
The work is focusing on improvement to 
travel planning and joining up services 
and information across the NHS, transport 
providers, local authorities for the benefit of 
patients, families, visitors and staff.

One initiative is looking at new publicity and 
information summarising bus and metro 
links that serve each hospital site including 
walking routes into sites and increasing 
the visibility of public transport stops. 
NEXUS is working with the hospitals to 
develop personalised journey planning for 
patients, so it can be automatically included 
in patient correspondence. The councils 
are supporting the work and are carrying 
out ‘last mile of journey’ audits to gather 
crucial information looking at distances, 
signage and pathways to inform plans for 
improvements.

Page 148

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


81Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Latest feedback 
from patients  
and public

Page 149



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence82

Engagement work with patients on Phase 
Two of the Path to Excellence programme 
started in February 2018. This has helped 
our clinical service review design teams 
to understand people’s views and recent 
experiences of using emergency or planned 
hospital services in South Tyneside and 
Sunderland. A range of different ways were 
used to capture views including surveys and 
one to one interviews in wards and clinics.

The insights gained from patients and the 
public was used, alongside feedback from 
widespread staff engagement, to develop 
our Draft Case for Change document which 
was published in July 2018 explaining 
the challenges being faced and why we 
must continue to transform local hospital 
services.

Following publication of our Draft Case 
for Change, a ten week period of public 
engagement activity took place in October 
and November 2018. The aim of this 
activity was to share the issues, explain the 
current gaps in quality and safety, and allow 
opportunity for patients and the public to 
understand our ambitions for the future 
and share their views on what’s important 
to them when accessing hospital services 
and receiving hospital care. 

During this ten week period, engagement 
teams went out in the community to 
speak to patients using local hospital and 
healthcare services, as well as attending 
a series of key stakeholder meetings. 
People were invited to complete a short 
survey designed to capture their thoughts 
and opinions. The survey was additionally 
available online for individuals to complete, 
with 865 people completing paper versions 
and 165 people taking part online, a total 
of 1030 respondents. The factors that were 
considered most important when receiving 
hospital treatment are shown on the next 
pages.

What have patients and the public 
told us so far during Phase Two?

People completed paper versions

865

People took part online

165

1030
Total respondents

Engagement roadshows  
autumn 2018

Page 150

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


83Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Factors considered most important when 
receiving hospital treatment:

Hospital treatment

98.7%

Receiving high quality, safe care provided by specialists

Very or extremely important

98.9%

Getting the right treatment as quickly as possible

Very or extremely important

97.4%

Quick access to diagnosis, tests and scans

Very or extremely important

96.9%

Quick access to an expert specialist opinion

Very or extremely important

Page 151



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence84

In terms of how respondents felt the NHS can get best value for their money, 
agreement was highest for the following:

Value for money

96.4% Agree or strongly agree

Help people to know what service to use for their illness or injury, meaning 
people are seen by the right service at the right time

93%

Help people to stay well themselves to prevent becoming unwell in the 
first place

93% Agree or strongly agree

Help people to get home from hospital as soon as they are able

50.9%

Join up health, social and community services to respond to people when 
they suddenly become unwell

Agree or strongly agree

Agree or strongly agree

Page 152

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


85Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Draft evaluation 
criteria

Page 153



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence86

Developing our draft  
‘desirable evaluation criteria’

A review of all staff, patient and public 
engagement activity carried out for Phase 
Two to date, capturing the views of over 
9,000 people, has helped us identify a 
number of key themes which we have used 
to develop some draft ‘desirable evaluation 
criteria’. 

These are the more choice-based elements 
that would be desirable to have included as 
part of any future scenarios for change and 
are an important part of helping to refine 
our ‘working ideas’. These draft criteria 
cover the following key themes and were 
tested at two stakeholder workshops held 
in November 2018 and with staff and wider 
stakeholders in early 2019:  

• Quality, safety and clinical 
sustainability

• Financial sustainability 

• Impact on equality, health and health 
inequalities

• Access and choice

• Deliverability 

Once the final evaluation criteria are agreed 
by the CCGs, further work will take place 
with staff and stakeholders to apply them 
to the working list of emerging ideas for 
change. The purpose is to use these, in 
addition to our core ‘hurdle criteria’, to help 
determine the most credible scenarios to 
take forward as options for formal public 
consultation. They will also be used by the 
two CCGs to inform their final decision 
making following formal public consultation 
on Phase Two of the programme.

The following diagrams of our draft 
‘desirable evaluation criteria’ illustrate what 
patients, public, staff and stakeholders said 
is important to them.

Page 154

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


87Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

You said... Draft ‘desirable 
evaluation criteria’

 Exceed and maintain all core 
workforce standards

 Deliver the correct number of staff 
with right competencies

 Enhance recruitment and retention 
through the delivery of good 
working patterns and development 
opportunities

 Create capacity to increase 
opportunities for clinical research and 
innovation

 Ensure system risk management 
processes can be safely put in 
place and monitored, for example 
safeguarding, complaints, 
compliments, patient experience and 
reflect multi-agency approach where 
needed

 Must deliver clinically safe distances 
and travel times to access services 
(including transfers between services) 
in line with national guidance

 Ensure appropriate access to specialist 
clinical opinions and diagnostic tests 
in line with national guidance

 Must deliver access to planned care 
and follow up services in line with 
waiting time guidance and patient 
choice

 Enable more joined up working 
around the patient between hospital 
teams and out of hospital services

Quality, safety and clinical sustainability

Future hospital services must...

“Offer quick access to a 
specialist opinion, assessment 
and diagnostics”

“Offer improved patient 
outcomes, fewer complications 
and re-admissions”

“Meet and exceed national 
standards to deliver the 
safest, most effective care 
for patients – excellence”

“Integrated teams working 

to the same standards of 

best practice”

“Improve waiting times, 
reduced delays and local 
healthcare services which are 
quick and easy to access”

“Have assurance on any extra 
ambulance capacity and staff 
needed for safe transfers”

 “Offer a better discharge and 
aftercare/rehabilitation process”

Future hospital services must...

Page 155



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence88

You said... Draft ‘desirable 
evaluation criteria’

 Be implemented and funded in the 
long term within available resources

Financial sustainability

Future hospital services must...

“Improve efficiency 
and cost savings”

Future hospital services must...

You said... Draft ‘desirable 
evaluation criteria’

 Make a positive impact on improving 
people’s health, equality and reducing 
health inequalities and mitigating 
inequality risks where they occur

 Must improve and maintain health 
outcomes for all people that use 
hospital services

Impact on equality, health and health inequalities

Future hospital services must...

“Offer equity in 
access to healthcare 
for all and equity of 
services across sites”

Future hospital services must...

Page 156

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


89Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

You said...
Draft ‘desirable 

evaluation criteria’

 Ensure any accessibility challenges 
for patients, visitors and staff are 
proportionately addressed

 Deliver joined up care close to home 
when this is safe to do so

 Minimise any travel impact for 
patients, families, staff and visitors

Access and choice

Future hospital services must...

Future hospital services must...

“Offer improved choice and 
involve patients in decisions 
about care”

“Have affordable and 
efficient transport links / 
systems in place for family, 
friends and carers”

“Offer support for staff 
required to work between sites”

The views of over 9,000 
people have been captured 
during engagement activity 
carried out for Phase Two 

to date.
9,000

Page 157



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence90

You said... Draft ‘desirable 
evaluation criteria’

 Ensure there is capacity to 
accommodate predicated future 
health needs and projected increase 
in demand

 Have enough capacity to manage 
patient flow across all local hospitals

 Have robust workforce development 
plans to be able to implement and 
sustain new way of working

 Complement or support other 
relevant services and transformational 
plans across the region.

Deliverability

Future hospital services must...

Future hospital services must...

“Effectively manage demand, 
avoiding long waiting times, 
delays and cancellations”

“Offer an efficient and smooth 
process from attendance 
or referral to hospital, to 
treatment and discharge”

“Be clear which service is best 
to attend for the seriousness 
of my health condition”

Page 158

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


91Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

What happens 
next and how to 
get involved

Page 159



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence92

Widespread engagement activity will now take place with staff, patients, the public, as well 
as with all key stakeholders to gain feedback on the ‘working list’ of ideas shared within this 
briefing document. All feedback will be considered as part of the pre-consultation business 
case to help determine the scenarios to take forward for formal public consultation later in 
2019.

What are the next steps with this work?

We would like to know:

What do you think of our ‘working ideas’ so far? 

How can we shape and improve them? 

What other ideas do you think we should be considering? 

Page 160

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


93Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Expected key milestones over 
the coming months

Publish updated Draft Case for Change 
and ‘working ideas’ so far

Staff, patient and public engagement to 
gather feedback on ‘working ideas’ and 
draft evaluation criteria

Agree final evaluation criteria

External clinical and non-clinical 
assurances of any proposed changes 
and new ways of working

Formal public consultation expected 
September 2019

O
n

g
o

in
g

 s
ta

ff
 a

n
d

 p
at

ie
n

t 
/ 

p
u

b
lic

 e
n

g
ag

em
en

t 

February 
2019

September 
2019

Page 161



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence94

Website: www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Email us: nhs.excellence@nhs.net 

Call us on: 0191 217 2670

facebook.com/nhsexcellence

@nhsexcellence 

Write to us (no stamp required):
Freepost RTUS–LYHZ–BRLE
North of England Commissioning Support
Riverside House
Goldcrest Way
NEWCASTLE UPON TYNE
NE15 8NY

How to get involved with Phase Two

We have lots of ways for you to get 
involved and find out more about the 
challenges we are facing in the delivery 
of local hospital services. The best way 
to find out what is going on is to look  
at our dedicated website at: 
www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk which 

includes up-to-date documents, links to 
surveys and details of up and coming 
events. We also widely promote our 
activities through the media, online 
and via key partners and stakeholder 
groups. You can also reach us at any 
time via:

This document is available in large print and other languages.  
Please call 0191 217 2670.

Page 162

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk
www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk
mailto:nhs.excellence@nhs.net
http://facebook.com/nhsexcellence
http://www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


95Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Appendix A – 
Long list of ideas 
for emergency 
care and acute 
medicine

Page 163



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence96

No change Minimal change

• Additional investment to address workforce 
gaps and reduce temporary staffing

• Join existing teams to work together as one 
across both hospitals

• Introduce innovative new roles to ease 
pressure on clinical and nursing teams

• Improve access to care in the community to 
reduce pressure on hospital

• Improve existing access / clinical pathways 
to urgent and emergency care services on 
each site

• Combine all of the above ideas together

• Continue with status quo at both hospital 
sites (do nothing)

Minimum Level of possible change

6 ideas1 idea

Long list of ideas for emergency care and acute medicine

Page 164

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


97Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

9 ideas
• Create new clinical pathways for emergency 

heart patients so that all serious or high risk 
cases are treated on one hospital site 

• Work with paramedics and GPs to develop 
pre-hospital assessment to filter all serious 
and high risk emergency patients to one 
hospital site  

• Have one hospital open 24/7 providing 
urgent and emergency care  (including all 
overnight cases) and the other open 

 14-16hrs a day, 7 days a week providing 
urgent and emergency care 

• As above, however the hospital open  
14-16hrs a day (7 days a week) would also 
provide local overnight urgent care

• Continue with two existing 24/7 Emergency 
Departments however all emergency 
admissions would go to one hospital site 

• Have one hospital open 24/7 providing all 
urgent and emergency care. On the non-
emergency site, there would still be some 
emergency admissions but these would be 
managed via GP / 111 or paramedic referral 
only 

• As above, however the non-emergency 
site would also have 24/7 local urgent care 
access

• Have one hospital open 24/7 providing both 
urgent and emergency care (including all 
overnight cases). On the non-emergency 
site, local urgent care would be available 12-
14hrs per day, 7 days a week

• Have one hospital open 24/7 providing both 
urgent and emergency care (including all 
overnight cases). On the non-emergency 
site, local urgent care would be available 
24/7

• Create a brand new purpose built hospital to 
provide emergency care and acute medicine 
services for South Tyneside and Sunderland 

• No longer provide any urgent or emergency 
care at either hospital site 

• No longer provide acute medicine services at 
either hospital site 

• No longer provide urgent or emergency care 
or acute medicine services at either hospital 
site

Some change Greater change

4 ideas

MaximumLevel of possible change

Long list of ideas for emergency care and acute medicine

Page 165



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence98

Page 166

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


99Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Appendix B –  
Long list of ideas 
for emergency 
surgery and planned 
operations

Page 167



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence100 www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence100

No change Minimal change

• Additional investment to address workforce 
gaps and reduce temporary staffing

• Join existing teams to work together as one 
across both hospitals

• Introduce innovative new roles to ease 
pressure on clinical and nursing teams

• Continue with status quo at both hospital 
sites (do nothing)

Minimum Level of possible change

3 ideas1 idea

Long list of ideas for emergency surgery and planned operations

Page 168

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk
www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


101Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change 101Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

3 ideas

Some change Greater change

6 ideas

MaximumLevel of possible change

Long list of ideas for emergency surgery and planned operations

• All emergency surgery and planned 
inpatient operations all delivered from one 
hospital site

• All emergency surgery delivered from one 
hospital and planned inpatient operations 
delivered at the other hospital

• All planned and emergency (trauma) 
orthopaedic and operations, and emergency 
general surgery delivered from one hospital.  
Other planned general surgery operations 
would take place at the other hospital 

• All emergency orthopaedic operations, 
emergency general surgery and planned 
general surgery operations would take place 
at one hospital.  The other hospital would 
deliver planned orthopaedic operations (hip 
and knee replacements)

• All emergency orthopaedic operations at 
one hospital and high volume planned 
orthopaedic operations (hip and knee 
replacements) at the other.  Both hospitals 
continue to provide emergency and planned 
general surgery, however all overnight 
emergency cases would be cared for at one 
hospital 

• As above, however all planned orthopaedic 
operations would take place at one hospital 
(not just high volume procedures such as 
hip and knee replacements)

• No emergency surgery at either hospital

• No planned surgery at either hospital

• Create a brand new purpose built hospital 
to provide surgery services for South 
Tyneside and Sunderland 

Page 169



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence102

References

Page 170

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


103Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

1. Working together to improve hospital services in South Tyneside and Sunderland (July, 
2018) https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/NHS-PTE2-CFC-full-
document-final.pdf

 
2. NHS Long Term Plan (January, 2019) https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/ 

uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan.pdf
 
3. King’s Fund: A vision for population health – Towards a Healthier Future (November, 

2018) https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-11/A%20vision%20for%20 
population%20health%20online%20version.pdf

 
4. NHS Long Term Plan (January, 2019) https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/ 

uploads/2019/01/nhs-long-term-plan.pdf
 
5. The Academy of Medical Royal Colleges (2012) http://www.aomrc.org.uk/wpcontent/ 

uploads/2016/05/Seven_Day_Consultant_Present_Care_1212.pdfN
 
 NHS England, Seven Day Services Clinical Standards (2017) https://www.england.nhs.uk/

wp-content/ uploads/2017/09/seven-day-service-clinical-standards-september-2017.pdf
 
6. Royal College of Surgeons, Consultant Delivered Care Emergency surgery: standards for 

unscheduled surgical care (2011) https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/library-and-publications/rcs-
publications/docs/emergency-surgery-standards-for-unscheduled-care/

 
7. British Orthopaedic Association - A national review of adult elective orthopaedic services 

in England Getting It Right First Time (2015) http://gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2017/06/GIRFT-National-Report-Mar15-Web.pdf

 
8. General Surgery Getting It Right First Time Programme National Specialty Report 

(2017) http://gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/GIRFT-
GeneralSurgeryReport-Aug17v1.pdf

References

Page 171

https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/NHS-PTE2-CFC-full-document-final.pdf
https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/NHS-PTE2-CFC-full-document-final.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-11/A vision for 
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/
http://www.aomrc.org.uk/wpcontent/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/
https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/library-and-publications/rcs-publications/docs/emergency-surgery-standards-for-unscheduled-care/
https://www.rcseng.ac.uk/library-and-publications/rcs-publications/docs/emergency-surgery-standards-for-unscheduled-care/
http://gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/GIRFT-National-Report-Mar15-Web.pdf
http://gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/GIRFT-National-Report-Mar15-Web.pdf
http://gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/GIRFT-GeneralSurgeryReport-Aug17v1.pdf
http://gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/GIRFT-GeneralSurgeryReport-Aug17v1.pdf


www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence104

Glossary

Page 172

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


105Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Glossary

Acute medicine 
The care provided to seriously ill patients 
who are admitted as emergencies to hospital

Assessment unit
A unit where clinicians are able to make
immediate assessments and decisions about
a person’s care when they arrive in hospital

Cardiology 
The field of medicine which treat diseases and 
defects of the heart and blood vessels 
(the cardiovascular system)

Care of the elderly
The field of medicine which cares for older 
people with physical and/or mental illness and 
aims to improve quality of life and help people 
maintain their independence for as long as 
possible

Clinical Commissioning Groups
These are clinically-led statutory NHS bodies 
responsible for the planning and commissioning 
of health care services for their local area.

Clinical service reviews
Carried out by clinical teams to understand
how services should be configured to meet
the needs of local communities in the future

Clinician
A qualified health professions, for example
a doctor, nurse or physiotherapist

Consultant
A very senior doctor or surgeon with
specialist training and expertise in a
particular area of medicine

Consultant-led
A consultant-led service is one where
a consultant retains overall clinical
responsibility for the service, care team or
treatment

Diabetes
Diabetes is a lifelong condition that 
causes a person’s blood sugar level
to become too high and must be managed

Emergency admission 
An unplanned admission to hospital 
(often via the Emergency Department), 
which occurs when a patient suddenly 
becomes very seriously ill or injured 

Emergency Department 
This is where all seriously ill or injured 
people are initially assessed and
 treated and is the new name for A&E

Emergency care
The provision of an immediate clinical
service for the treatment of acute and
chronic illness and injury

Emergency surgery 
The care provided to patients who 
require an immediate operation 

Gastrointestinal medicine
The field of medicine which investigates, 
diagnoses, treats and helps prevent all 
gastrointestinal diseases including problems
with the stomach and intestines, liver, 
gallbladder, biliary tree and pancreas.

Page 173



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence106

Health outcomes
Changes in health that result from measures
or specific health care investments or
interventions.

Length of stay
The length of time patients spend in hospital 
from the point of their admission to being 
discharged safely back home

Occupational Therapy (OT)
Therapeutic use of self-care, work,
and recreational activities to increase
independent function, enhance
development, and prevent disability; may
include adaptation of tasks or environment
to achieve maximum independence and
optimal quality of life

Outpatients 
The part of the hospital which cares for patients 
who attend for planned appointments or 
procedures and do not need to be admitted as 
an inpatient to stay overnight

Patient activation
This is the knowledge, skills and confidence a 
person has in managing their own health and 
care. When people are supported to become 
more ‘activated’ in looking after themselves, 
they benefit from better health outcomes, 
have improved experiences of care and fewer 
unplanned hospital admissions.

Patient flow
How effectively patients move through different 
parts of the health and care system to receive 
the care they need

Physician associate
This is a new type of healthcare role which 
support doctors in the diagnosis and 
management of patients. 

Physiotherapy
The treatment of disease, injury or
deformity by physical methods such as
massage, heat treatment and exercise rather
than by drugs or surgery

Planned care
The care provided in hospital for patients 
who have been referred by their GP for 
a test, scan, treatment of operation

Primary care
Care provided in community settings,
including the home, by a range of qualified
health professionals, including GPs and
district nurses

Radiology
Radiology is the medical specialty that uses 
medical imaging (scans and x-rays)  to diagnose 
and treat diseases within the body

Respiratory 
The field of medicine which investigates, 
diagnoses, treats and helps prevent all diseases 
associated with breathing and the lungs.

Secondary care
Care provided in a hospital setting

Specialist
Most doctors and surgeons have extra expertise 
in one type of medicine or surgery.  This 
requires years of training after medical school 
so that they become experts in a particular area 
and we call them specialists.

Speech and language therapy (SALT)
Providing treatment, support and care for
children and adults who have difficulties
with communication, or with eating,
drinking and swallowing

Page 174

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


107Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change

Page 175



Website: www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Email us: nhs.excellence@nhs.net 

Call us on: 0191 217 2670

facebook.com/nhsexcellence

@nhsexcellence 

Write to us (no stamp required):
Freepost RTUS–LYHZ–BRLE
North of England Commissioning Support
Riverside House
Goldcrest Way
NEWCASTLE UPON TYNE
NE15 8NY

Page 176

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk
mailto:nhs.excellence@nhs.net
http://facebook.com/nhsexcellence


Summary

The path to
excellence

Working 
together 

Transforming hospital services in South Tyneside and 
Sunderland and the bigger picture for health and care

NHS partners working together:
South Tyneside and Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Groups
City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust
South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust

for clinical
excellence

Phase Two
Updated

Case for Change
February  

2019

Page 177



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence2

Local hospital services in South Tyneside and Sunderland provide an abundance of great 
care delivered by highly committed teams of NHS staff. Phase Two of the Path to Excellence 
programme aims to build on these strengths and successes but also make sure we plan and 
prepare for the future.

Our ambition is simple: we want to create outstanding future hospital services which offer the 
very highest quality of safe patient care and clinical excellence for each and every resident of 
South Tyneside and Sunderland.

Both South Tyneside District Hospital and Sunderland Royal Hospital will continue to exist in 
whatever future service models evolve, however, we must be realistic that the challenges facing 
the NHS will not go away and are only set to increase. To achieve our ambitions we must change 
the way hospital services are delivered so that we can deliver clinical excellence all of the time, 
every time, for each and every person.
 
This summary document provides an update to the Draft Case for Change published in July 2018 
and shares our ‘working ideas’ so far on how we might be able to solve some of the very big 
challenges facing local hospital services. 

This is the opportunity for everybody to shape the ‘working ideas’ which our clinical and nursing 
teams have come up with so far. This will help us as we continue to refine any future scenarios 
to be taken forward for formal public consultation which is expected later in 2019. Any future 
scenarios taken forward for formal public consultation will also depend on the level of capital 
investment available to the local NHS. (see page 22)

Introduction

“Both hospitals are of equal strategic 
importance and there is absolutely 
no intention whatsoever for either 
hospital to close.”

Page 178

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


3Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change - Summary

Emergency care and acute medicine 

This is the care provided when patients arrive at our 
Emergency Departments, need emergency admission to 
hospital or have an urgent healthcare need.

Which hospital services are involved in Phase Two?

Emergency surgery and planned operations

This is the care provided for patients who are admitted 
as an emergency and then require urgent surgery, 
or who have been referred by their GP for a planned 
operation.

Planned care and outpatients

This is the care provided in hospital after patients have 
been referred by their GP for a test, scan, treatment or 
operation.

Clinical support services  

These are vital support services such as therapy services 
(physiotherapy, occupational therapy, speech and 
language therapy) as well as clinical pharmacy and 
radiology services (scans and x-rays).

Page 179



4

Why do we need to change?

Our Draft Case for Change published in July 
2018 sets out the challenges being faced by 
local hospital services. This included feedback 
from staff and patients of their current 
experiences of working in, or using, our 
hospital services. 

By working together across South Tyneside 
and Sunderland, our aim is to improve patient 
experiences, address vulnerable service areas 
and deliver the highest possible quality and 
safety standards to improve our patient 

outcomes and deliver clinical excellence in 
everything we do. We also need to make sure 
we deliver this within the financial and other 
resources available to us. 

Given the significant challenges facing the 
NHS, there are many compelling reasons why 
we need to change:

Our workforce is under significant 

pressure and on a daily basis we rely 

on the goodwill of our staff working 

longer hours or extra shifts – this has 

a negative impact on their health and 

wellbeing and is not sustainable. We 

also rely heavily on temporary staff 

to keep services running safely. This 

is not only extremely expensive but it 

is also not good for the continuity of 

high quality patient care. The current 

set up of our services also makes it 

difficult for us to attract staff who 

want to work as part of bigger teams.

Workforce 
The pressure on our workforce is 
directly linked to the significant 
and growing demand on the NHS 
as a whole. More people than ever 
before are now accessing services 
and being successfully treated 
thanks to advances in medicine and 
technology. This means more people 
can now survive serious illness or 
injury and can live longer with health 
conditions such as asthma, diabetes 
and even cancer. All of this means 
demand on our NHS will grow even 
further in the years ahead.

Future demand

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence

Page 180

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


5Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change - Summary

The way our services are currently set 

up makes it really difficult for us to 

meet a number of important clinical 

quality and safety standards. For 

example, we are currently unable to 

consistently ensure that all emergency 

patients receive a timely consultant 

review and we do not have consistent 

availability of senior clinical decision 

makers seven days a week – something 

which we know is proven to have a 

positive impact on patient outcomes. 

Individually, our populations and 

teams are small, but together we can 

create the vital critical mass of patients 

needed to develop more specialised 

care and meet more of these important 

clinical quality and safety standards. 

Quality 
improvement

Our services currently cost more to 
deliver than the funding we have 
available and we need to make 
changes to help improve our long-term 
financial sustainability. Our emergency 
care and acute medicine services make 
an annual loss of millions of pounds 
and we currently have to spend 
millions on agency staff in this clinical 
service area alone. This overreliance on 
temporary staff is not only financially 
unsustainable, it also limits our ability 
to make quality improvements to 
patient care.

Finance  
constraints

“We cannot ignore the challenges facing 
the NHS which is why we are working 
together across the whole health and care 
system to plan for the future.”

Page 181



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence6

Our three pillars of transformation

Changing hospital care alone will not solve 
the pressures facing local services. This is 
why the NHS Long Term Plan published in 
January 2019 focusses so heavily on creating 
an entirely new NHS service model which 
is built around patient needs to provide 
properly joined-up care, at the right time, 
in the optimal care setting and by the right 
healthcare professional. It places, quite 
rightly, significant priority on boosting ‘out 
of hospital’ care and practical steps to help 
people improve their health and increase life 
expectancy.  

Across South Tyneside and Sunderland we are 
already actively working on how we provide 

more care to people outside of hospital in 
their local communities and how we support 
people to stay fit and well and live healthy 
lifestyles – these are what we call our three 
pillars of transformation (shown at the 
bottom of the diagram on the next page).

Working with our local communities to 
prevent ill-health in the first place is equally 
as important to us as treating people when 
they do become unwell. Our aim is to reduce 
the unacceptable gap in life expectancy which 
exists for people living in different parts of 
South Tyneside and Sunderland.

Page 182

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


7Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change - Summary

What influences 
our health?

Diagram components adapted from Kings Fund

Hospital services 
make up a small part 
of overall NHS care. 
Phase Two of the 
Path to Excellence 
programme is looking 
at how we improve 
hospital services which 
is the subject of this 
Updated Draft Case for 
Change document.

This is how we work 
together to encourage 
everyone living in 
South Tyneside and 
Sunderland to take 
more responsibility for 
their own health and 
wellbeing so that they 
do not become unwell 
with wholly avoidable 
illnesses.

This is how NHS, social 
care and community and 
voluntary organisations 
work together to provide 
more responsive care 
to prevent avoidable 
hospital admissions and 
to get people out of 
hospital as soon as they 
are able with more care 
at home and closer to 
home.

Our three pillars of transformation

Healthcare services 
are the smallest 

contributor to our 
overall health

45% 15% 40%

Health behaviour 
patterns

Healthcare 
services

Social circumstances and 
environmental exposure

Prevention Out of hospital In hospital

How the NHS works with local 
partners to influence positive 
change in society

Page 183



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence8

THE STORY SO FAR...Phase Two

• Our clinical service 
review design teams, 
made up of over 100 
staff from both South 
Tyneside and Sunderland, 
begin to meet and discuss 
current challenges

December 2017

• Over 700 staff from 
both South Tyneside 
and Sunderland give 
their views on the current 
challenges being faced by 
completing a survey 

• Face-to-face interviews 
with over 120 patients 
to understand current 
experiences of using 
services in each hospital

February 2018 March 2018

• Almost 200 staff from 
both South Tyneside 
and Sunderland join a 
series of engagement 
sessions to discuss current 
challenges and agree 
ambitions for the future

June 2018

• Further staff 
engagement sessions 
attended by over 200 
staff from both South 
Tyneside and Sunderland 
to discuss case for change 
and early ideas for 
addressing challenges 

• Over 1,000 patients 
share their views as part 
of further engagement 
work to understand what is 
most important to people 
when receiving hospital 
care

• First clinical due 
diligence event bringing 
together staff from each of 
the clinical service review 
design teams for the first 
time, to discuss progress in 
each work stream and ideas 
so far 

• Launch of the ‘Draft Case 
for Change’ document 
and briefings with key 
stakeholders 

• Launch of widespread 
‘Join our Journey’ public 
engagement activity over 
ten weeks and attendance 
at key stakeholder 
meetings to help people 
understand why hospital 
services need to change 
and to encourage ideas 
for helping us solve the 
challenges we face

• A further 1,000 patients 
give their views on what 
is most important when 
receiving hospital care

July 2018October 2018

ENGAGEMENT SESSIONS
PANEL EVENTS

ROADSHOWS

Page 184

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


9Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change - Summary

• Second clinical due 
diligence event bringing 
together staff from each of 
the clinical service review 
design teams, for the 
second time, to discuss 
progress in each work 
stream and ideas so far

• Stakeholder workshops 
take place to help set 
‘desirable evaluation 
criteria’ which will be used 
later in the process to assess 
any emerging ideas and 
help determine the most 
credible scenarios to take 
forward for formal public 
consultation

• Public listening panel 
event held to invite 
members of the public, 
stakeholders and other 
interested parties to present 
evidence to the Path to 
Excellence programme 
team on the Draft Case for 
Change and any areas for 
consideration that might 
have been missed

• ‘Working list’ of ideas 
shared with all staff, 
stakeholders and members 
of the public and a period 
of engagement takes 
place to gather views and 
feedback

• Series of staff 
engagement workshops 
take place to allow staff 
from both South Tyneside 
and Sunderland to input 
their views on the working 
list of ideas and share 
feedback for the clinical 
service review design teams 
to consider 

• Patient and public 
engagement ‘Join our 
Journey’ roadshow activity 
to take place throughout 
March working with 
Healthwatch to gather 
feedback and views on the 
‘working list’ of ideas and 
draft ‘desirable evaluation 
criteria’

• Clinical senate review and 
further testing and evaluation of 
‘working ideas’

• Further work with key 
stakeholders to apply the draft 
‘desirable evaluation criteria’ 
to ‘working ideas’ and help 
determine the most credible 
scenarios to take forward for 
formal public consultation

• Further information to 
be included in the pre-
consultation business case 
for service change is identified

• Pre-consultation case for 
service change is reviewed 
by Trust Boards and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups’ 
Governing Bodies

• NHS assurance processes with 
regulators NHS England and 
NHS Improvement takes place

• Formal public 
consultation on future 
scenarios for change

November 2018 December 2018 February 2019

Late summer 2019

Spring and early 
summer 2019

March 2019

WORKSHOPS

EXCELLENCE

THIS WAY

Page 185



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence10

In order to support a logical process of 
developing ideas for change, we have taken 
a staged approach, with each stage feeding 
into and influencing the next. This gives the 
opportunity for stakeholders to be involved 
throughout the process including staff, 
wider NHS professionals, community and 
voluntary groups, elected members and other 
interested parties. 

Using feedback gathered over the past year 
through our work with staff, patients and 
the public, our clinical service review design 
teams were tasked to come up with a long 
list of all possible scenarios for the future. 
 

In order to get to a shorter and genuinely 
viable list of ‘working ideas’ for change, 
our long-list was tested against agreed core 
‘hurdle criteria’ which have been developed 
with clinical experts and informed by service 
change best practice in line with national NHS 
policy. 

Our ‘working ideas’ range from: 

• ‘minimal’ change by improving our current 
models 

• ‘some’ degree of change by creating new 
models of care 

• ‘greater’ change by thinking radically 
about we improve services for the future

What design process have we followed to reach 
our ‘working ideas’?

Confirm credible scenarios  
for public consultation

Long list development1

Reduce to working list of ideas
2

Apply core ‘hurdle criteria’

3
Prioritise or shortlist ideas

4

St
af

f,
 p

at
ie

n
t 

an
d

 p
u

b
lic

 e
n

g
ag

em
en

t 
an

d
 in

vo
lv

em
en

t

Steps in the design process

We are here
February 2019

Test and evaluate working list

Page 186

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


11Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change - Summary

Support sustainability and resilience of 
services by ensuring that the medical 
and nursing staff and volume of 
patient numbers are there to make 
the service succeed. Where possible, 
more services should be provided in 
local community settings rather than 
in hospital.

Deliver high quality, safe care which 
aims to improve quality and meets 
all clinical quality, patient safety and 
experience standards, as well as 
regulatory requirements for example 
from the Care Quality Commission, 
NHS Improvement and Royal Colleges 
/ Professional Bodies.

The core ‘hurdle criteria’

Be sustainable and resilient
Deliver high quality,  

safe care

Be affordable by improving long-term 
financial sustainability across the local 
health system and be deliverable 
within the available capital resource to 
facilitate any service change.

Be achievable within three years of 
any decisions made by local Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs).

Be affordable Be achievable

i Independent
Quality Assurance

As we want to ensure we get this design 
process right and we are open to ideas 
and influence, we are working with The 
Consultation Institute, who are carrying 
out an independent quality assurance 
of our pre-consultation engagement 
processes.

Our core ‘hurdle criteria’ are outlined below and mean that any future proposed 
services changes must do the following: 

Page 187



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence12

Our ambitions for the future

Emergency care and acute medicine:

• provide better access to 24/7 
consultant-led emergency care seven 
days a week 

• consistently ensure patients with 
serious emergencies who need 
hospital admission are seen by the 
right specialist in a timely way, when 
they arrive, during their stay and when 
being discharged home

• consistently ensure patients with less 
serious problems which require an 
urgent response have local access

• provide better access to multi-
disciplinary assessments and support 
services for urgent and emergency 
patients seven days a week

• improve the differences which 
currently exist in the length of 
hospital stay and reduce unnecessary 
emergency hospital admissions 

• reduce the cost of temporary locum 
and agency staff by creating a service 
which is fit for future, offers the best 
clinical outcomes for patients and 
attracts new recruits

• enhance our ‘front door’ frailty services 
for vulnerable older people to provide 
prompt assessment and ensure, where 
possible, people are not admitted to 
hospital unnecessarily.

Our current thinking for emergency care and acute medicine 
is fully aligned to the recently published NHS Long Term Plan

Page 188

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


13Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change - Summary

Emergency surgery and planned operations:

Our current thinking for surgical services is fully aligned to 
the recently published NHS Long Term Plan

• provide better access to 24/7 
consultant-led care for emergency 
surgery patients seven days a week

• move from a general surgical opinion 
to specialist surgical advice and ensure 
emergency surgery patients have 
quick access to theatre and a specialist 
consultant-led team at any time of day 
or night

• consistently ensure all emergency 
surgical admissions are seen by the 
right specialist consultant in a timely 
way, both when they arrive at hospital, 
during their stay and when being 
discharged home

• consistently provide timely assessments 
for emergency surgery patients with 
support services available seven days a 
week to aid recovery

• improve our ability to consistently 
deliver high quality training for surgical 
trainees

• improve patient and staff experience 
and satisfaction by separating planned 
operations from emergency surgery.

Page 189



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence14

Minimal change

This working idea would rely on continued recruitment 
efforts and ongoing investment to address significant 
workforce gaps in emergency care and acute medicine 
services. By separating emergency surgery from planned 
operations, this would potentially allow us to meet a 
number of important quality and safety standards in line 
with recommendations in the NHS Long Term Plan.

For emergency care and acute medicine, there would be continued 24/7 access on 
both hospital sites as per the current service model, with enhanced ‘same day emergency 
care’ to help people get treated quickly without hospital admission. Clinical and nursing 
teams would work as one, across both hospital sites to improve staffing sustainability 
and we would aim to develop new innovative staffing models to help us cope with the 
expected rise in demand to ensure patients receive the highest quality of safe care. 

For surgical services, our minimal change idea would mean the majority of planned 
operations taking place in a new ‘Centre of Surgical Excellence’ in South Tyneside, with 
emergency, high-risk or complex operations taking place in Sunderland. There would also 
be a small number of planned operations taking place in Sunderland to maximise theatre 
capacity.

In clinical support services we would like to develop a new state-of-the-art Integrated 
Diagnostic and Imaging Centre at South Tyneside District Hospital to serve both local 
populations.

Our thinking so far and  
‘working ideas’ for change

Page 190

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


15Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change - Summary

South Tyneside Sunderland

OPEN 24/7

Create a new ‘Centre of Surgical 
Excellence’ to carry out the majority of 
planned day case and inpatient operations 
from both local populations.

All emergency, high-risk or 
complex operations from both local 
populations plus a small number of 
planned operations.

OPEN 24/7

Minimal change

Develop a new state-of-the-art Integrated Diagnostic and Imaging Centre at South Tyneside 
District Hospital which would offer world-class diagnostics and serve both local populations.

*Same day emergency care
Also known as ‘ambulatory emergency care’, same day emergency care is a transformational 
change in care delivery. It is a way of managing a significant proportion of emergency 
patients on the same day without the need for admission to a hospital bed.

Continued 24/7 access to urgent and emergency care services on both hospital sites 
as per current service model but with enhanced ‘same day emergency care’.*

Page 191



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence16

Some change

For emergency care and acute medicine, there would be continued 24/7 access on 
both hospital sites but this would be different from the current model. In South Tyneside 
there would continue to be round the clock urgent access for patients with less serious 
emergencies, as well as acute medical admissions via managed pathways of care working 
closely with paramedics and GPs. In Sunderland, concentrated teams of clinicians would 
be better able to provide 24/7 access to specialist expertise for patients suffering from 
serious or life-threatening emergencies. Both hospitals would continue to offer ‘same day 
emergency care’ to prevent unnecessary hospital admissions. 

This working idea would potentially give us greater 
consultant cover in emergency care, however pressures 
would remain on being able to safely staff acute medical 
services. By separating emergency surgery from planned 
operations, this would potentially allow us to meet a 
number of important quality and safety standards in line 
with recommendations in the NHS Long Term Plan.

For surgical services, our some change idea would mean the majority of planned 
operations taking place in a new ‘Centre of Surgical Excellence’ in South Tyneside, with 
emergency, high-risk or complex operations taking place in Sunderland. There would also 
be a small number of planned operations taking place in Sunderland to maximise theatre 
capacity.

In clinical support services we would like to develop a new state-of-the-art Integrated 
Diagnostic and Imaging Centre at South Tyneside District Hospital to serve both local 
populations.

Page 192

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


17Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change - Summary

South Tyneside Sunderland

Create a new ‘Centre of Surgical Excellence’ to 
carry out the majority of planned day case and 
inpatient operations from both local populations.

24/7 urgent care for less serious emergencies, 
plus ‘same day emergency care’ for medical 
conditions and some medical admissions.  
There would be continued local urgent care 
access across South Tyneside.

24/7 specialist emergency care for all 
serious or life threatening emergencies, 
‘same day emergency care’, plus 
continued local urgent care access 
across Sunderland.

OPEN 24/7

Some change

Less serious emergencies could include:        

Minor fractures or broken bones

Minor head, ear, or eye problems

Broken nose or nose bleed

Sprains, strains, cuts and bites

Abscesses or wound infections

OPEN 24/7

Serious or life threatening emergencies  
could include:

Suspected stroke

Loss of consciousness

Persistent and severe chest pain

Sudden shortness of breath

Severe blood loss

Severe abdominal pain

Develop a new state-of-the-art Integrated Diagnostic and Imaging Centre at South Tyneside 
District Hospital which would offer world-class diagnostics and serve both local populations.

All emergency, high-risk or complex 
operations from both local populations  
plus a small number of planned operations.

Page 193



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence18

Greater change

This working idea would potentially give us the greatest 
opportunity to strengthen staffing in emergency care and 
acute medicine and increase our ability to meet more 
important clinical quality and safety standards to improve 
patient care. By separating emergency surgery from planned 
operations, this would potentially allow us to meet a number 
of important quality and safety standards in line with 
recommendations in the NHS Long Term Plan.

For emergency care and acute medicine, there would be continued 24/7 access 
on both hospital sites but this would be different from the current model. In South 
Tyneside there would continue to be round the clock access for patients with urgent but 
less serious emergencies. All serious or life-threatening emergencies and acute medical 
admissions would take place in Sunderland by concentrated teams of emergency care and 
acute medicine specialists providing expert and senior clinical opinions seven days a week. 
Acute inpatient medical rehabilitation would continue in South Tyneside and we would 
also develop new ‘rapid access review clinics’ in a range of specialities to enable next day 
access in South Tyneside for GPs to refer patients directly to hospital for quick assessment. 

For surgical services, our greater change idea would mean the majority of planned 
operations taking place in a new ‘Centre of Surgical Excellence’ in South Tyneside, with 
emergency, high-risk or complex operations taking place in Sunderland. There would also 
be a small number of planned operations taking place in Sunderland to maximise theatre 
capacity.

In clinical support services we would like to develop a new state-of-the-art Integrated 
Diagnostic and Imaging Centre at South Tyneside District Hospital to serve both local 
populations.

Page 194

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


19Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change - Summary

Greater change

All emergency, high-risk or complex 
operations from both local populations  
plus a small number of planned operations.

24/7 urgent care for less serious 
emergencies, plus some ‘same day 
emergency care’ for medical conditions. 
There would be continued local urgent  
care access across South Tyneside.

24/7 specialist emergency care for all 
serious or life threatening emergencies 
and all medical admissions, ‘same day 
emergency care’, plus continued local 
urgent care access across Sunderland.

OPEN 24/7 OPEN 24/7

South Tyneside Sunderland

Create a new ‘Centre of Surgical Excellence’ to 
carry out the majority of planned day case and 
inpatient operations from both local populations.

Develop a new state-of-the-art Integrated Diagnostic and Imaging Centre at South Tyneside 
District Hospital which would offer world-class diagnostics and serve both local populations.

Serious or life threatening emergencies  
could include:

Suspected stroke

Loss of consciousness

Persistent and severe chest pain

Sudden shortness of breath

Severe blood loss

Severe abdominal pain

Less serious emergencies could include:        

Minor fractures or broken bones

Minor head, ear, or eye problems

Broken nose or nose bleed

Sprains, strains, cuts and bites

Abscesses or wound infections

Page 195



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence20

Our work on planned care and outpatients

Our ambition is to continue to deliver much more care closer to home when it is safe, sustainable 
and appropriate to do so. We have already delivered hundreds of outpatient appointments 
which now are now taking place locally for South Tyneside residents and continue to explore 
opportunities in a number of other specialist areas:

• Ophthalmology

• Rheumatology

• Renal medicine

Already being delivered locally:

Our work on clinical support services

• Cardiology

• Oncology

• Oral and maxillofacial surgery 

• Urology

Exploring opportunties for:

Our clinical support service teams have also been fully involved in discussions so far for Phase 
Two and have helped to develop our ‘working list’ of ideas for change. Discussions have been 
focussed on how we can achieve:

• Pharmacy - a ward-based clinical pharmacy service operating seven days a week 
across both sites to ensure patients get the same level of service no matter what day 
of the week they are in hospital and their discharge home is not delayed

• Therapies - multi-disciplinary assessment and rehabilitation services seven days 
a week for all inpatients undergoing a complex or high risk operation as well as 
patients being admitted as medical emergencies

• Diagnostic imaging - timely access to radiology services for both planned and 
emergency patients who need x-rays and scans. 

Page 196

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


21Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change - Summary

Across the NHS, we have seen the demand 
for diagnostic imaging grow consistently at 
approximately 10% per year nationally in 
the last decade and this is also true in South 
Tyneside and Sunderland. We are already 
thinking long-term about how we can meet 
this continued expected growth in demand 
for diagnostics in line with our ambition to 
achieve clinical excellence for our patients. 

Early discussions are currently taking place 
on plans to develop a new state-of-the-art 
Integrated Diagnostic and Imaging Centre 
at South Tyneside District Hospital which 
would offer world-class diagnostics, serving 
both populations in South Tyneside and 
Sunderland. Although these discussions are 
still subject to a formal business planning and 
approval process which would require capital 
investment, we feel this would futureproof 
our services and allow for the anticipated 
growth in activity over the next ten years 
across South Tyneside and Sunderland. This 
emerging idea for a world-class diagnostics 
centre would feature across all of our 
‘working list’ ideas subject to the internal 
business planning process of the Trusts:

Early discussions are currently taking place on plans to develop 
a new state-of-the-art Integrated Diagnostic and Imaging Centre 
at South Tyneside District Hospital which would offer world-class 

diagnostics and serve both local populations.

South Tyneside Sunderland

“Plans for a new 
state-of-the-
art Integrated 
Diagnostic 
and Imaging 
Centre at South 
Tyneside District 
Hospital would 
future-proof our 
services for many 
years to come.” 

Page 197



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk          nhsexcellence         @NHSexcellence22

What else do we need to consider?

As well as the clinical drivers for changing 
hospital services, we know there are a whole 
variety of other factors which are important 
to local people and we will need to carefully 
consider these in all of our ‘working list’ 
ideas.
 
 
Travel and transport

We know that ambulance service capacity for 
transferring emergency patients is something 
that we need to very carefully think about. 
The North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust continues to be fully and 
actively engaged in discussion during Phase 
Two.

We also know that we need to think about 
the travel and transport implications for 
friends family visiting loved ones in hospital. 
Our travel and transport ‘stakeholder 
working group’ is progressing work following 
feedback from Phase One. One initiative is 
looking at new publicity and information 
summarising bus and metro links that serve 
each hospital site including walking routes 
into sites and increasing the visibility of public 
transport stops.

Following the recent capital 
announcement made in December 
2018, the NHS Long Term Plan confirms 
that further capital investment will 
be considered in the 2019 Spending 
Review which is expected in summer. 

Our ‘working ideas’ contained within 
this document are therefore made on 
the assumption that further capital 
resource will be made available to the 
local NHS to facilitate transformational 
service change. Until we are clear 
on the likely capital investment to 
be allocated to the NHS in South 
Tyneside and Sunderland, this may 
impact on the level of change which is 
possible and therefore which ‘working 
ideas’ are likely to be developed as 
scenarios to take forward for full public 
consultation. 

Financial impact 

We are currently working through the 
detailed financial modelling to understand 
the long term financial sustainability for 
each of our ‘working list’ ideas. At this 
point in time we are clear, however, that 
capital investment will be required in order 
for significant transformational change to 
take place. This is particularly the case for 
our ‘some’ and ‘greater’ change working 
list ideas. 

Page 198

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


23Path to Excellence Phase Two - Updated Draft Case for Change - Summary

We have already captured over 9,000 views as 
part of our engagement work so far on Phase 
Two. This has helped us develop some draft 
‘desirable evaluation criteria’ covering the 
following key themes:

• Quality, safety and clinical 
sustainability

• Financial sustainability 

• Impact on equality, health and health 
inequalities

• Access and choice

• Deliverability 

Widespread engagement activity will now 
take place with staff, patients, the public, 
as well as with all key stakeholders to gain 
feedback on our ‘working list’ of ideas. We 
would also like to understand what matters 
most to you when accessing hospital services. 
All feedback will be considered as part of 
the pre-consultation business case to help 
determine the scenarios to take forward for 
formal public consultation later in 2019.

What are the next steps?

Expected key milestones over the coming months

Publish updated Draft Case for Change 
and ‘working ideas’ so far

Staff, patient and public engagement to gather  
feedback on ‘working ideas’ and draft evaluation criteria

Agree final evaluation criteria

External clinical and non-clinical assurances of any 
proposed changes and new ways of working

Formal public consultation expected 
September 2019

O
n

g
o

in
g

 s
ta

ff
 a

n
d

 p
at

ie
n

t 
/ 

p
u

b
lic

 e
n

g
ag

em
en

t 

February 
2019

September 
2019

Page 199



Website: www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Email us: nhs.excellence@nhs.net 

Call us on: 0191 217 2670

facebook.com/nhsexcellence or @nhsexcellence

We have lots of ways for you to get involved and give your views on Phase Two. The best way to 
find out what is going on is to look at our dedicated website at: www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk 
which includes up-to-date documents, links to surveys and details of up and coming events. We 
also widely promote activities through the media, online and via key partners and stakeholder 
groups. You can also reach us at any time via:

Write to us (no stamp required):
Freepost RTUS–LYHZ–BRLE
North of England Commissioning Support
Riverside House
Goldcrest Way
NEWCASTLE UPON TYNE
NE15 8NY

How to get involved with Phase Two

We would like to know:

What do you think of our ‘working ideas’ so far? 

How can we shape and improve them? 

What other ideas do you think we should be considering? 

Page 200

www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk
mailto:nhs.excellence@nhs.net
http://facebook.com/nhsexcellence
http://www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk


www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

P
age 201



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Sharing our working ideas – some important 

caveats:

2

• This is NOT formal public consultation

• We are currently in a period of enhanced pre-consultation 

engagement, learning from Phase One and in line with The 

Consultation Institute best practice

• This will help gather views to help influence final suggested 

scenarios for formal public consultation

P
age 202



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Phase Two – Story so far

3

P
age 203



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk 4

Process for developing ideas

P
age 204



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Background: A reminder of our case for change

5

P
age 205



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Workforce – looking to the future

6

• Whilst not critical shortages like Phase One, still 

significant difficulties in Phase 2.

• Our hospital workforce would have to grow by 16%      

(1,500 staff) in South Tyneside and Sunderland to be 

able to meet demand by 2025 and staff services as they 

are configured (analysis by Health Education England).

• Workforce ‘market’ is already competitive and this will 

get considerably harder in the future – we must make it 

attractive to come and work with us

“The World 

Health 

Organisation 

(WHO) 

estimates we 

will be globally 

short of 18 

million health 

workers by 

2030”

P
age 206



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Context and bigger picture

7

P
age 207



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Which hospital services are involved in Phase 

Two?

8

P
age 208



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

What is the ambition?

9

• Striving for ‘clinical excellence’ and best possible outcomes 

for patients  

• Better access to consultant-led specialist care 7 days a week

• Reduce variations which currently exist in outcomes and 

experience

• Creating hospital services which attract key staff to 

South Tyneside and Sunderland

P
age 209



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

BUT…

10

• We have to do things differently if we want to offer truly 

excellent services and the best possible clinical outcomes 

for each and every person

• Currently rated ‘requires improvement’ in South Tyneside 

and ‘good’ in Sunderland

• We want to be recognised nationally as ‘OUTSTANDING’

P
age 210



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Current 

state

SRH STDH

Urgent Treatment Centre Urgent Care Hub

24/7 ED 24/7 ED

Acute medical assessment & Short stay

(unselected take)

Acute medical assessment & Short stay

(unselected take)

Medical specialty beds General medical beds with specialty interest 

Specialist cardiology care General cardiology care 

Ambulatory Emergency Care Ambulatory Emergency Care

AM frailty assessment Nurse-led frailty assessment

Emergency and Elective Endoscopy Emergency and Elective Endoscopy

T&O Trauma T&O Trauma

T&O elective T&O elective

T&O Day case T&O Day case

Emergency General Surgery Emergency General Surgery

Elective General Surgery Elective General Surgery

General Surgery Day case General Surgery Day case

Critical care – level 2&3 Critical care – level 2&3

P
age 211



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Working idea: Least change

12

this will require capital 

investment 

P
age 212



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Working idea: Least change

13

this will require capital 

investment 

• Only impact is if you need an operation, either planned (Sunderland and 

Durham residents) or as an emergency (South Tyneside) – outpatients 

and pre-assessment being retained locally (under all ideas)

• From an emergency assessment and admission point of view most 

patients would be seen and treated where they currently are.

• Quantifying the elective impact is more complicated (the next slides will 

show indicative figures)

• Growing list of examples of areas across the country who have done this

• Our clinicians support the national expert view that this will mean people 

get operated on sooner and have better outcomes.

P
age 213



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Impact analysis

14

• Initial impact analysis on potential activity flows has been carried out 

independently by the North East Commissioning Support unit. 

• These are indicative figures only and based on activity from 2017/18. 

The analysis is currently being updated for 2018/19 and the results of 

this data refresh is expected early in July. This data will need to be 

validated further.

• This will be shared with colleagues once available.

• It is important to note that in all of the ideas the outpatient and pre-

assessment services remain unchanged, i.e. if you access SRH for 

these services now, you will still be able to do so in the future.

• There will be still elective surgery carried out at SRH and only a 

comparatively relatively small number of patients (in Orthopaedics and 

General Surgery only) will be effected.

P
age 214



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Impact analysis – comparison between CCGs

15

ND/DDES, 3%

SCCG, 12%

STCCG, 86%

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

Later slides will show in more detail the quantum of patients. In relative terms 

the highest proportion of people impacted are from South Tyneside. 

P
age 215



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Impact analysis – proportion of surgery inpatients 

currently using SRH / all providers

16

Using the Easington area as an example – clearly there will be an impact for other areas as well.

Location
Number of 

patients 
imapcted

Proportion 
of patients 
impacted 

compared to 
SRH acivity

Blackhalls 4 23%
Dawdon 44 32%
Deneside 46 38%
Easington 22 40%
Horden 9 24%
Murton 39 38%
Passfield 3 15%
Peterlee East 7 20%
Peterlee West 11 26%
Seaham 29 34%
Shotton and South Hetton 21 35%
Trimdon and Thornley 1 7%
Easington Average 237 32%

26%

74%

SRH Other

A quarter of patients currently use 

Sunderland Royal Hospital for elective 

surgery
A third of Easington patients who currently use 

Sunderland Royal Hospital for elective surgery 

will be impacted under the proposals

P
age 216



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Working idea: Least change

17

Table below shows the maximum number of inpatients who could be 

impacted on from an elective surgery point of view. 

Durham residents (ND & DDES):

• For T&O elective, only primary hips and knees (all other elective T&O 

inpatients would be still carried out at SRH), will be carried out at STDH = 

155 patients. For context this is 4% of the total T&O elective inpatients 

for the CCGs.

• For General Surgery, theoretically the majority of surgical elective 

patients currently operated on at SRH would be done at STDH, minus 

robotic surgery patients = 212 patients. For context this is 9% of the total 

General Surgery elective inpatients for the CCGs.

P
age 217



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Working idea: Least change

18

Table below shows the maximum number of day cases who could be 

impacted on from an day case point of view. 

DDES/ND residents:

• T&O day cases: worst case = 585, likely case= 293

• General Surgery: worst case = 693, likely case = 347

There isn`t enough spare capacity at STDH to accommodate all of the day 

case activity, even with the shift of emergency work to SRH. Therefore only 

around 50% of these patients would be operated at STDH, i.e. the likely 

case numbers.

P
age 218



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Impact analysis – proportion of day case surgery 

patients currently using SRH / all providers

19

Using the Easington area as an example – clearly there will be an impact for other areas as well.

Just less than 30% of patients currently use 

Sunderland Royal Hospital for day case 

surgery
Around a quarter of patients who currently use 

Sunderland Royal Hospital for day case surgery 

will be impacted under the proposals

29%

71%

SRH Other

Location
Number of 

patients 
imapcted

Proportion of 
patients impacted 
compared to SRH 

acivity
Blackhalls 6 13%
Dawdon 89 23%
Deneside 92 26%
Easington 29 21%
Horden 21 24%
Murton 87 30%
Passfield 17 27%
Peterlee East 17 19%
Peterlee West 18 19%
Seaham 74 27%
Shotton and South Hetton 30 20%
Trimdon and Thornley 3 6%
Easington Average 479 24%

P
age 219



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Working idea: Some change

20

this will require capital 

investment 

P
age 220



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Working idea: Some change

21

this will require capital 

investment 

• What does this mean?

• The surgical changes and the benefits they bring remain the same

• Urgent care facilities will be available at both sites 24/7

• If you need to be admitted to hospital you could still be admitted to your 

local hospital via referral from your GP or other healthcare professional

• Only if you need emergency specialist assessment or treatment would you 

need to be seen in Sunderland and this would be for conditions like a 

suspected heart attack, a GI bleed, a head injury or suspected trauma

P
age 221



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Working idea: Some change (partial consolidation)

22

• This has been the most difficult idea to clearly define.

• A lot of work has been done on identifying and quantifying 

what could be accommodated within a selected medical 

take within an Acute Medical Assessment at STDH (include 

acute frailty).

• Further deliverability testing with GPs, NEAS and 

community teams required.

• The next couple of slides will describe some of the work to 

date.

P
age 222



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

P
age 223



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Working idea: Some change

24

• Impact predominantly on South Tyneside patients –

Sunderland and Durham urgent and emergency medical 

flows unchanged. 

• 30% drift to Gateshead/Newcastle modelled (for medical 

assessment activity only as UTC will still be at STDH).

• Variable activity based on mode of arrival, acuity and 

‘gatekeeper’ clinical assessment and decisions.

P
age 224



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Working idea: Some change

25

Annual flow of STDH ED attendances (49,157*) under this idea (after 30% drift to QE/RVI):

STDH UTC

*11 months data 18/19

11,893

All low acuity 

self-

presenting 

attendances

Acute medical assessment unit at STDH (incl. 

AEC)

Acute medical assessment unit at STDH (incl. 

AEC)

• 7,286  (50% of frailty activity and self-

presenting and non-emergency ambulance 

GP/111-referred activity)

• 10,826 (all frailty & all GP/NHS 111 referred 

activity, all arrival modes)

SRH

SRH

Between 18-

20,000

• Between 39-46% of STDH ED medical activity would remain local

P
age 225



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Working idea: Greater change

26

this will require capital 

investment 

P
age 226



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Working idea: Greater change

27

this will require capital 

investment 

• What does this mean?

• The surgical changes and the benefits they bring remain the same

• Urgent care facilities will still be available at both sites 24/7

• Some ‘Same Day Emergency Care’ capacity would remain in South Tyneside 

• Whilst this idea see the most change in where people will be seen, it does 

offer the most sustainable idea from a workforce point of view, but clearly this 

is only one aspect that needs to be considered

• This idea does require the most capital investment in terms of deliverability.

P
age 227



www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk

Relative benefits of each ideas - workforce

• Single site on call for T&O and General Surgery negating the 

duplication of middle grade and junior doctor rotas. 

• Potential for more sustainable staffing models and greater resilience by 

working together as one clinical and nursing team

• Potential for positive impact on recruitment through ‘single team 

working’ 

• Potential opportunities for career progression and staff development by 

developing new innovative workforce models 

• Consolidation of consultant, middle grade and junior doctor rotas for 

ED increasing resilience particularly out of hours.

• Consolidation of consultant, middle grade and junior doctor rotas for 

acute medicine increasing resilience particularly out of hours

• Consolidation of ITU staffing including on call commitments 

P
age 228



Members 
Durham County Council, County Hall, Durham  DH1 5UQ 
Main Telephone (03000) 260000   Minicom (0191) 383 3802   Text 07786 02 69 56  

 

 

 

 

Website: www.durham.gov.uk 
 

 
 

 

Contact: Cllr John Robinson 
Direct Tel:   03000 268140 
e-mail:  
Your ref:  
Our ref:  

 
 
The Path to Excellence South Tyneside  
and Sunderland Consultation, 
Freepost RTUS-LYHZ-BRLE, 
North of England Commissioning Support, 
Riverside House, 
Goldcrest Way, 
Newcastle-upon-Tyne. 
NE15 8NY  

 
 9 October 2017 

 
Dear Sir,  
 
South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Partnership - Path to Excellence 
Consultation 
 
I would like to thank the representatives of the South Tyneside and Sunderland 
NHS Partnership for attending the special meeting of Durham County Council’s 
Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 6 September 
2017 to discuss the statutory consultation being undertaken in respect of the 
proposed changes to stroke; maternity (obstetrics); women’s healthcare 
(gynaecology) and children and young people’s healthcare (urgent and 
emergency paediatrics). 
 
Following consideration of the strategic context for the NHS, the Path to 
Excellence proposals and the impact upon County Durham patients, the 
Committee wish to make the following comments as their formal response to 
the statutory consultation. 
 
Strategic context and rationale for change. 
 
The Committee notes that the rationale for change is largely based upon two 
factors. Firstly, there are increasing workforce pressure across the NHS and 
which are being experienced within the South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS 
Partnership. These relate to an insufficient number of senior staff being 
available to cover services on a 24/7 basis across multiple sites and which has 
led to an overreliance on locum staff at a higher cost. Secondly, royal colleges 
across health service professions have stressed the importance of having 
centres of excellence within which there is an optimum level of throughput in 
terms of patient numbers and procedures undertaken to ensure required 

APPENDIX 5 

Page 229



standards of professional competencies are maintained. These in turn make 
such centres more attractive to potential new employees. 
 
The Committee is concerned at the lack of robust workforce planning at a 
national level for which the Secretary of State for Health should bear some 
responsibility. Across the breadth of NHS Services, the Committee has 
consistently been advised that service change is necessary in order to address 
staffing shortages and enable viable shifts/rotas to be maintained. This must be 
addressed urgently. The Committee also believe that action should be taken at 
a local level by NHS Foundation Trusts and Clinical Commissioning Groups 
working with the region’s Universities to examine how health professional 
qualifications can be made more attractive as a career choice. 
 
General comments on the Path to Excellence Programme proposals 
 
The Committee has received presentations earlier this year in respect of draft 
Sustainability and Transformation Plans that have been developed covering 
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham (NTWND STP) footprint 
and the Durham, Darlington, Teesside, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby 
(DDTHRW STP) footprint. In respect of the NTWND STP, the Committee has 
been advised that this was a series of pre-existing plans for service change, of 
which the Path to Excellence programme appears to be one such plan. Whilst 
acknowledging the work undertaken to date in respect of the programme, the 
Committee are concerned that service changes agreed under the Path to 
Excellence programme will be implemented without recourse to any potential 
impact upon other areas within the two STP footprints. Accordingly, the 
Committee would seek assurances that dialogue is taking place across STP 
boundaries and that any cross boundary implications of service changes are 
fully explored and mitigated against. 
 
Members are also aware that frequently service changes within the NHS may 
have an impact upon local authority health and social care services and 
associated budgets. The Committee would seek assurances that appropriate 
dialogue takes place with affected local authorities including Durham County 
Council on any unintended consequences of any service changes agreed 
following the Path to Excellence programme consultation. 
 
In terms of the potential impact of the Path to Excellence programme proposals 
on residents of County Durham, it appears that the options across all four 
service areas appear to favour centralisation on the Sunderland Royal Hospital 
site. As a consequence of this the Committee acknowledges that there should 
be little adverse impact upon the residents of County Durham. 
 
Stroke Services 
 
Whilst accepting that the number of County Durham residents treated for stroke 
within the Sunderland and South Tyneside is relatively small, there will be a 

Page 230



potential impact upon the local authority in terms of discharge planning 
arrangements post-acute treatment. It is therefore essential that whichever 
option is agreed, Durham County Council adult and social care staff are 
involved in any discharge planning processes subsequently developed. 
 
The Committee notes the recent poor performance of South Tyneside District 
Hospital and Sunderland Royal Hospital in terms of their Sentinel Stroke 
National Audit report scores and welcomes the recent improvements that have 
been demonstrated following the temporary changes made to stroke services in 
January 2017 and which form the basis for the model proposed in Option 1. 
 
During consideration of the stroke service proposals, there were concerns 
raised by the Committee that stroke service patients would continue to be 
triaged in A&E by specialist stroke staff rather than being directly admitted to a 
dedicated stroke ward (which the Committee is aware happens within County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust at University Hospital North 
Durham). The Committee would welcome assurances that whatever the model 
implemented, stroke patients would be admitted directly to a dedicated stroke 
ward/unit, bypassing A&E and ensuring that they receive the necessary 
treatment as quickly as possible. 
 
The Committee appreciates that the centralisation of stroke services on a single 
site, whilst delivering better potential outcomes for patients, may result in 
increased travel times to services for some patients. The existing pressure upon 
the North East Ambulance Service (NEAS) in terms of ambulance response 
times and transfer delays are well documented and known to the Committee. It 
is considered vital that the views of NEAS on the proposed options for stroke 
services are known and that any potential increase in ambulatory travel times 
are factored into the decision making process. 
 
Proposed development of Durham Treatment Centre, Belmont 
 
In November 2016, the Committee received information regarding the 
development of a Treatment Centre at Belmont Durham by Sunderland City 
Hospital’s NHS FT which would provide services such as Renal services, 
Ophthalmology and Urology services to patients including County Durham 
residents. Whilst noting that these services are not part of the current Path to 
Excellence programme, the Committee seeks assurances that the proposed 
development will not be compromised in any future service reconfigurations. 
 
 
Finally, the Committee requests that a further report detailing the results of the 
Path to Excellence consultation process be brought back to the Adults 
Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee scheduled for 19 
January 2018 before a final decision is taken by South Tyneside and 
Sunderland CCGs. 
 

Page 231



Yours faithfully, 
 
  
 

 
 
Cllr John Robinson 
Chair of the Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Durham County Council 
 
 
 

Page 232



 

 

 

 

Adults and Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 

 04 July 2019 

County Durham Oral Health Strategy 

Update 

 Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Gill O’Neill, Deputy Director of Public Health, County 
Durham 

Chris Woodcock, Public Health Strategic Manager 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report is to update Adults and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (OSC) on the progress being made with the County Durham 
oral health strategy and provide an overview of activity to date to tackle 
oral health inequalities across County Durham. 

2 The report requests that OSC participate in an extended discussion on 
oral health for County Durham towards the end of 2019. 

Executive summary 

3 Local authorities have statutory responsibility for the promotion of good 
oral health and also the legislation states that Local Authorities have 
statutory responsibility and decision making as to the fluoridation of 
water.   

 

 

Page 233

Agenda Item 9



4 While children’s oral health has improved over the last twenty years, a 
quarter (25.8%) of five-year olds in County Durham still had tooth decay 
in 2016/17 as highlighted in the joint strategic needs assessment (see 
Durham Insight). This was higher than England (23.3%) and the North 
East (23.9%)1 

5 Children and Young People’s OSC (September 2016) and Adults and 
Health OSC (October 2016) and then Cabinet (December 2017), Health 
and Wellbeing Board (January 2017), have all been supportive of the 
Oral Health Strategy. County Durham’s local dental committee (LDC), 
paediatricians and anaesthetists are also very supportive and actively 
engaged in the oral health strategy group. 

6 The oral health strategy is making good progress and is going through a 
refresh to have a revised strategy in place for April 2020. 

Recommendation(s) 

7 Adults and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended 
to: 

(a) Note the progress made on the oral health action plan and next 
steps for delivery; 

(b) Decide whether an extended meeting to review oral health is of 
interest to members late 2019. 

Background 

Oral health inequalities 

8 Oral health is important for general health and wellbeing.  Poor oral 
health can affect someone’s ability to eat, speak, smile and socialise 
normally, for example due to pain or social embarrassment. Tooth 
decay is the most common oral disease affecting children and young 
people in England, yet it is largely preventable. Tooth ache and the 
need for dental treatment is one of the main reasons for school 
absenteeism. 

9 While children’s oral health has improved over the last twenty years, a 
quarter (25.8%) of five year olds in County Durham still had tooth decay 
in 2016/17. This was higher than England (23.3%) and the North East 
(23.9%)2. 

                                         
1 Children with one or more decayed, missing or filled teeth 2016/17, Oral Health Profile, PHE 
Fingertips 
2 Children with one or more decayed, missing or filled teeth 2016/17, Oral Health Profile, PHE 
Fingertips 

Page 234



10 The public health strategic plan for County Durham has a focus on the 
best start in life with the aim of improving healthy life expectancy.  
Reducing oral health inequalities is a priority as identified in the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment. 

11 Data from the 2012 large scale dental survey of five year old children’s 
oral health in County Durham showed wide variations in dental disease 
experience between different electoral divisions, from 61% of children 
having had decay experience in Woodhouse Close (Bishop Auckland) 
to just 6% in Chester-Le-Street South. This highlighted a need to narrow 
the gap in oral health inequalities. When comparing geographies for 
similar levels of deprivation as Woodhouse Close, Craghead & South 
Moor, and Stanley (both in the Derwentside area which receives 
fluoridated water) have 37% of children with decayed, missing or filled 
teeth.  

12 The 2017 survey again highlighted wide variations in dental decay at 
electoral ward level within County Durham, from 47% in Peterlee East 
to 7% in Seaham.  

 

Oral Health Strategy Update 

13 Following public and stakeholder consultation the County Durham Oral 
Health Strategy went to the Health and Wellbeing Board on the 31st 
January 2017 and Cabinet on 15th March 2017 for approval. The oral 

Page 235



health strategy group, which meets once a quarter to review progress, 
is led by public health and includes the chair of the local dental 
committee, a consultant paediatrician, public health dental consultant, 
early years, children’s early help and commissioning. Below is a 
summary of progress to date against the action plan. 

Table 1: Update against oral health action plan 

Setting Update against key milestones/objectives 

Early years 
settings 

Dental practices and health visitors have been aligned to each early 
years setting and family centre to provide proactive support on oral 
health and visiting the dentist 

50 multi-disciplinary practitioners have undergone oral health ‘train 
the trainer’ to become oral health champions and cascade the 
training 

All early years settings in top 20% most deprived communities have 
received training on oral health promotion and are rolling out a tooth 
brushing scheme 

Families identified through home environment assessment tool 
(HEAT) as not having access to tooth brushes and tooth paste are 
now provided with a child’s tooth brush, timer and tooth paste and 
taught how to routinely brush the children’s teeth 

Primary Schools Sugar Smart campaign promoted to schools in autumn term 
2018/19.  

Development of schools health and wellbeing framework will include 
promotion of oral health 

Work on holiday hunger through the child poverty sub group 
recommends adherence to school food standards which provides 
low sugar options  

Special schools Oral health promotion team provide training to schools, parents and 
class room delivery including dedicated work during national smile 
week 

Workplace and 
community 
settings 

DCC vending: 90% soft drinks less than 5g added sugar and 80% 
confectionary and sweets 250 calories and below 

Breastfeeding friendly venues – Dalton Park working on this in 
every shop 

Healthy living pharmacies have oral health as one of their 5 local 
priorities to promote 

Healthy eating and oral health part of Better Health at Work award 

Page 236



Vulnerable 
groups 

Implementation of denture labelling in care homes. Pilot in 
Darlington proven cost effective at £70 per care home.  Requires 
consideration in County Durham  

98 care homes have received oral health promotion support 

A dental neglect conference was held in May 2019 to highlight the 
safeguarding concerns regarding dental decay.  A well-attended 
multi-disciplinary group of professionals attended to consider ways 
to raise the profile of dental neglect and importantly what to do 
about it. 

Explore 
feasibility of 
water 
fluoridation 
scheme in 
County Durham 

In December 2017 Cabinet and Health and Wellbeing Board 
received an update paper providing the initial findings from the desk 
top study undertaken by Northumbrian Water.  Within this report it 
was highlighted that County Durham could not progress to a more 
in-depth technical appraisal without joint working with Sunderland 
and South Tyneside Local Authorities.  With approval from Cabinet 
the two affected local authorities were approached and agreed to 
work with County Durham.   

In May 2018 a detailed technical appraisal was commissioned by 
Durham County Council with Sunderland LA and South Tyneside 
LA to determine how plausible, from an operational and cost 
effectiveness perspective, a community water fluoridation scheme 
would be.  NHS England contributed to the costs of this study.  

Earlier in 2019 the draft technical report was shared by 
Northumbrian Water for consideration by the oral health strategy 
group. A report is being developed for cabinet (see appendix two for 
the due process to be adhered to for the expansion of a community 
water fluoridation scheme) 

 

Next Steps for Oral Health Strategy 2019/20 

14 The oral health strategy working group are reviewing all outstanding 
actions and auditing activity to refresh the plan for April 2020.   

15 The sustainability of the early years tooth brushing scheme requires 
consideration if County Durham would wish to expand into early years 
settings in the top 30% most deprived communities. The evidence 
recommends tooth brushing schemes in primary schools so there is 
work on going to scope the scheme progressing into key stage one. 

16 The proactive call to action for increasing breastfeeding will have an 
impact on the oral health of children so the two areas of work are being 
considered collectively. 

Page 237



17 The development and subsequent roll out of the schools Health and 
Wellbeing framework is a priority for 2019/20 and oral health is a core 
component. 

18 The Better Health at Work award is the mechanism to promote the 
sugar smart message to workplaces as well as make contact with 
parents about the importance of regular dental visits. 

19 The care home denture labelling programme is cost effective and would 
align well with caring for some of the most vulnerable older people in 
County Durham. This programme would reduce the need for dental 
appointments for older residents with dementia who require dentures 
being re-fitted when misplaced. 

20 As part of the evidence based oral health strategy to reduce 
inequalities, County Durham has received the Northumbrian Water draft 
technical appraisal to determine whether it is possible, from an 
operational and cost efficiency perspective, to extend County Durham’s 
community water fluoridation scheme.  Officers are in the process of 
compiling a report for Cabinet. 

Main Implications 

21 The County Durham oral health action plan is making good progress 
against objectives and will be reviewed and refreshed for April 2020. 

22 The County Durham Oral Health strategy group is reviewing the draft 
technical appraisal from Northumbrian Water in relation to the 
expansion of a community fluoridation scheme and developing a report 
for cabinet later in 2019. 

Conclusion 

23 The oral health inequalities in County Durham are stark when 
considering the latest dental survey of five year olds. Much of the 
inequalities could be tackled through the actions outlined within the oral 
health strategy. County Durham is making positive progress with the 
oral heath strategy actions.   

Contact: Gill O’Neill, Deputy Director 
Public Health 
 
Chris Woodcock, Public Health    
Strategic Manager 

Tel:  03000 267696 
 
 
Tel   03000 267672 
 

   

 

 

Page 238



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The process of making a fluoridation scheme is regulated by the Water 

Industry Act 1991 and the Water Fluoridation (Proposals and Consultation) 

(England) Regulations 2013. 

Finance 

Oral health tooth brushing scheme expansion would require additional costs 

within baseline budget which public health are considering.  

The denture labelling equipment is £70.00 per care home. 

Consultation 

A full and comprehensive consultation would be undertaken with affected local 

authorities and all affected residents should the draft technical appraisal from 

Northumbrian Water recommend the scheme to be operable and efficient and 

cabinet choose to progress in the next stage of the legislative process. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Public health aims to reduce inequalities and improve health outcomes by 

reviewing PH outcomes data and developing relevant policies, strategies and 

intentions as appropriate.  

Human Rights 

Fluoridation is the adjustment of the level of fluoride to secure improvements 

in oral health. In over 70 years of schemes operating across the world. There 

has been no successful human rights challenge to this public health measure 

in the UK, EU or USA. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not Applicable. 

Staffing 

The DCC public health team coordinate and lead the oral health strategy and 

action plan working closely with multi-disciplinary partners. 

Accommodation 

Not Applicable. 

 

Page 239



Risk 

The oral health strategy is reviewed against milestones to ensure actions are 

on target. If the actions within the plan are not progressed the risks to 

population health are that the gap in inequalities will not be reduced and 

residents will continue to have preventable dental treatment and tooth 

extractions which impacts on all aspects of life. 

Procurement 

Not applicable at this stage.

 

  

Page 240



Appendix 2:  Due Process Flow Chart 

 

 

 

 

Page 241



This page is intentionally left blank



Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview & 

Scrutiny Meeting 

04 July 2019 

Adult and Health Services Update 

Ordinary Decision   

 

Report of Jane Robinson Corporate Director of Adult and Health 

Service 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide Scrutiny with a summary of developments across Adult and 
Health Services.  

Executive summary 

2 This report provides an update on a number of key policies and 
guidance affecting adult social care including the NHS Long Term Plan, 
amendments to the Mental Capacity Act and a review of the Mental 
Health Act.  

3 Progress is provided on reviews of local services including Mental 
Health Services, Learning Disability Services and the restructure of 
Intermediate Care Plus. Updates on the project to replace the Social 
Services Information Database (SSID) and work on adult care 
transformation are also outlined.  

Recommendation 

4 Scrutiny is recommended to: 

(a) To note the contents of the report. 
(b) To agree to receive further updates in relation to Adult and Health 

Service developments on a six monthly basis. 

  

Page 243

Agenda Item 10



Background 

5 This report provides an update to Scrutiny on key developments 
affecting Adult and Health Services.  

6 The report outlines a number of key policies affecting adult social care 
including developments such as the NHS Long Term Plan, 
amendments to the Mental Capacity Act and a review of the Mental 
Health Act. Implications for the County Council and partners are 
outlined where possible. 

7 Progress is provided on reviews of local services including Mental 
Health Services, Learning Disability Services and the restructure of 
Intermediate Care Plus. Updates on the project to replace the Social 
Services Information Database (SSID) and work on adult care 
transformation are also outlined.  

Policy Issues 

NHS Long Term Plan  

8 The NHS Long Term Plan was published on 7 January 2019 and 
provides a 10 year focus to tackle the big killers and disablers of 
wellbeing (heart attacks, strokes, cancers) and addressing unmet need, 
particularly in Learning Disability, Autism and Mental Health. 

9 A significant element of the plan focuses on increasing the workforce 
and developing emerging roles to enable greater flexibility within the 
workforce. The majority of the additional £20bn will be spent on this 
area. 

10 The Long Term Plan outlines the need for the NHS to deliver services in 
partnership with local authorities. A key focus of this is the requirement 
to deliver a new model of care that builds on the drive to provide more 
services closer to home, rather than in hospital. This aims to provide 
patients with more options, better support, and properly joined-up care 
at the right time in the optimal care setting. This will include genuinely 
integrated teams of GPs, community health and social care staff. 
Expanded community health teams will also be required to provide fast 
support to people in their own homes as an alternative to 
hospitalisation, and to increase NHS support for people living in care 
homes. 

11 An increased focus on the development and implementation of 
Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) is highlighted in the plan with ICSs 
being embedded across the country by April 2021. These will have a 
key role working with local authorities at ‘place’ level, and through ICSs, 
commissioners will make shared decisions with providers on population 

Page 244



health, service redesign and Long Term Plan implementation. Plans are 
underway to develop an ICS for North Cumbria and the North East 
which will support collaboration, identify and act on shared priorities, 
and strengthen co-ordination of services to improve the health of 
patients and residents, whilst using resources effectively. 

12 The NHS Long Term Plan identifies continued support to local 
approaches to blending health and social care budgets where councils 
and CCGs agree this makes sense. This is consistent with emerging 
good practice across the country. The Plan identifies four optional 
models that have been shown to work individually or in combination 
when supported by local partners:  

(a) Voluntary budget pooling between a council and CCG for some or 
all of their responsibilities. 

(b) Individual service user budget pooling through personal health 
and social care budgets. 

(c) The Salford model where the local authority has asked the NHS 
to oversee a pooled budget for all adult health and care services 
with a joint commissioning team. 

(d) The model where the CCG and local authority ask the chief 
executive of NHS England to designate the council chief 
executive or director of adult social care as the CCG accountable 
officer. 
 

13 Prevention is a key element to the Plan; “action by the NHS is a 
complement to, but cannot be a substitute for, the important role for 
local government”, and the ability to draw on the wider determinants of 
health through working across the wider responsibilities of local 
authorities such as planning, education, housing, social care and 
economic development are emphasised. 

14 Whilst noting the positives of public health services being delivered 
through local authorities the Plan alludes to future possible 
arrangements by suggesting that the Government and NHS will 
consider whether there is a stronger role for the “NHS in commissioning 
sexual health services, health visitors, and school nurses, and what 
best future commissioning arrangements might therefore be”.  

15 A new approach to young adult mental health services for people aged 
18-25 is identified; this focuses on a comprehensive offer for 0-25 year 
olds that reaches across mental health services for children, young 
people and adults. The Plan provides a focus on a new model that will 
deliver an integrated approach across health, social care, education and 
the voluntary sector. 

Page 245



16 Future work will include a review of the Better Care Fund (BCF) that 
should conclude later in 2019. It is expected to continue a clear plan to 
reduce delayed transfers of care (DTOCs) and improve the availability 
of care packages for patients ready to leave hospital. It also confirms 
that the Government’s Spending Review will set out details of the NHS 
capital budget and funding for education and training, as well as the 
local government settlement to cover public health and adult social care 
services. It notes that further proposals for social care and health 
integration will also be set out in the forthcoming Green Paper on adult 
social care. 

17 A planning group, reporting to the Integrated Care Board, has been 
established comprising senior officer leads from each partner 
organisation. The role of the planning group is to support the 
coordination and development of the County Durham Health and 
Wellbeing Long Term System Plan. This will include agreement of an 
outline timetable for developing a 5 year plan for Durham, taking into 
consideration the NHS Long Term Plan and Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy, to be completed for autumn 2019. This will involve a 
programme of public and stakeholder engagement events and includes 
the Area Action Partnerships. 

18 The impact upon social care budgets on the direction of travel is difficult 
to predict at this time although population growth is likely to be a key 
driver. Work has recently commenced around predictive modelling to 
enable a more accurate estimation of future need and demand. 

Mental Capacity Act amendments 

19 The Mental Capacity Act 2005 provides a legal framework for acting 
and making decisions on behalf of adults who lack the capacity to make 
particular decisions for themselves. Following a review of the Act the 
Mental Capacity (Amendment) received Royal Assent on 16 May 2019 
and has been introduced to reform the process for authorising 
arrangements which enable people who lack capacity to consent to be 
deprived of their liberty (for the purpose of providing them with care or 
treatment). 
 

20 The new regime created by the Act will replace the existing 
authorisation process, known as Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS), which were introduced in 2009. Those arrangements have 
attracted significant criticism for being too complex and bureaucratic. 
Key court judgments have also widened the interpretation of those who 
should be recognised as having been deprived of their liberty and 
having their human rights breached, with significant implications for 
local authorities and others involved in administering the DoLS scheme. 
 

Page 246



 

21 The reform measures set out in the new Act are intended to: 

(a) Reduce and eliminate the backlog which local authorities currently 
have. This will be done with a streamlined process which will: 

(b) Eliminate Duplication - by embedding Liberty Protection 
Safeguards assessments into existing care planning and 
removing duplication of existing assessments. 

(c) Provide an option to extend the period of renewal for individuals 
with long term conditions from which they are unlikely to recover, 
such as dementia, from one year to up to three years (but only 
after two initial one-year authorisations) 

(d) Reduce bureaucracy by allowing authorisations to apply in more 
than one setting. 

(e) Require three assessments rather than six. 
(f) Ensure that people are supported and afforded their rights 

throughout the process by an ‘appropriate person’ similar to that 
in the Care Act, or the Independent Mental Capacity Advocate 
(“IMCA”). 

(g) Ensure that carers and families play a stronger role in the new 
model, for example through the duty to consult. 

(h) Add checks and balances throughout the model to ensure that 
person’s wishes and feelings inform any authorisation and where 
there are objections, that those cases get a swift and independent 
determination by a new role of the Approved Mental Capacity 
Professional. 

(i) Extend the application beyond hospitals and care homes to a 
wider range of settings including supported living, shared live 
schemes and domestic settings. Currently people who are 
deprived of their liberty in these settings must apply to the Court 
of Protection for access to safeguards. 

(j) Allow NHS organisations and Clinical Commissioning Groups to 
authorise applications in their own settings. 

 
22 Government is still to confirm an implementation date, however it is 

expected that the new legislation will come into force Spring 2020 when 
the amendments will be fully enacted. Significant implications are 
anticipated for local authorities. The impact of these reforms for Durham 
are under consideration; updates will be provided following approval of 
the legislation. 

Mental Capacity Act Code of Practice 

  
23 The Mental Capacity Act Code of Practice (COP) is a key document 

supporting the MCA with practical guidance. The COP illustrates how 
the Act will operate on a day-to-day basis, alongside offering examples 
of best practice to both carers and practitioners, who have a formal duty 

Page 247



to adhere to the code. It also serves as a fundamental piece of 
guidance to friends and family of the individual, to enable them to better 
understand the practical insight the Act offers to those who lack 
capacity. 
 

24 Since the MCA came into force in 2007, the COP has been used 
extensively by a wide range of stakeholders. In light of changes in case 
law, and lessons learned through practical use of the COP over the past 
11 years, revision of the COP is required in order to better reflect 
current needs. A consultation exercise has been undertaken and the 
outcome will be known in due course. This will inform decisions to 
revise, update and, where relevant, provide further guidance in the 
COP. 

Mental Health Act Review 
 

25 Following the commitment made in 2017 to review the Mental Health 
Act 1983, a final report was issued on 6th December 2018 making wide 
ranging recommendations for changes to legislation to address rising 
levels of detentions, evidence of inequality between minority groups and 
to strengthen the rights of people made subject to sections of the Act. 
 

26 The main focus of the recommendations centred around the following 
themes: 
 

(a) People’s wishes and preferences should carry more weight 
(b) Action is needed for people from ethnic minority communities, 

children and young people, people in the criminal justice system, 
and those with a learning disability, autism or both 

(c) The use of compulsion should be targeted and justifications 
should be transparent 

(d) Services should be modernised following modification of laws. 
 

27 The review suggested four principles which should be written into any 
new revision of the Mental Health Act: 

(a) Choice and autonomy – ensuring service users’ views and 
choices are respected 

(b) Least restriction – ensuring the Act’s powers are used in the least 
restrictive way 

(c) Therapeutic benefit – ensuring patients are supported to get 
better, so they can be discharged from the Act 

(d) The person as an individual – ensuring patients are viewed and 
treated as rounded human beings. 

 
28 The theme of improving choice for patients and service users to make 

decisions about their own care and treatment is a central tenet of the 

Page 248



review report and underpins the recommendations on the importance of 
advance notices and how those can become more robust, a right to 
advocacy, for those who find it difficult to make their wishes and 
preferences known, and how these are particularly relevant for those at 
greater risk of discrimination, such as those from a minority ethnicity 
background.  

29 The ability of service users to choose their ‘nearest relative’ who has 
rights and powers to challenge decisions made by healthcare 
professionals also supports greater safeguards around compulsory 
treatment once a person has been admitted to hospital. Currently, 
service users have no say on which of their relatives are contacted 
which can lead to distant or unknown relatives being called upon to 
make important decisions about a person’s care and treatment when 
they are most vulnerable. People will also be able to express their 
preferences for care and treatment and have these listed in statutory 
‘advance choice’ documents. 

30 The government has signalled its intention to introduce a new Mental 
Health Bill to transform mental health care, following publication of the 
final report from the Independent Review of the Mental Health Act. At 
present, there are no indications as to the content or timing of the 
proposed Bill. 

Social Work Regulation 

31 In 2016, it was announced that as part of the government’s social work 
reform programme, Social Work England would be established as a 
new, specialist regulator for social workers in England. The Children 
and Social Work Act 2017 made provision for establishing Social Work 
England. The current regulator, the Health Care and Professions 
Council (HCPC) will continue to provide a regulatory function until the 
transition period is finalised (as yet there is no confirmation of the final 
date). 

32 The new organisation will have three overarching objectives once fully 
established: 

(a) To protect, promote and maintain the health, safety and wellbeing 
of the public. 

(b) To promote and maintain public confidence in social workers in 
England. 

(c) To promote and maintain proper professional standards and 
conduct for Social Workers in England. 

 
33 The functions of Social Work England will include the following: 

(a) Maintain a register of social workers. 

Page 249



(b) Run fitness to practise hearings. 
(c) Set standards for initial education and training and professional 

standards, including standards of proficiency and continuous 
professional development. 

(d) Take on regulation of Best Interests Assessors (BIAs) and 
Approved Mental Health Professionals (AMHPs). 
 

CQC Local Health and Social Care System Reviews 

34 The Care Quality Commission (CQC) undertook a programme of local 
system reviews during 2018 exploring how older people move between 
health and adult social care services. At present 20 of these reviews 
have been completed across England and have highlighted examples of 
practice where leaders in local health and care systems have worked 
well together and supported their teams in providing high quality 
person-centered care. These reports have also outlined examples of 
poor practice where a lack of co-ordination and co-operation between 
services had led to fragmented care and badly affected older people’s 
experiences. 

 
35 Following confirmation from the Department of Health and Social Care 

to the CQC, reviews of local health and social care systems will 
continue. Further details are awaited as to the approach.  
 

Service Delivery 

Review of Adult Mental Health Services 

 

36 Following a review of the current model of the Integrated Adult Mental 
Health Teams between Durham County Council and Tees Esk & Wear 
Valley NHS Trust it has been agreed that the existing functional split of 
services is no longer a viable service delivery model which meets future 
need. This is, in part, due to the changes in the Care Act 2014, 
changing demand for specialist mental health services, the changing 
and more complex presentation of users of services, and the need to 
support staff development, succession planning and skill maintenance. 
 

37 Feedback from staff and services users has also suggested that the 
functional teams were no longer effective in enabling vulnerable service 
users to access the specific interventions they need, which in turn is 
increasing corporate and clinical risk. 
 

38 Whilst not wishing to lose specific functional or professional expertise, 
the review has included a focus on ensuring a truly needs led, outcome 
based service that meets people’s complex health and social care 
needs in the most cost effective way possible and enable risk and 

Page 250



needs to be managed in a streamlined manner. A high level model for 
the new service is under development and includes: 

(a) Access to be managed as a separate entity through a distinct 
team 

(b) Community teams combined to provide a more generic service.  
The exact number and configuration will be determined through 
the review 

(c) Safeguarding being managed and led through the local authority 
structures 

(d) The functions of Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) continue, 
but there may be an opportunity to consider how the expertise 
could be extended to better support transitions across both 
organisations  

(e) Durham County Council dual diagnosis/substance misuse social 
worker will become an additional resource to support Adult Mental 
Health services. 

(f) The Core Approved Mental Health Professional (AMHP) service 
will continue to be a distinct team. AMHPs help identify 
alternatives to compulsory admissions under the Mental Health 
Act, working across local services to support patients and their 
families during assessment. 

 

39 A programme management approach to deliver the reconfiguration of 
services has been established with implementation expected by late 
Summer 2019. This includes a programme board to oversee 
developments, co-chaired by the TEWV Head of Service and the DCC 
Strategic Operations Manager.   

Review of Learning Disability Services  

40 Durham County Council and Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust (TEWV) Operational Steering Group provides joint 
senior management oversight of the integrated learning disability and 
mental health services across County Durham. This integration 
partnership is well established, having been in place for over 10 years. 

41 A report presented to the Operational Steering Group (OSG) in July 
2018 identified a number of issues concerning the staff configuration in 
integrated teams and challenges between the partners on how best to 
manage workflows and deploy our joint resources.  Some short term 
actions were put in place to maintain workforce stability and a strategic 
review of integrated learning disability service commenced in December 
2018. This followed the secondment of a senior manager from TEWV to 
act as a Strategic Project Manager and lead the review process. 

Page 251



42 Within the available staffing budgets, the review seeks to remodel 
where necessary in a way that supports a shared understanding of 
demand, respective professional roles and responsibilities, workload 
complexity and associated risk management. 

43 The Strategic Project Manager is scheduled to share findings and 
recommendations to the OSG early April 2019. This will result in a 
collective decision on the agreed service model moving forward. A 
programme management method which mirrors the approach currently 
being undertaken in the reconfiguration of mental health services will 
then be implemented. At this stage, it is anticipated any subsequent 
remodelling would be implemented from September 2019. 

Practice 
 
Review of the Social Services Information Database (SSID)/Azeus 
Implementation project 
 
44 Since the last update provided in April 2018, the procurement exercise 

for the new adult social care database has been completed, with 
contract award being made to Azeus UK for their Azeus Care product. It 
is intended that the new system will go live from summer 2020. 
 

45 Key areas of activity includes:  

(a) Due diligence actions have been undertaken with only final 

elements of the contract to be confirmed.  

(b) Refresh of project governance arrangements with a revised 

Project Board and Design Authority now in place.   

(c) Provision of external assurance for the project by SOCITIM. The 

SOCITIM team are providing project health checks, supported by 

a programme of project gateway reviews. 

(d) Building of relationships with Newham and East Riding Councils, 

both of whom are also Azeus customers. 

(e) Agreement of project plan with Azeus. 

(f) Delivery of a series of system demonstrations by Azeus to Adult 

social care and finance staff. 

(g) Delivery of a programme of business process reviews (based on 

Lean methodology). These are considering current practice within 

Adult Social Care, identifying areas for improvement and 

developing ‘to be maps’ which will support ICT system 

configuration.  

Page 252



(h) Developing proposals for the data migration strategy we wish to 

adopt, as well as consider data quality and new performance 

management framework requirements. 

(i) Agreeing the approach to be taken for digitisation of documents, 

with work commencing in social work teams to put in place 

standard filing and naming conventions.  

(j) Delivery of system administrator training sessions by Azeus staff 

to core Durham project staff.  

46 More broadly the project is also: 

(a) Working closely with the Children and Young people’s project to 

support implementation of their Liquidlogic system to ensure that 

any lessons learned can be considered. 

(b) Participation in regional work through the Association of Directors 

of Adult Social Care (ADASS) in relation to adoption of the Great 

North Care Record (a new way of sharing medical information 

across the North East and North Cumbria which is accessed by 

authorised health and social care practitioners) as a method to 

improve information sharing between health and social care.  

(c) Durham County Council Adult and Health Services are leading a 

regional group which has been established to support councils in 

the region undergoing various social care database replacement 

projects.  

Adult Care Transformation              

47 The transformation of adult care has been underway since the 
introduction of the Care Act in 2014, however, further work is required to 
tackle forthcoming challenges facing the service. These include 
integration with community health teams; joint commissioning 
arrangements with health partners; the Medium Term Financial Plan; 
the future Green Paper for Adult Social Care; and demographic 
predictions of an ageing population. 

48 Significant change is required in order to fully deliver a modern and 
efficient service offer to the population of County Durham. To enable 
this to happen work is ongoing in Adult and Health Services to 
transform these services including: 

(a) A rethink of the current practice model; 
(b) Consideration of opportunities to innovate wherever possible;  

Page 253



(c) Smarter use of mobile and digital technologies including using the 
new case management system, Azeus, to enable best 
advantage; 

(d) Enhancing the offer regarding self-service, and choice and 
control; 

(e) A robust package of support to the workforce including 
addressing mental wellbeing in the workplace, staff recognition, 
workforce development needs, succession planning, and 
reviewing roles and structures within the teams. 
 

49 A Strategic Development Officer for Adult Care Transformation has 
been appointed with a focus to address a number of these elements 
through: 

(a) Reviewing the adult social care service offer with the view to 
developing practice models that are in keeping with a modern, 
efficient and effective statutory social care system 

(b) Leading in the progression and implementation of practice 
change and operational development of front line practice 

(c) Researching and benchmarking good practice and innovative 
practice (regional and national) that is in keeping with the Adult 
Care services objectives, assessing the merits of different 
delivery models and making recommendations 

(d) Overseeing the development of staff briefings and supporting the 
design and delivery of training and skills development. 
 

50 A project initiation document, project plan and service offer document 
are under development. Following approval of these documents 
workstreams will be established to identify tasks and objectives for the 
transformation agenda. 

Delayed Transfers of Care 

51 Supporting people to leave hospital quickly and safely and reducing 
Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) is a national priority for the NHS and 
social care. Improving the timeliness of discharge is the right thing to do 
for patient care and experience; it also improves patient flow through 
the system and makes better use of resources across health and social 
care. 
 

52 The government’s Statistical Service, in February 2019, published the 
latest national data (December 2018) on DToC. From a Durham 
perspective the key findings were as follows: 
 

(a) Durham had the 7th lowest rate of delayed days per 100,000 adult 
population in England 

Page 254



(b) In Durham the rate of delayed days per month is 64.3 per 100,000 
adults, which is considerably less than the overall rate for England 
which is 295.7 per 100,000 adults 

(c) The rate of delayed days attributable to the NHS was 31.7 per 
100,000 adults 

(d) The rate of delayed days attributable to social care was 18.0 per 
100,000 adults 

(e) For the period April – December 2018. Durham had the 4th lowest 
rate per population of delayed days in England 

 
53 It is expected that increased scrutiny of Delayed Transfers of Care will 

continue through 2019/20. 
 
Cultural Competency Framework 

54 Joint work between Durham County Council and County Durham and 
Darlington NHS Foundation Trust is ongoing to improve the 
understanding of organisational cultures between health and social care 
in support of integrated working. This is funded through money secured 
from the Skills for Care (SfC) Workforce Development Innovation Fund 
(WDIF) and has resulted in the development of a cultural competency 
framework to ensure consistency and standards and behaviours are 
being followed by the multi-disciplinary teams. 

55 The project team consisting of staff from both DCC and CDDFT is 
continuing to work towards the key elements of the delivery plan to 
ensure that it is completed to the required standards and timescales. 
The main focus of this work has included: 

(a) Milestone 1 - to ensure the workforce have a clear understanding 
of cultural boundaries and that the resources enable both 
organisations to ensure staff are skilled, knowledgeable and 
competent. A baseline assessment of the culture of AHS and 
CDDFT has been undertaken and a cultural competency 
framework based on the five key themes of integrated working, 
relationships, innovation, customer focused delivery and ‘me and 
my role’ has been developed. 

(b) Milestone 2 - training developments have been determined across 
the whole workforce as well as the development of talent 
management strategy. Close alignment to supervision and 
appraisal processes will be factored in. A comprehensive 
induction programme will be established and a leadership 
programme will be generated to ensure leaders are 
compassionate; work effectively across systems; can build and 
maintain trusting relationships with all stakeholders and have a 
coaching style that helps people to grow and lead. As part of this 
an e-learning tool has been developed to support staff.  

Page 255



(c) Milestone 3 – one of the 13 Team Around the Patients (TAP) will 
be used to test the concept in different geographical areas. This 
should be completed by the end of March 2019. 
 

56 Following completion of the bid the cultural development work will be 
embedded in the future work aligned to the delivery of learning and 
development opportunities for DCC adult and health social care staff 
and CDDFT workforce.  

57 Subsequently, work is underway to develop an integrated organisational 
development strategy. Colleagues from corporate HR and Development 
and Learning from DCC and the Trust are considering the key areas to 
focus upon to roll out a programme of learning for the wider workforce. 

World Social Work Day  

58 World Social Work Day was held on 19th March 2019. It is the key day 
in the year that social workers worldwide stand together to celebrate the 
achievements of the profession and take the theme message into their 
communities, workplaces and to their governments to raise awareness 
of the social work contributions and need for further action. 

59 The 2019 World Social Work Day highlighted ‘Promoting the Importance 
of Human Relationships’ and focused on the social relationships 
between people’s essential relationships with each other, their 
environments and their futures. 

60 The Department of Health and Social Care Capabilities Statement and 
the Continuous Professional Development Pathway in social work with 
people with learning disabilities were also launched as part of the UK 
events to mark World Social Work Day. This work is led by the British 
Association of Social Workers (BASW), with support from Research in 
Practice for Adults (RiPfa). 

61 This is the second year Durham have celebrated the event, with adults 
and children’s services working together to hold a range of information 
stalls and workshop activities. This included workshops on aattachment 
and trauma, secondary and vicarious trauma, engaging families in a 
restorative practice approach, the role of assessment in human 
relationships and carers. 

  

Page 256



Prevention 

62 The Prevention Steering Group, chaired by the Corporate Director of 
Adult and Health Services, has continued to work towards the key 
elements of the action plan which focuses on the four main 
workstreams of: 

(a) Building Best Practice 
(b) Maximising External Funding 
(c) Reducing the Demand for Services 
(d) Mental Health at Scale work. 

 
63 The focus of the Mental Health at Scale work in County Durham is to 

reduce mental health stigma and discrimination with a focus on 
workforce, young people and men in order to reduce death by suicide.  

64 The Local Government Association (LGA) provided up to 20 days of 
support and advice, alongside further backing from the Design Council 
(government advisor on design) and Social Engine (behaviour change 
experts). A multi-agency team of officers have attended a series of 
workshops with the Design Council culminating in a session for Senior 
Leaders where analytical and practical tools will be taught and utilised 
to address the areas of focus as well as any future work. Work is 
underway to embed learning from the process across all partners. 

65 Work is being undertaken to examine significant best practice from 
across the country. A study visit to Wigan Council (Council of the Year 
2019) took place in January 2019 to examine the ‘Wigan Deal’ which 
involves a set of principles aiming to improve the prevention agenda. 
These include: 

(a) A new relationship between public services and citizens, 
communities and businesses 

(b) Building on the assets and strengths of individuals, families and 
communities 

(c) Integrated place based services delivered in partnership 
(d) An engaged workforce with core behaviours 
(e) Confident communities where everyone does their bit 
(f) Freedom and permission to innovate 

 
66 The ‘Deal’ includes a focus on adult social care and health providing a 

pioneering approach which is transforming this service in Wigan from 
one which focused on traditional health and social care services to one 
which builds independence and self-reliance. The Deal for Adult Social 
Care and Health strengthens communities by taking an innovative 
asset-based approach to service provision by placing customers at the 
heart. Learning from these approaches is being considered to 

Page 257



understand potential opportunities for Durham and links to work being 
undertaken to review the transformation of adult care. 

67 The County Durham Partnership receives regular reports from the 
Prevention Steering Group to update on these areas of work.    

Contact: Lee Alexander Tel:  03000 268180 

  

Page 258



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

There are a number of key legislation, policy developments and initiatives 

which have led and contributed to developments with Adult and Health 

Services. 

Finance 

No direct implications 

Consultation 

Proposals relating to implementation of the NHS Long Term Plan would be 
the subject of consultation with stakeholders. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equality Impact Assessments are carried out as part of the Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

Human Rights 

No direct implications 

Crime and Disorder 

No direct implications 

Staffing 

Effective delivery of Adult and Health Services is dependent upon a suitably 

trained and skilled workforce. 

Accommodation 

No direct implications  

Risk 

No direct implications  

Procurement 

No direct implications 

 

Page 259



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

               

 Adults, Wellbeing and Health 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

4 Jul 2019 

 Quarter Four 2018/19 

Performance Management Report  

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the 
council’s corporate performance framework for the Altogether Healthier 
priority theme. 

Performance Report for quarter four, 2018/19 

2 The performance report for quarter four, 2018/19 is attached at 
Appendix 2. It is structured around a set of key questions aligned to the 
Altogether Healthier priority theme and includes the key performance 
messages from data available this quarter along with visual summaries 
and data tables for each key question. 

Future Performance Reporting  

3 As our current vision, which forms the basis of this performance report, 
is over nine years old and many of the original aims have been 
achieved, we are developing a new set of proposed ambitions that 
better reflect the needs and opportunities of County Durham. This new 
vision will be launched in the autumn and the format and content of this 
performance report will be modified to align to the new ambitions. 

Executive summary 

4 Across the county, health continues to be a challenging area. Life 
expectancy is increasing, and life chances are improving. Smoking 
prevalence has fallen significantly in the last five years to a position 
where we are on par with the rest of the country. We are generally 
performing well against the national benchmark Better Care Fund 

Page 261

Agenda Item 11



indicators for adult social care services and user satisfaction with our 
services remains high. However, a number of challenges remain. 
Inequality between County Durham and the rest of the country and 
between the most deprived and least deprived areas within our county 
remain unacceptably high. In particular, we have a difference in healthy 
life expectancy of 19 years across the county. More than two in ten 
children starting primary school have excess weight, which increases to 
almost four in ten at the start of secondary school and further increases 
to six in ten by adulthood. Tobacco dependency in pregnancy remains a 
concern. Those in the most deprived communities are at the greatest 
risk. We are addressing these challenges through our poverty action 
plan, the initiatives of the Stop Smoking Service (SSS), the 
breastfeeding call to action to support mothers in their communities and 
local businesses to be breastfeeding friendly, the Healthy Weight 
Alliance and our three-year action plan to reduce tobacco dependency 
in pregnancy. 

Risk Management 

5 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. 
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change 
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and 
improvement projects. 

6 There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this theme.  

Recommendation 

7 That the Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee considers the overall position and direction of travel in 
relation to quarter four performance, and the actions being taken to 
address areas of underperformance. 

 

Contact: Jenny Haworth Tel:  03000 268071 

  

Page 262



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and 

financial planning. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring 

process. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and 

disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary. 

Staffing 

Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has 

been included to monitor staffing issues. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is 

integrated into the quarterly performance management report. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

 

 

Page 263



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is intentionally blank

Page 264



Durham County Council 

Performance Management 

Report 
 

Quarter Four, 2018/19 
 

 

Appendix 2 

Page 265



ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
C 

58.5 62.6 58.8

11.6 12.3 11.7

29.9 25.1 29.5

County Durham England Average NE average

Active Fairly Active Inactive

Smoking Prevalence – aged 18 and over 
Suicide Rate per 100,000 population (2015-17) 

12

10.8

9.6

2011-13 2012-14 2013-15 2014-16 2015-17

County Durham North East England

22.2

14.3

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

North East England County Durham

Estimated 32,000 fewer smokers in 

County Durham in 2017 compared to 

2012. 

Mothers Smoking at Time of Delivery 

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks from birth 

Adult participation in sport and physical activity (Nov-17 to Nov-18) 

28.6 33.7
46.4

Q4, 2018/19

County Durham North East England

 decreases have 

been seen in Active 

participation locally 

and regionally.  

 

DCC data is not 

significantly different 

from national data 

16.7% 17.2% 16.6%

17.2%
15.9% 14.7%

Q4, 16/17 Q4, 17/18 Q4, 18/19

County Durham Target

Performance improving  but did not meet target  

Performance is worse than England average (10.5%)  

P
age 266



ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Mortality rate per 100,000 from… 
County 
Durham 

England 

causes considered preventable  
all 

ages 
215.1 181.5 

all cardiovascular diseases 

under 
75-

year 
olds 

78.2 72.5 

cardiovascular diseases considered 
preventable 

48 45.9 

cancer 150.1 134.6 

cancer considered preventable 89.1 78.0 

respiratory disease 42.8 34.3 

respiratory disease considered 
preventable 

26.9 18.9 

 

 

80.2 81.481.8 83.1

2005-07 2015-17
County Durham England

Gap = 1.6 years Gap = 1.7 years 

76.5
78.377.6

79.6

2005-07 2015-17

County Durham England

Gap = 1.1 years Gap = 1.3 years 

Excess Weight – Children and young people  

NHS Health Checks - % of eligible population (age 40-74) 
(13/14 to 17/18) 

Life Expectancy (years) 

Mortality Rates (2015-17) 

23.8 23.0 24.3 24.1 25.0

22.5 21.9 22.1 22.6 22.4

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

4-5 year olds

36.2 36.5 37 37.7 37.1

33.5 33.2 34.2 34.2 34.3

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

10-11 year olds

Excess Weight - Adults 

N
ew

ca
st

le
  

N
.T

yn
es

id
e 

N
o

rt
h

u
m

b
er

la
n

d
  

D
ar

lin
gt

o
n

 

M
id

d
le

sb
ro

u
gh

 

St
o

ck
to

n
 

C
o

. D
u

rh
am

 
(6

7
.7

)

Su
n

d
er

la
n

d
 

R
ed

ca
r 

&
 

C
le

ve
la

n
d

 

G
at

es
h

ea
d

 

H
ar

tl
ep

o
o

l 

S.
Ty

n
es

id
e 

- - - England (61.3) 

offered an NHS Health Check

received an NHS Health Check

County Durham

86.8%

37.9%

England

90.9%

44.3%

P
age 267



Altogether Healthier 

1 The priority theme of Altogether Healthier is structured around the following two key 

questions: 

(a) Are our services improving the health of our residents?   

(b) Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and 

independent lives?  

Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

2 Estimated smoking prevalence (persons aged 18 and over) has improved and for the 

first time is not significantly different to both national and regional averages (see 

Tobacco Control Profiles).  

3 It is estimated that, in 2017, just over 60,000 adults smoked, around 32,000 fewer 

than 2012. Many residents stopped smoking with support from the Stop Smoking 

Service (SSS) activities throughout 2018/19.  

4 Throughout 2018/19, SSS activities to reduce smoking included promoting services 

within GP practices for smokers with long-term conditions and carrying out targeted 

locality-based campaigns with partner organisations such as Fresh and Public Health 

England. Campaigns included Stoptober, encouraging smokers to quit for 31 days in 

October; Quit 16, highlighting that smoking causes 16 types of cancer; Health Harms, 

focusing on the personal harm caused by smoking; and ‘No Smoking Day’, an annual 

health awareness day intended to help smokers quit. 

5 The Director of Primary Care for Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) 

CCG has been identified as the CCG lead for Tobacco Control. Fresh North East 

have undertaken a DDES CCG “Time-out” event and reiterated the messages 

around making every contact count in relation to smoking for general practice 

promoting Ask, Advise and Act at every opportunity. The CCG are looking at 

streamlining the referral process from general practice to the SSS to make it easier 

for people to get the support they need to quit smoking. General practices supported 

National No Smoking Day in March and Quit 16 Campaign.   

6 A narrative change has been made away from the use of the term ‘smoking in 

pregnancy’ and toward ‘tobacco dependency in pregnancy’; this is in line with a 

recommendation from the regional Local Maternity System (LMS). The Integrated 

Care System health strategy group have also become a chief officer level champion 

of reducing tobacco dependency in pregnancy. The ‘Yale’ group which covers the 

central and southern integrated care partnerships have identified reducing tobacco 

dependency in pregnancy as a key area for them to support the LMS and local 

delivery change. The County Durham Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy steering 

group have produced a three-year plan, endorsed by the Integrated Steering Group 

for Children with an ambition to reduce tobacco dependency in pregnancy to 6% or 

Page 268



less by 2022. A place-based pilot is currently being discussed in Shildon to work 

alongside the local community to address smoking at the time of delivery rates within 

Shildon. A 12-month action plan is currently in development for this piece of work 

which will link into the countywide Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy Plan.   

7 In 2018/19, 1,441 infants were breastfed at 6-8 weeks. During this period, we 

produced new marketing material to increase sign-up to the Breastfeeding Friendly 

County Durham Scheme, held an Infant Feeding Conference to raise awareness of 

the benefits of breastfeeding amongst practitioners and other stakeholders, and 

signed up to support the Breastfeeding Call to action which includes supporting 

mothers in their communities, supporting local businesses to be breastfeeding-

friendly and addressing the social and cultural norms through education of children 

and young people. 

8 The number of businesses signed up to the Breastfeeding Friendly County Durham 

scheme is 141 with a range of high profile organisations in discussion to receive 

training, including Asda, Sainsbury’s, Durham University and East Durham College. 

An Infant Feeding Conference is being held jointly by the DCC Public Health team 

and Harrogate and District Foundation Trust at the Durham Centre in June 2019; to 

date 200 attendees have signed up to the conference. 

9 Throughout 2018/19, we have supported several campaigns as part of our efforts to 

raise awareness of the dangers of alcohol, including Dry January which encourages 

people to reduce their alcohol consumption and ‘A Spot of Lunch’ (re-launched in 

February 2019) which highlights the links between alcohol and breast cancer.   

10 During November 2018, we were involved in an event with our partners (‘what’s the 

harm?’) to increase parental knowledge of the dangers of children drinking alcohol. 

The event followed a survey by Balance in 2017 that found only one in 20 adults in 

the North East were aware of the national guidance that children should not drink any 

alcohol before the age of 15. 

11 Alongside the Office of Durham’s Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner, we have 

signed up to the Local Government Declaration on Alcohol, which is a pledge to act 

and demonstrate our commitment to protecting local communities from the harm 

caused by alcohol. 

12 We are working in partnership to deliver the Mental Health at Scale project, which is 

a Local Government Association (LGA) pilot programme tackling stigma and 

discrimination, with a focus on young people, workforce and the community, to build 

more resilient communities and reduce death by suicide. There are a number of 

initiatives and approaches underway which seek to promote good mental health 

across a variety of settings. These include new approaches to workforce co-

ordination to help collate best practice and transfer this between organisations, 

Page 269



mental health training for the workforce, and the development of informal social 

movements to promote good mental health (such as the ‘Men’s Sheds’ initiative).   

13 We have been selected as one of eight new national Time to Change hubs, the aim 

of which is to help change the way people think and act about mental health 

problems. We will receive a £15,000 start-up budget along with £10,000 for a 

champions fund, to allow local ‘champions’ to bid for funding to run stigma-busting 

events and activities within their area. 

14 The work of the council and its partners is helping to maintain a downward trend in 

teenage conceptions. In 2017 there were 181 teenage conceptions, compared with 

499 in 1998 – a reduction of 64%. 

15 There is a geographical difference in rates across County Durham, with some areas 

of the county having persistently higher under-18 conception rates than the 

countywide average. In order to address these inequalities, our Public Health team is 

leading on the self-assessment of the Teenage Pregnancy Prevention Framework 

across County Durham, by working with stakeholders to co-ordinate a range of 

preventative interventions through the work of the Teenage Pregnancy Steering 

Group.   

16 A self-assessment is being used to further explore the relationship and sex education 

(RSE) requirements and our offer for children looked after (CLA), care leavers and 

those professionals supporting them, including foster carers.  Developments with the 

council’s Education Development Service and the Integrated Sexual Health Service 

are ongoing and a bespoke offer for this vulnerable group is under development. This 

work will inform and update the Teenage Pregnancy Action Plan for County Durham. 

17 We continue to work with Area Action Partnerships and the voluntary sector to 

address child poverty, focusing on opportunity and food poverty experienced by 

families during school holidays. Although our funding application to the Department 

for Education’s Holiday Activities with Food programme was unsuccessful, the 

intelligence gathered in support of the bid has enabled us to target resource to 

specific areas. We are also working with FareShare, a charity tackling hunger and 

food waste, to reduce food poverty during school holidays.  

18 We continue to work with partners from the Healthy Weight Alliance to drive forward 

work to help tackle childhood obesity.  Key actions include work around SugarSmart 

Durham, the Soft Drinks Industry Levy, vending of food and drinks across the 

Durham County Council estate and the Hot Food Takeaway policy. 

Page 270



18-64
316,243, 75%

65-74
60,842, 14%

75-84
33,823, 8%

85+
12,214, 3%

Better than 

national (9.5) 

and regional 

(7.2) 

Better than 

target (85.9%) 
 compared to 

last year (750.6) 

Slight 

improvement on 

last year, but 

worse than 

target (2,957) 

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

 
 

 
 

A
g

e
 

G
ro

u
p

 

L
e

a
rn

in
g

 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

M
e

n
ta

l 

H
e

a
lt
h
 

O
ld

e
r 

P
e

rs
o
n
 

P
h

y
s
ic

a
l 

D
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

S
u

b
s
ta

n
c
e

 

M
is

u
s
e
 

T
o

ta
l 

%
 o

f 

p
o

p
u
la

ti
o

n
 

re
c
e

iv
in

g
 

c
a

re
 

18-64 1,524 317 - 774 7 2,622 0.8% 

65-74 152 89 850 - 4 1,095 1.8% 

75-84 62 27 1,974 - - 2,063 6.1% 

85+ 8 1 2,765 - - 2,774 22.7% 

Total 1,746 434 5,589 744 11 8,554  

Service % 20.4% 5.1% 65.3% 9.0% 0.1%   

779.5 
adults aged 65+ 

per 100,000 population 

admitted to residential 

or nursing care on a 

permanent basis 
(Apr 18 -Mar 19) 

 

1.5 
daily delayed 

transfers of care, per 

100,000 population 
(Feb 2019) 

 

86.2% 
of patients discharged 

into reablement/ 

rehabilitation services 

still at home after  

91 days 
(Jan-Dec 2018) 

 

Population 

Breakdown  
(ONS, MID 2017) 

Adult Social Care users by age group & service type 

3,181 
Non-elective 

admission to 

hospitals, per 100,000 

population 
(Oct -Dec 18) 

 

11,262                     
safeguarding concerns 

received

3,235                       
safeguarding enquiries

28.3%                                      
of concerns became 

enquiries

95.1%
achieved the desired 
outcomes from the 
adult safeguarding 

process

P
age 271



Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy 

and independent lives?  

19 Durham continues to be an outstanding performer in preventing delayed transfers 

of care from hospital. We have consistently had one of the lowest rates of delays 

in the country throughout 2018/19.  

20 The main performance indicator which assesses the success of reablement – the 

percentage of users still at home 91 days after discharge – has finished the year at 

86.2%, which achieves the Better Care Fund (BCF) target of 85.9%. Performance 

has dropped from 89.1% in 2017/18, but this year’s performance should still be 

considered a success, given that service delivery transferred to the private sector 

mid-way through the year. Due to the reporting lag on this indicator, the first data 

consisting entirely of users who received reablement from the newly 

commissioned provider, will not be available until quarter one, 2019/20. 

21 The adult safeguarding process continues to be successful, with 95.1% of 

individuals fully or partially achieving the desired outcomes which they set at the 

start of the process. The Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) has its own 

performance monitoring framework which has been reviewed in 2018/19. The SAB 

has four key priorities in its plan (prevention & early intervention; user and carer 

voice; performance, quality & governance; learning and training). Each priority has 

an indicator set and is aligned to a working group of the board. Performance 

issues are escalated through these working groups to the board. The SAB also 

hopes to be able to map performance against Area Action Partnership areas to 

allow more detailed analysis of prevalence and more targeted intervention. 

22 The percentage of service users who received an assessment or review within the 

last 12 months was 87.5%. Performance in this indicator has been steady for three 

years. All overdue cases are regularly reviewed and prioritised for completion 

according to need.  

23 We admitted 779.5 people per 100,000 population aged 65+ to residential or 

nursing care on a permanent basis through 2018/19, performance is worse than 

the BCF target (726.2).  

24 The number of residential admissions is prone to regular fluctuation. Annual 

admissions per 100,000 over the last five years range from a high of 820.9 in 

2014/15 to a low of 736.3 in 2015/16. When analysed over a five-year period, the 

longer-term trend remains static. 

25 By focusing just on admissions, this indicator only represents the start of users’ 

residential or nursing care journey. The number of discharges from residential and 

nursing care have been consistently higher than the number of admissions over 

the last five years, meaning the overall number of people receiving residential or 

nursing care has decreased by 50 users over a five-year period from 2,850 to 

2,800.  
Page 272



26 The cost of residential and nursing care to the council is best represented by the 

number of bed days commissioned, as this excludes full-fee payers (who are 

included in admissions numbers) and accounts for the number of discharges from 

care and users’ length of stay in care. In 2018/19, the number of bed days 

commissioned was 913,829. This is an increase of 1.6% from 899,637 in 2017/18, 

however the longer-term five-year trend shows a decline, with current performance 

representing a decrease of 3.5% from a high of 946,730 in 2014/15. 

Page 273



Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables 

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document: 

(a) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 
partners; and 

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.   

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2017/18 corporate indicator set. This is available to 
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

KEY TO SYMBOLS 

  Direction of travel  Benchmarking  Performance against target 

GREEN  Same or better than comparable period  Same or better than comparable group  Meeting or exceeding target 

AMBER  Worse than comparable period 
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(within 2% tolerance) 

 Performance within 2% of target 

RED  Worse than comparable period  
(greater than 2%) 

 Worse than comparable group  
(greater than 2%) 

 Performance >2% behind target 

 
National Benchmarking 
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils. 
 
North East Benchmarking 
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland, The number of authorities also varies according to the performance indicator and functions of councils. 
 
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 
  

P
age 274

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

69 
% of mothers smoking at time of 
delivery 

16.6* 
Oct-Dec 

2018 

14.7 17.4 10.5* 14.9*  
 Yes 

RED GREEN RED RED  

70 
Four week smoking quitters per 
100,000 smoking population  
[number of quitters] 

N/a** - 
n/a n/a    

 No 
     

71 Male life expectancy at birth (years) 78.3 2015-17 
Tracker 78.0 79.6 77.9  

 Yes 
N/a GREEN AMBER GREEN  

72 Female life expectancy at birth (years) 81.4 2015-17 
Tracker 81.3 83.1 81.6   

 
Yes 

N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

73 
Female healthy life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

58.7 2015-17 
Tracker 59.0 63.8 60.4  

 Yes 
N/a AMBER RED RED  

74 
Male healthy life expectancy at birth 
(years) 

58.9 2015-17 
Tracker 59.1 63.4 59.5  

 Yes 
N/a AMBER RED AMBER  

75 
Excess weight in adults (Proportion of 
adults classified as overweight or 
obese) 

67.7 2016/17 
Tracker 67.5 61.3 66.1  

 No 
N/a AMBER RED AMBER  

76 
Suicide rate (deaths from suicide and 
injury of undetermined intent) per 
100,000 population 

12 2015-17 
Tracker 12.6 9.6 10.8  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED RED  

77 
Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 
weeks from birth 

28.6 
Jan-Mar 

2019 

Tracker 29.1 46.4 33.7  
Jul-Sep 

2018 
Yes 

N/a AMBER RED RED  

78 
Estimated smoking prevalence of 
persons aged 18 and over 

14.3 2017 
Tracker 17.9 14.9 16.2  

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

P
age 275



ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

79 
Self-reported well-being - people with 
a low happiness score 

8.9 2017/18 
Tracker 6.9 8.2 9.1  

 Yes 
N/a RED AMBER GREEN  

80 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: active 

58.5% 
Nov 17-
Nov 18 

Tracker 63.1 62.6 58.8  
 Yes 

N/a RED RED AMBER  

81 
Participation in Sport and Physical 
Activity: inactive 

29.9% 
Nov 17-
Nov 18 

Tracker 25.3 25.1 29.5  
 Yes 

N/a RED RED AMBER  

*provisional data 

** quality of data being reviewed 

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

82 

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 
population admitted on a permanent 
basis in the year to residential or 
nursing care 

779.5 2018/19 
726.2 750.6    

 Yes 
RED RED    

83 

% of older people who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from 
hospital into reablement/ rehabilitation 
services 

86.2 2018 
85.9 89.1 82.9 83.9 81.8* 

2017/18 Yes 
GREEN RED 

Not 
comparable 

Not 
comparable 

Not 
comparable 

84 

% of individuals who achieved their 
desired outcomes from the adult 
safeguarding process 
 

95.1 2018/19 

Tracker 96.2 94.2  93.6* 

2017/18 Yes 
N/a AMBER 

Not 
comparable  

Not 
comparable 

P
age 276



ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

85 
% of service users receiving an 
assessment or review within the last 
12 months 

87.5 2018/19 
Tracker 86.4    

 Yes 
N/a GREEN    

86 
Overall satisfaction of people who use 
services with their care and support 

66.6 2017/18 
Tracker 63.6 65.0 67.9 66.3* 

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN AMBER GREEN 

87 
Overall satisfaction of carers with the 
support and services they receive 
(Biennial survey) 

43.3 2016/17 
Tracker 

Biennial 
Survey 

39.0 45.7  
 No 

N/a N/a GREEN RED  

88 
Daily delayed transfers of care beds, 
all, per 100,000 population age 18+ 

1.5 Feb 2019 
Tracker 2.5 9.5 7.2 10.0* 

 Yes 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

89 

% of adult social care service users 
who report they have enough choice 
over the care and support services 
they receive 

74.9 2017/18 
Tracker 73.1 68.2 72.1 69.1* 

 No 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

*unitary authorities 

  

P
age 277



Other additional relevant indicators 

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?   

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

37 
% of all school pupils eligible for and 
claiming Free School Meals (FSM) 

19.4 Jan 2018 
Tracker 20.2 14.2 19.8  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

38 
Under-18 conception rate per 1,000 
girls aged 15 to 17 

23.7 2017 
Tracker 21.6 17.9 24.7  

 Yes 
N/a RED RED GREEN  

39 
% of five year old children free from 
dental decay 

74.2 2016/17 
Tracker 64.9 76.7 76.1  

 No 
N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

40 
Alcohol specific hospital admissions 
for under 18s (rate per 100,000) 

53.1 
2015/16-
2017/18 

Tracker 56.2 32.9 62.7  
 Yes 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

41 
Young people aged 10-24 admitted to 
hospital as a result of self-harm (rate 
per 100,000) 

350.1 2017/18 
Tracker 400.8 421.2 458.0  

 Yes 
N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

42 
% of children aged 4 to 5 years 
classified as overweight or obese 

25.0 
2017/18 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker 24.1 22.4 25.0  
 No 

N/a AMBER RED GREEN  

43 

 
% of children aged 10 to 11 years 
classified as overweight or obese 
 

37.1  
2017/18 

(academic 
year) 

Tracker 37.7 34.3 37.5  
 

No 
N/A GREEN RED GREEN  

 

  

P
age 278



ALTOGETHER SAFER 

3. How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?  

Ref Description 
Latest 
data 

Period 
covered 

Comparison to Data 
updated 

this 
quarter 

Period 
target 

12 months 
earlier 

National 
figure 

North 
East 

figure 

Nearest 
statistical 
neighbour 

Period 
covered if 
different 

98 
% of successful completions of those 
in alcohol treatment 

31.9 
May 17-Apr 
18 with rep 
to Oct 18 

28.0 30.3 38.6 30.7  North East 
2017 

No 
GREEN GREEN RED GREEN  

99 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - opiates  

5.3 
May 17-Apr 
18 with rep 
to Oct 18 

6.0 6.8 6.2 4.9  North East 
2017 

No 
AMBER AMBER AMBER GREEN  

100 
% of successful completions of those 
in drug treatment - non-opiates   

28.6 
May 17-Apr 
18 with rep 
to Oct 18 

26.4 27.6 38.6 25.8  North East 
2017 

No 
GREEN  GREEN RED GREEN  

 

P
age 279



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

              

       

 Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

 4 July 2019 

 NHS Quality Accounts 2018-19 Adults 

Wellbeing and Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee responses 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To inform members of the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee of the responses made on behalf of the Committee 
in respect of NHS Foundation Trust Draft Quality Accounts 2018/19. 

Executive summary 

2 At its meeting held on 1 April 2019 the Adults Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed a process to enable the 
Committee to respond to the draft Quality Accounts of County Durham 
and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust; Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys 
NHS Foundation Trust and North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust. 

3 Upon receipt of the respective Quality Accounts, these were circulated 
to the Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC membership for consideration 
and comment. The views provided by the Committee were included in 
responses to the draft Quality Accounts which also set out the key 
areas of work that the Committee had undertaken in respect of each 
NHS Foundation Trust. 

4 The responses were signed off by the Chair and Vice Chair of the 
Committee in consultation with the Statutory Scrutiny Officer, Jenny 
Haworth and sent to each Foundation Trust within the mandated 
timeframe for responses which was 30 days following receipt of the 
draft Quality Accounts. 

 

 

Page 281

Agenda Item 12



Recommendation 

5 Members of the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee are asked to receive this report and note the responses to 
the draft Quality Accounts of County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust; Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 
and North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust.  

Background 

6 The Health Act 2009 requires the NHS Foundation Trusts to publish an 
annual Quality Account report. The purpose of the Quality Account 
report is for each of the Trusts to assess quality across all of the 
healthcare services they offer by reporting information on 2017/18 
performance and identifying priorities for improvement during the 
forthcoming year and how they will be achieved and measured. 

7 Draft Quality Accounts documents were received as follows:- 

 

 Foundation Trust Date Received 

Tees Esk and Wear Valleys 

NHS Foundation Trust 

12 April 2019 

County Durham and 

Darlington NHS Foundation 

Trust 

15 April 2019 

North East Ambulance 

Service NHS Foundation 

Trust 

20 April 2019 

 

8 Upon receipt of the respective Quality Accounts, these were circulated 
to the Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC membership for consideration 
and comment. The views provided by the Committee were included in 
responses to the draft Quality Accounts which also set out the key 
areas of work that the Committee had undertaken in respect of each 
NHS Foundation Trust. 

9 The responses were signed off by the Chair and Vice Chair of the 
Committee in consultation with the Statutory Scrutiny Officer, Jenny 
Haworth and sent to each Foundation Trust within the mandated 
timeframe for responses which was 30 days following receipt of the 
draft Quality Accounts. 

Page 282



 

Considerations 

10 Members of the Committee are asked to note the responses to the draft 
Quality Accounts of County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust; Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust and North 
East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust.  

Legislative Background 

11 The Health Act 2009 requires the NHS Foundation Trusts to publish an 
annual Quality Account report. The purpose of the Quality Account 
report is for each of the Trusts to assess quality across all of the 
healthcare services they offer by reporting information on 2017/18 
performance and identifying priorities for improvement during the 
forthcoming year and how they will be achieved and measured. 

 

Background papers 

• Minutes of the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee meetings held on 1 April 2019 

• Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust Quality 
Account 2018/19 

• County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust Quality 
Account 2018/19 

• North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust Quality 
Account 2018/19 

 

Contact: Stephen Gwillym Tel:  03000 268140 

   

   

  

Page 283



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

This report has been produced in accordance with the Health Act 2009 as 

they relate to NHS FT Quality Accounts. 

Finance 

Not applicable 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable 

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

Not applicable 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

 

  

Page 284



Appendix 2:  Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee responses to the NHS FT Quality Accounts 2018/19 

 

 Attached as a separate document 

 

Page 285



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL ADULTS WELLBEING AND HEALTH OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
COMMENTS ON TEES ESK AND WEAR VALLEYS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 
QUALITY ACCOUNT FOR 2018/19 
 
The Committee welcomes Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust’s 
Quality Account 2018/19 and the opportunity to provide comment on it. The 
Committee are mindful of their statutory health scrutiny role and the need to 
demonstrate a robust mechanism for providing assurance to the residents of County 
Durham that health service provision is efficient and effective. The quality account 
process provides the Committee with one such mechanism. 
 
The Committee has engaged with the Trust primarily in respect of the Committee’s 
Review of Suicide Rates and Mental Health and Wellbeing in County Durham as well 
as undertaking in-year monitoring of the Trust’s progress against Tees, Esk and 
Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 2018/19 priorities during the course of the past 
year.  
 
The Committee considers that the Quality Account is clearly set out and that 
progress made against 2018/19 priorities is clearly identified. Members have 
considered the Trust’s 2018 Community Mental Health Survey results and are 
disappointed to see that the overall rating on care experience has declined to 66.4% 
compared to 70.9% in 2017 and 74.3% in 2016. 
 
With reference to Priority 1 - Improve the Clinical Effectiveness and Patient 
Experience in times of transition from Child to Adult Services, the Committee 
welcomes the positive performance in terms of the percentage of joint agency 
transition plans in place for patients approaching transition from children’s to adults 
services. In view of the below target performance for the percentage of patients who 
feel prepared for transitions at the point of discharge the Committee supports the 
retention of this priority for 2019/20. 
 
Regarding Priority 2 – Reduce the number of preventable deaths, the Committee 
recommended as part of its review of suicide rates and mental health and wellbeing 
in County Durham that a multi-agency approach to develop learning from suicides 
was needed with case conferences introduced for each incident. Clearly TEWV will 
be involved in this process and the Committee welcome the Trust’s work in this 
respect, particularly the commitment to participating in all regional Mental Health 
learning from deaths forum meetings. 
 
In welcoming Priority 3 – Making care plans more personal, the Committee would 
particularly support the focus on patients’ experience of care and the Trust’s 
commitment to ensuring patients know who to contact out of office hours in a crisis 
episode, that they are involved in the care that they receive and that they are 
engaged in discussing the effectiveness of their care. 
 

APPENDIX 2 

Page 287



In respect of Priority 4 - Develop a Trust-wide approach to Dual Diagnosis which 
ensures that people with substance misuse issues can access appropriate and 
effective mental health services. The Committee’s Review into Suicide Rates and 
Mental Health and Wellbeing identified the importance of having a co-ordinated 
approach to supporting those patients with mental health problems who are also 
misusing substances particularly between the health service and the criminal justice 
system. Members therefore support the continuation of this priority and the 
associated initiatives proposed for 2019/20 which aim to review the effectiveness 
and sustainability of dual diagnosis networks across the Trust. 
 
The new priority identified for 2019/20 – Review our Urgent Care services and 
identify a future model for delivery is also welcomed. The services being examined 
as part of this priority, namely crisis, acute liaison and street triage are all areas 
which were identified in the Committee’s Review into Suicide Rates and Mental 
Health and Wellbeing as potentially having the greatest impact upon an individual’s 
mental health and wellbeing but which were experiencing service demand pressures. 
Any improvements which the Trust can deliver as part of this priority are supported.  
 
 
Finally, in order to ensure that it continues to provide a robust Health scrutiny 
function and to provide assurances in this respect to the residents of County 
Durham, the Committee would request a six monthly progress report on delivery of 
2019/20 priorities and performance targets in November 2019. 
  

Page 288



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL ADULTS WELLBEING AND HEALTH OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
COMMENTS ON COUNTY DURHAM AND DARLINGTON NHS FOUNDATION 
TRUST QUALITY ACCOUNT FOR 2018/19 
 
The Committee welcomes County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust’s 
Quality Account and the opportunity to provide comment on it. The Committee are 
mindful of their statutory health scrutiny role and the need to demonstrate a robust 
mechanism for providing assurance to the residents of County Durham that health 
service provision is efficient and effective. The quality account process provides the 
Committee with one such mechanism. 

The Committee has engaged with the Trust on a number of issues during the course 
of 2018/19 including NHS England’s review of specialised vascular services; Stroke 
Rehabilitation services; Community Hopsitals; Shotley Bridge Community Hospital; 
Ward 6, Bishop Auckland Hospital; Durham Health and Wellbeing system plan 
2019/20 and also progress against the Trust’s 2018/19 Quality Account priorities. 

The Quality Account is clearly set out and the Committee welcomes the positive 
performance set out against the 2018/19 priorities relating to patient falls; care of 
patients with dementia; sepsis management; end of life care and improvement 
against mortality indices. 
 
The Committee has previously sought assurances from the Trust that it continues to 
address those actions highlighted as part of the Care Quality Commission inspection 
and re-inspection of the Trust which delivered a “requires improvement” judgement. 
The Committee is pleased to see that of the 51 actions identified for improvement by 
the Trust and submitted to the CQC, only 4 remain to be delivered and the 
Committee would support the Trust focusing on embedding and sustaining 
improvements in quality with the aim of achieving a “Good” rating at the next 
inspection. 
 
Whilst the Committee is disappointed that the Trust has not achieved its ambitions in 
relation to reducing the length of time to assess and treat patients in the Emergency 
Department, this has proven difficult given sustained demand pressures. It is 
pleasing to see that there were fewer ambulance handover delays than for 2017/18. 
 
In respect of the proposed Quality Account priorities for 2019/20, the Committee 
supports the continued work in respect of patient falls, dementia care and the 
Emergency Department. The new monitoring of compliance arrangements that are 
proposed in respect of maternity standards and paediatric care are welcomed. The 
proposed monitoring for maintenance and improvement in relation to breastfeeding, 
smoking in pregnancy and 12 week maternity booking will undoubtedly contribute to 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy objective that “every child has the best start 
in life.”   
 
In summary, it is considered from the information received from the Trust that the 
identified priorities for 2019/20 are a fair reflection of healthcare services provided by 
the Trust and the Committee note the progress made against the 2018/19 priorities.  

Page 289



 
Finally, in order to ensure that it continues to provide a robust Health scrutiny 
function and assurances in this respect to the residents of County Durham, the 
Committee would request a six monthly progress report on delivery of 2019/20 
priorities and performance targets in November 2019. 
 
  

Page 290



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL ADULTS WELLBEING AND HEALTH OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
COMMENTS ON NORTH EAST AMBULANCE SERVICE NHS FOUNDATION 
TRUST QUALITY ACCOUNT FOR 2018/19 
 
The Committee welcomes North East Ambulance Service (NEAS) NHS Foundation 
Trust’s Quality Account and the opportunity to provide comment on it. The 
Committee are mindful of their statutory health scrutiny role and the need to 
demonstrate a robust mechanism for providing assurance to the residents of County 
Durham that health service provision is efficient and effective. The quality account 
process provides the Committee with one such mechanism. 

The Committee has engaged with the Trust on a number of issues during the course 
of 2018/19 including the National Ambulance Response programme; NEAS 
performance across County Durham; the impact upon NEAS of NHS England’s 
Review of Specialised Vascular Services across the North East; the role of the NHS 
111 Service in signposting patients to appropriate services within the context of 
access to GP services and its progress against the 2018/19 Quality Account 
priorities.    

The Committee considers that the Quality Account is clearly set out and 
acknowledges up front that performance during 2018/19 has again been challenging, 
set against a context of a considerable increase in demand for the service both 
regionally and nationally.  

In commenting upon the progress against priorities for 2018/19, the Committee 
congratulates the Trust on fully achieving priorities regarding the early recognition 
and treatment of sepsis; Cardiac Arrest and the development of appropriate 
response measures for patients who fall. The Committee notes that the Trust has 
partially met its 2018/19 priority in respect of improving the care of patients with 
mental health needs through improving staff knowledge and skills. The development 
of a Mental Health Strategic Improvement Plan is welcomed and the Committee is 
pleased to see this area continue as a priority for 2019/20. 

The Committee continue to be concerned about the Trust performance across 
County Durham in comparison to Trust wide performance and have asked for regular 
updates on localised performance back to the Committee as the new National 
Ambulance Response programme targets are embedded across the organisation. 
The Committee is pleased to note that the Trust has the highest level of performance 
for Category 1 incidents and above national target performance for Category 2 
incidents. The Committee have been advised of measures proposed to improve 
response standards further and also ensure that responses are appropriate. The 
Committee will continue to monitor progress in this respect. 

The Committee consider that from the information received from the Trust, the 
identified priorities for 2019/20 are clearly expressed and will contribute to 
improvements in the healthcare system generally.  
 

Page 291



Finally, in order to ensure that it continues to provide a robust Health scrutiny 
function and assurances in this respect to the residents of County Durham, the 
Committee will continue to receive and consider performance overview information.  
As in previous years, the Committee would request a six monthly progress report on 
delivery of 2019/20 priorities and performance targets in November 2019. 
 
 

Page 292



 

             

        

 Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

 4 July 2019 

 Refresh of the Work Programme 

2019/20 for the Adults Wellbeing and 

Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Lorraine O’Donnell, Corporate Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships  

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide members with a suggested work programme for the Adults 
Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 2019/20.  

Executive summary 

2 The Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
received a report on the refresh of its work programme at its meeting 
on 1 April 2019. The work programme has been developed in the 
context of the current Council Plan’s Altogether Healthier priority 
theme. It also recognises that the current plan is in the process of 
being refreshed. 

3 Members are also asked to consider a potential topic for review 
activity. 

Recommendation(s) 

4 Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
recommended to: 

(a) Receive and comment on the proposed Adults Wellbeing and 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programme for 
2019/20  

Page 293

Agenda Item 13



(b) Agree the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee work programme for 2019/20 as attached. 

Background 

5 At its meeting of 1 April 2019, the Adults Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed to a refresh of its work 
programme. 

6 It was recognised that once the new vision is in place it will inform all 
scrutiny work programmes as they progress throughout the year. It 
was also noted that the work programme is flexible to enable 
additional items to be accommodated throughout the year. 

7 The Committee has identified a number of areas of work that will 
continue on into 2019-20 including key service development and 
reviews across health and social care in respect of:- 

a) The future of services currently delivered at Shotley Bridge 
Hospital. 

b) Ward 6 Bishop Auckland Hospital. 

c) Review of Stroke Rehabilitation Services in County Durham 
and Darlington. 

d) Extended and Enhanced Primary Care Access. 

e) Out of Hours Services/Urgent Treatment Centre at Peterlee 
Community Hospital. 

f) The Community Services Contract. 

g) The emerging Integrated Care System and Integrated Care 
Partnerships. 

Conclusion 

8 The report and appendix 2 provide information for members to note 
and comment on the suggested Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee work programme for 2019-20. 

Background papers 

• Council Plan 2016 – 2019 

• AWH OSC Report 1 April 2019 – Council Plan 2016-19 – Refresh 
of Work Programme for Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 294



Contact: Stephen Gwillym Tel:  03000 268140 

   

  

Page 295



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable 

Finance 

Not applicable 

Consultation 

Not applicable 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable 

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable 

Risk 

The Overview and Scrutiny work programme is an important element of the 

Council’s governance and risk management arrangements. 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

  

Page 296



Appendix 2:   

 

The proposed 2019/20 work programme for the Adults Wellbeing and Health 

OSC is attached.  

 

Page 297



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2019 TO 2020 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2019 TO 
2020 
 
Adults, Wellbeing and Health OSC 
 
Lead Officer: Stephen Gwillym  
 
IPG contact: Andrea Petty   
 
 

Note: 
 
O/S Review - A systematic 6 monthly review of progress against 
recommendations/Action Plan 
 
Scrutiny/Working Group – In depth Review 
 
Overview/progress – information on an issue; opportunity to comment, 
shape, influence, progress with a scrutiny review 
 
Performance – ongoing monitoring (quarterly) performance reports/budgets 
 

 
Committee When 

 
Who Outcome Comment 

Adults’ and Health Services including 
Public Health 
 

    

O/S Review Updates 
 

    

Suicide Rates and Mental Health and 
Wellbeing in County Durham 
 

3 October 
2019 

Amanda Healy, 
Director of Public 
Health 

To provide progress on 
the members’ 
recommendations at 
least six months 
following the report 
being considered by 
Cabinet. 

Members will receive 
information on how their 
recommendations are 
progressing. 

P
age 299



 2 

 
Scrutiny Working Group 
In depth review 

    

GP Service provision across County Durham 
 
 

6 September 
2019 

Public Health/NHS 
Partners 

To report the findings of a 
Review into GP Service 
provision across County 
Durham 

Scrutiny Review 

Overview/Progress 
 

    

Public Health Responsibilities 11 June 2019 Amanda Healey, 
Director of Public 
Health 

To inform members of the 
Council’s mandated public 
health responsibilities and 
on the latest developments 
in respect of Public Health 

This item provides 
members with an 
opportunity to consider 
the Council’s statutory 
responsibilities 
regarding public health 

Adult and Health Services Update 4 July 2019 
 
17 January 
2020 

Lee Alexander To advise members of the 
latest policy and service 
developments in respect of 
Adult and Health Services 
including associated 
funding 

 

Director of Public Health Report 17 January 
2020 

Amanda Healey, 
Director of Public 
Health 

Update on Public Health 
priorities arising from DPH 
Annual Report 

To receive the DPH 
annual report and reflect 
upon its content within 
the context of the 
Committee’s work 
programme priorities for 
2019/20 and beyond 

Health and Wellbeing Board – Annual Report  15 November 
2019 

Cllr Lucy 
Hovvels/Gordon Elliott 

To provide members with 
an update of the key 
delivery plan actions 
against the JHWS 

To receive the Health 
and Wellbeing Board 
annual report and reflect 
upon its content within 
the context of the 
Committee’s work 
programme priorities for 
2019/20 and beyond 

Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 
 

TBC Gordon Elliott Update on Annual Report To receive the 
Safeguarding Adults 
annual report and reflect 

P
age 300



 3 

upon its content within 
the context of the 
Committee’s work 
programme priorities for 
2019/20 and beyond 

Integration of Health and Social Care Services 3 October 
2019 

Lesley Jeavons – 
Director of Integration 
 
 

To provide an update on 
the integration of health 
and social care services 
 

To ensure that 
members are aware of 
the ongoing progress 
being made in respect 
of the Integration of 
health and social care 
within County Durham 
as well as details of the 
Community Services 
Contract implementation 

Oral Health Strategy 4 July 2019 Amanda Healy - DPH 
Gill O’Neill - Deputy 
Director of Public 
Health 

To inform members of the 
development of the  Oral 
Health Strategy 

To allow members to 
comment upon the 
strategy and the key 
actions therein. 

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 17 January 
2020 

Andrea Petty – 
Strategic Manager 
Partnerships 

To inform members of the 
development of the County 
Durham Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 

To allow members to 
comment upon the 
strategy and the key 
actions therein. 

Wellbeing for Life Service 9 December 
2019 

Amanda Healy, 
Director of Public 
Health County Durham 

To advise members of the 
reviewed Wellbeing for Life 
Service 

To ensure that health 
prevention and 
promotion services are 
delivering improvement 
regarding healthy life 
indicators. 

Influenza 3 October 
2019 

Amanda Healy, 
Director of Public 
Health County Durham 

To advise members of the 
Council and Partners 
approach to preparedness 
for Influenza 

To provide members’ 
assurance that the 
Council and Partners 
have appropriate 
measures in place to 
combat Influenza 

Health Protection and Assurance 5 March 2020 Amanda Healy, 
Director of Public 
Health County Durham 

To provide members with 
information regarding the 
range of health protection, 
health promotion and Ill 

 P
age 301



 4 

health prevention 
initiatives. 

Mental health and Prevention at Scale 3 October 
2019 

Amanda Healy, 
Director of Public 
Health County Durham 

To provide members with 
information regarding the 
mental health and 
Prevention at Scale 
initiatives introduced by 
the Council and partners. 

 

Integrated Commissioning Strategy 15 November 
2019 

Jane Robinson To provide members with 
information regarding the 
development of an 
Integrated Commissioning 
Strategy 

 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment Action 
Plan Update 

4 July 2019 Amanda Healy, 
Director of Public 
Health County Durham 

To provide members with 
information regarding the 
progress in delivering the 
Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment Action Plan 

 

Performance and Budget Reporting 
 

    

 
Performance  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Performance 
Quarterly 
update 
Reports 
 
2018/19 Q4 
Outturn – 4 
July 2019 
 
2019/20 Q1 – 
3 October 
2019   
 
2018/19 Q2 – 
17 January 
2020 
 
2018/19 Q3 – 

 
 
 
 
 
 
S Tracey 
 
 
 
S Tracey 
 
 
 
S Tracey  
 
 
 
S Tracey  

 
Members using 
performance management 
information to inform the 
Work Programme and 
possible Review Activity 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Summary information to 
members 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 302



 5 

 
 
Budget Outturn 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 April 2020  
 
 
 
2018/19 Q4 
Outturn – 3 
October 2019 
 
2019/20 Q1 – 
3 October 
2019 
 
2019/20 Q2 – 
17 January 
2020 
 
2019/20 Q3 – 
5 March 2020  

 
 
 
 
 
Andrew Gilmore 
 
 
 
Andrew Gilmore 
 
 
 
Andrew Gilmore 
 
 
 
Andrew Gilmore 

 
 
Quarterly update key 
issues 

 
 
Summary information to 
members 

 

P
age 303



 6 

 

2. NHS commissioners (North Durham 
CCG; DDES CCG and NHS England 
Regional Team) and provider organisations 

When Who Outcome Comment 

NHS Service change - Updates to AWHOSC             

North East Ambulance Service – Post 
Implementation Audit of the New National 
Ambulance Response Standards 

5 March 2020 Mark Cotton, NEAS Members are appraised 
of the impact upon 
NEAS of the new 
Ambulance Response 
Standards and also the 
performance against 
these across County 
Durham 

To consider the 
implications for 
Ambulance 
Performance across 
County Durham of the 
new Ambulance 
Performance standards. 

Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield CCG 
– Review of Peterlee Urgent Treatment Centre  

11 June 2019 Sarah Burns – North 
Durham and DDES 
CCGs 

Members are appraised 
of the findings from the 
public and stakeholder 
engagement 
undertaken and future 
service model for 
Peterlee Urgent 
Treatment Centre. 
 

Continued engagement 
of members as part of 
the Review of Peterlee 
Urgent Treatment 
Centre. 
 

Review of Enhanced and Extended Access to 
Primary Care 

11 June 2019 Sarah Burns - North 
Durham and DDES 
CCGs 

Members are appraised 
of the findings from the 
public and stakeholder 
engagement 
undertaken and future 
service models for 
Enhanced and 
Extended Access to 
Primary Care. 
 

Continued engagement 
of members as part of 
the Review of Enhanced 
and Extended Access to 
Primary Care. 
 

Updates in respect of ongoing remedial works 
to Roseberry Park Hospital – Tees Esk and 
Wear Valleys NHS FT 

15 November 
2019 

TEWV/North Durham 
and DDES CCGs 

Members are appraised 
of the ongoing work in 
respect of the provision 
of mental health 
services for residents of 
County Durham  

Continued engagement 
of members and 
Community into the 
development of mental 
health services within 
County Durham  

P
age 304



 7 

 
Statutory Health Scrutiny Consultations  
 

    

Review of Stroke Rehabilitation 
Pathway/Services across County Durham 

6 September 2019 
 
 

North Durham and 
DDES CCG 
 
County Durham and 
Darlington NHS FT 

Members are appraised 
of the findings from the 
public and stakeholder 
engagement 
undertaken and future 
service models for the 
Review of Stroke 
Rehabilitation  
Pathway/Services 
across County Durham 

Continued engagement 
of members as part of 
the Review of Stroke 
Rehabilitation  
Pathway/Services 
across County Durham 

Ward 6 Bishop Auckland Hospital 6 September 2019 North Durham and 
DDES CCG 
 
County Durham and 
Darlington NHS FT 

Members are appraised 
of the findings from the 
public and stakeholder 
engagement 
undertaken and future 
service models for Ward 
6 Bishop Auckland 
Hospital 

Continued engagement 
of members as part of 
the Review of Ward 6 
Bishop Auckland 
Hospital 

The future of services currently delivered from 
Shotley Bridge Community Hospital 

6 September 
2019/3 October 
2019 

North Durham CCG 
 
County Durham and 
Darlington NHS FT 

Members are appraised 
of the findings from the 
public and stakeholder 
engagement 
undertaken and future 
service models for 
services provided at 
Shotley Bridge 
Community Hospital 

Continued engagement 
of members as part of 
the Review of services 
provided at Shotley 
Bridge Community 
Hospital 

South Tyneside and Sunderland Path to 
Excellence - Proposals for Phase 2 

4 July 2019 South Tyneside and 
Sunderland NHS 
Partnership 
 
County Durham CCGs 

Proposals for Phase 2 
Consultation and 
Engagement reported to 
members as part of 
consultation 
/engagement 

Potential Statutory 
Health Consultation 

P
age 305



 8 

 
Overview/Progress 
 

    

Quality Accounts 2018/19 –  Overview and 
Scrutiny Response 
 
 
 
Monitoring Updates 

4 July 2019 
 
 
 
 
9 December 2019 

County Durham and 
Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust 
 
 
Tees Esk and Wear 
Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 
 
North East Ambulance 
Service 
 

Formal Responses by 
AWHOSC 
 
 
 
Monitoring Updates on 
2019/20 Quality 
Accounts Priorities 

To provide Committee 
endorsement of the 
formal Quality Account 
responses 
 
To provide Committee 
with assurance that QA 
priority actions are 
being delivered and 
agree Committee 
feedback on areas of 
under-performance 

Quality Accounts 2020/21 – Preparation of 
Overview and Scrutiny Input and Commentary 
 

 3 April 2020 County Durham and 
Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust 
 
Tees Esk and Wear 
Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 
 
North East Ambulance 
Service 
 

Process of shaping and 
OSC commentary on 
2020/21 Quality 
Accounts 

Members agree 
timetable for 2020/21 
Quality Account 
consideration and 
response 

North Durham and DDES CCGs 2year 
Operational Plans 

15 November 
2018 

North Durham CCG 
 
DDES CCG 

To advise members of 
the detail of the County 
Durham CCGs 2 year 
Operational Plans 

To consider CCG 
Operational plans within 
the context of the 
AWHOSC Work 
programme and 
consultations 

County Durham and Darlington NHS FT – 
CQC Re-inspection and Improvement Action 
Plan Update 

TBC Sue Jacques, 
CDDNHS FT 

To report upon the 
progress against the 
CQC Re-inspection 
Action Plan for CDDFT 

To provide member 
assurance regarding the 
proposed CDDFT Re-
inspection action plan 

P
age 306



 9 

 
Other – Regional 
 

    

 
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North 
Durham Draft STP 

 
TBC 

 
Mark Adams – NTWND 
STP Lead Officer 

 
AWHOSC Formal 
consultation in respect 
of the Northumberland, 
Tyne and Wear and 
North Durham Draft 
STP proposals 

 
Statutory Health Service 
Consultation 

 
Durham Darlington Teesside Hambleton 
Richmondshire and Whitby Draft STP 

 
TBC 

 
Alan Foster – 
DDTHRW STP Lead 
Officer 

 
AWHOSC Formal 
consultation in respect 
of the Durham 
Darlington Teesside 
Hambleton 
Richmondshire and 
Whitby Draft STP 
proposals 

 
Statutory Health Service 
Consultation 

Regional Joint Health OSC – Update   TBC Principal OSO Member update on the 
work of the Regional 
Joint Health OSC 

To ensure regular input 
of the AWHOSC into 
those health scrutiny 
issues determined at 
Regional Health OSC 

 

 

P
age 307



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 1 April 2019 and of the special meeting held on 11 June 2019
	Minutes , 11/06/2019 Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

	5 Media Issues
	7 Skerne Medical Group - Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships and presentation by representatives of Skerne Medical Group
	Agenda Item 7 - Skerne Medical Group Patient Letter Final Draft v4
	Agenda Item 7 - Powerpoint OSC.1 Slides

	8 Path to Excellence Programme Phase 2 - Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships and presentation by representatives of the Path to Excellence programme team
	Agenda Item 8 - Appendix 2 - NHS PTE2 - Updated CFC Full - online
	Agenda Item 8 - Appendix 3 - NHS PTE2 - Updated CFC Summary - online
	Agenda Item 8 - Appendix 4 - Durham Scrutiny meeting - 040719
	Agenda Item 8 - Appendix 5 - Path to Excellence Phase 1 Consultation - AWHOSC response

	9 County Durham Oral Health Strategy Update - Report of the Deputy Director of Public Health, County Durham
	10 Adults and Health Services Update - Report of the Corporate Director of Adults and Health Services
	11 Quarter Four 2018/19 Performance Management Report - Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	12 NHS Quality Accounts 2018-19 - Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee responses - Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	Agenda Item 12 - Appendix 2 - NHS FT Quality Account Response - 2019

	13 Refresh of the Work Programme 2019/20 for the Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	Agenda Item 13- Appendix 2 - Draft AWH OSC Work Programme 2019-20


